
Annual Report
2010-11

DEPARTMENT OF  HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT  
AND REGIONAL SERVICES



i DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

 

 
 
DEPARTMENT OF 
HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND 
REGIONAL SERVICES 

 
 

www.nt.gov.au 
 
 

Chief Executive 
Level 2, RCG House,  

83-85 Smith Street, Darwin 
    

Postal address GPO Box 4621 
Darwin NT 0801 

Tel 08 8999 8472 
Fax 08 8999 8499 

www.dhlgrs.nt.gov.au 
Dr Chris Burns MLA 
Minister for Public and Affordable Housing 
Parliament House 
DARWIN  NT  0800 
 
The Hon Malarndirri McCarthy MLA 
Minister for Local Government  
Minister for Regional Development 
Minister for Indigenous Development 
Parliament House 
DARWIN  NT  0800 
 
 
Dear Ministers, 
 
In accordance with the provisions of section 28 of the Public Sector Employment 
and Management Act, I am pleased to submit the Annual Report on the activities 
and achievements of the Department of Housing, Local Government and Regional 
Services and NT Home Ownership for the year ending 30 June 2011. 
 
It is my view the system of internal control and audit provides reasonable 
assurance that: 

(a) proper records of all transactions by the Department of Housing, Local 
Government and Regional Services and NT Home Ownership are kept and 
all employees under my control observe the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act, the Financial Management Regulations and Treasurer’s 
Directions; 

 
(b) procedures within the agency of Housing, Local Government and Regional 

Services and NT Home Ownership afford proper internal control and a 
current description of such procedures is recorded in the accounting and 
property manual and other Departmental documents, which have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Management 
Act; 
 

(c) there is no indication of fraud, malpractice, major breach of legislation or 
delegation, major error or omission from the accounts and records; 
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(d) in accordance with section 15 of the Financial Management Act, the internal 
audit capacity available to the agency is adequate and the result of internal 
audits have been reported to me; 
 

(e) financial statements included in the Annual Report have been prepared from 
SrRSer aFFRunWs and reFRrds and are Ln aFFRrdanFe ZLWK WKe Treasurer’s 
Directions; 
 

(f) all Employment Instructions issued by the Commissioner for Public 
Employment have been satisfied; and 
 

(g) in respect of my responsibilities pursuant to section 131 of the Information 
Act, I advise that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the agency has 
implemented processes to achieve compliance with the archives and 
records management provisions as prescribed in Part 9 of the Information 
Act. 

 
I commend the report to you. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
 
KEN DAVIES 
Chief Executive 
 
30 September 2011 
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The 2010-11 Annual Report of the Department of Housing, Local Government and 
Regional Services has been prepared by the Chief Executive in compliance with by 
section 28 of the Public Sector Employment and Management Act and the Financial 
Management Act. This report also meets the obligations for annual reporting specified in 
the Information Act. 

The primary purpose of the report is to report to the agency’s two ministers: Minister 
for Public and Affordable Housing and Minister for Local Government, Indigenous and 
Regional Development. It informs the Northern Territory Legislative Assembly, other 
agencies, our staff and other stakeholders, of our agency’s performance in 2010-11.

The report provides a comprehensive account of the agency’s functions and performance 
against the approved budget and resources for 2010-11 and progress against the 
strategic goals outlined in the agency’s Corporate Plan 2010-2013. Further, it identifies 
strategic priorities into 2011-12.

The report also provides information about the agency’s responsibilities, internal 
governance arrangements and relationships with its external environment.

ABOUT THIS REPORT
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AGENCY OVERVIEW 
PART ONE

Providing an overview of the agency, this part includes the Chief Executive’s 
revieZ of achievements and future directions for 2011-12. ,t presents a profile 
of the agency including our vision, values, strategic goals, stakeholders, 
leadership and regional snapshots.
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Agency Overview PART ONE

ChIEf ExECutIVE’s REVIEW

I am proud to present the Annual Report of the Department of Housing, Local 
Government and Regional Services for 2010-11.

The Department of Housing, Local Government and Regional Services delivers social 
housing programs and related infrastructure across the Territory, builds stronger regions 
and communities through sustainable economic development and effective local 
government, provides interpreter and translator services, and delivers water safety and 
animal welfare programs.

The agency delivers services and programs in partnership with the Australian 
Government, Local Government, non-government community organisations and local 
communities.

Through effective partnerships we are able to deliver the Northern Territory Government’s 
Territory 2030 and Working Future commitments to improve access to safe, secure, 
appropriate and affordable housing and develop strong regions and communities for 
Territorians. We are also delivering the largest Indigenous housing construction  
program in Australian through the National Partnership Agreement on Remote 
Indigenous Housing.

We have 611 full-time equivalent staff located across the regions, delivering the agency’s 
core services. To succeed in the complex and challenging environment in which we 
operate, we have moved to strengthen our regional office leadership teams and began 
to place officers permanently in Territory Growth Towns to improve the coordination of 
service delivery, deliver housing services and drive regional economic development. 

This report provides a comprehensive account of the agency’s functions and 
performance against approved budgets and resources for 2010-11. The report 
also provides information about the agency’s responsibilities, internal governance 
arrangements and relationships with its external environment.

In this report, you will see our strategic goals from the agency’s Corporate Plan  
2010-13 highlighted and references to our budget outputs. The Corporate Plan links  
the agency’s responsibilities from Budget papers, Territory 2030, Working Future and 
National Partnerships so that they can be translated into business plans and staff 
development plans. 

Ken Davies 
Chief Executive
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Agency Overview PART ONE

Strategic Goal 1

Improve access to safe, secure, appropriate and affordable housing.

� Completed 1�1 neZ social housing dZellings and significant upgrade ZorNs 
to existing facilities under the Stimulus Program.

� $Zarded seven urban +ousing 0aintenance Contracts to improve vacated 
property turn-around times. 

� ,ntroduced the 'raft Public +ousing 6afety Officers ([posure %ill.
� Constructed 2�� neZ houses, and 12�� refurbishments and rebuilds in 

a number of remote Indigenous communities and community living areas 
across the Territory under the National Partnership Agreement on Remote 
Indigenous Housing.

� 5eceived ��3 enTuiries and over �0 +O0(6T$5T 1T applications.
� 6old 10 affordable housing lots at Johnston 6tage 1% in 'ecember 2010, 

and six affordable house and land packages at Ridges Estate, Larapinta in 
May 2011.

� %uilt �� neZ and upgraded �2 government employee housing dZellings in 
remote locations.

Strategic Goal 2

Strong regions, communities and local governments.

� Finalised 13 Local ,mplementation Plans for Territory GroZth ToZns.
� ([ecuted long-term leases over remote public housing in nine communities, 

to support new housing investment.
� Completed %aseline 'ata 0apping for 1� Territory GroZth ToZns.
� Completed a comprehensive gap analysis of roads in and around the 

Territory Growth Towns.
� 5evieZed current governance capacity and support structures, elected 

member allowances and the effectiveness of Local Boards.
� ,mplemented a maMor 1orthern Territory Government Jobs pacNage of  

��.� million for three years for ,ndigenous people in shires.
� 6upported and subsidised the development and presentation of the first 

Graduate Certificate in Local Government Leadership in the 1orthern 
Territory.

� 6upported senior local government elected members and staff to attend 
Australian Centre of Excellence for Local Government courses.

� 6upported local government through 6pecial Purpose Grants.
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Agency Overview PART ONE

Strategic Goal 3

A collaborative, influential and capable organisation.

� 'eveloped neZ +ousing Operational Training and +ousing Orientation 
programs.

� (nhanced e[ecutive leadership capabilities through 3�0 degree feedbacN, 
executive coaching and tailored professional development.

� ,mplemented middle management performance agreements.
� ,ncreased investment in corporate learning and development from ���0  

per person to $ 1200 per person.
� Trained over 100 staff in recruitment and selection best practice.
� (nabled over 13� staff to participate in personal resilience and change 

workshops.
� 8ndertooN comprehensive strategic and operational risN assessments of  

the agency and its functions.
� ,mproved agency procurement practices.
� $chieved our targets to reduce greenhouse emissions from the vehicle Àeet.
� $malgamated a number of offices to create better ZorNplace environments.

I would like to thank the agency’s staff for their dedication, professionalism and 
commitment over the past year. :e have made significant progress in delivering our 
programs and services and tackling the many challenges that we have encountered 
during 2010-11.

I am proud of the progress that we have made and I look forward to our agency 
continuing to efficiently and effectively deliver 1orthern Territory Government priorities  
to achieve lasting benefits for all Territorians.

Ken Davies 
Chief Executive

30 September  2011
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Agency Overview PART ONE

VISION
A strong thriving sustainable Territory community

ROLE 
The primary role of the Department of Housing, Local Government and Regional 
Services is to deliver social housing programs and related infrastructure across the 
Territory, and build stronger regions and communities through sustainable economic 
development and effective local government.

STRATEGIC GOALS
The agency’s strategic goals pursue our vision and define hoZ Ze operate and measure 
our performance. 

The following three strategic goals and targets are set out in the Corporate Plan 2010-
2013. Reviewed annually the plan guides the agency’s actions for the year.

 Improving access to safe, secure, affordable and appropriate housing.

� 'eliver safe, secure and healthy public housing to loZ income 
households for the duration of their need

� ,mprove access to public housing assistance and support in ,ndigenous 
communities and town camps

� %uild the capacity of the non-government sector to provide housing 
assistance to clients with special needs

� Provide opportunities for increasing home oZnership for loZ to middle 
income earners in the Territory

� 0a[imise core government services through housing availability
� 'eliver an affordable housing strategy

 Strong regions, communities and local governments. 

� Lead Zhole of government implementation of the :orNing Future policy, 
in partnership with other relevant stakeholders 

� Contribute to Zhole of government management of ,ndigenous affairs
� Contribute to regional and economic development and Mob creation
� 6trengthen local government capacity
� Provide interpreting and translating services to improve access to 

services for all Territorians
� 6upport Zater safety and animal Zelfare education and ensure 

legislative compliance

ABOUT THE AGENCY
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Agency Overview PART ONE

 A collaborative, influential and capable organisation.

 � Our agency is recognised and valued for its advice, e[pertise, and 
leadership in the NTPS

� $ttract, retain and develop a highly capable, sNilled and professional 
ZorNforce that reÀects the diversity of the Territory population 

� ,mplement and monitor high standards of governance and accountability 
in the organisation’s operations 

� Our organisation is a responsible environmental citi]en

The agency is committed to continued performance and achieving our goals and  
targets by:
� developing effective partnerships and netZorNs that deliver effective outcomes, to our 

clients 
� learning from our e[periences so Ze can deliver better services
� creating and sustaining a client-centred culture
� using regional perspectives to help shape and drive our business
� planning, anticipating and thinNing ahead so that Ze operate proactively.

STAKEHOLDERS
With a key role in developing and supporting a strong community, the agency’s  
success depends heavily on a capacity to develop and foster key relationships and 
partnerships with:
� Territorians in need of housing assistance
� community housing providers and non-government organistations that provide 

housing services
� community and Zelfare organisations eligible for housing assistance
� government employees eligible for housing assistance
� local governments
� remote and urban ,ndigenous communities
� ,ndigenous community representative organisations
� land councils
� sZimming pool oZners
� $ustralian Government agencies
� 1orthern Territory Government agencies
� non-government sector agencies
� prospective home oZners.
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Agency Overview PART ONE

PERFORMANCE AND GOVERNANCE
The strategic goals align to the agency’s outcomes set out in the Northern Territory 
Government Budget ( see Part Two Performance)  and provide a framework for 
contributing to Australian and Territory government strategies ( see Part Five Contribution 
to Government Strategies) . 

The agency measures its success in achieving the priorities and targets in the Corporate 
Plan and the outcomes in the Budget. Part Two reports on key achievements and 
performance measures.

PEOPLE MANAGEMENT
Through effective people management and leadership the agency upholds its values:

� %e professional
� %e honest
� %e respectful
� %e accountable
� :orN together
� 9alue diversity

$s at 30 June 2011, the agency employed �11 full-time eTuivalent staff across the 
Territory to deliver the agency’s services.

The agency’s most important asset is its people who are valued and celebrated. The 
diverse workforce is represented in various backgrounds, experience and knowledge;  
inclusive of men, women, people with disability, mature aged people, Indigenous 
Australians, young people and people from culturally diverse backgrounds. This agency 
realises the benefit of a diverse ZorNforce, particularly in an increasingly competitive 
labour market to attract and retain a talented and skilled workforce. Having a diverse 
workforce assists the agency to better understand our client needs, and ensure 
challenges of delivering services and programs to all Territorians are met. Part Three 
provides an overview of the agency’s people management.
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Agency Overview PART ONE

sENIOR ExECutIVE

Ken Davies 
Chief Executive

Ken was appointed Chief Executive of the Department of 
Housing, Local Government and Regional Services on  
4 December 2009. Prior to this, he was the Deputy Chief 
Executive of the Department of the Chief Minister. In this role 
he was responsible for coordinating and monitoring whole 
of government policy and strategic responses relating to 
Indigenous policy and growth planning in the Northern Territory.

Ken began his career in the Northern Territory as a teacher at 
Papunya in 1978. He has worked as a principal in Alice Springs 
and Katherine, and as a regional superintendent in Tennant 
Creek. In 1999 he moved from Central Australia to Darwin 
to take up a short-term position in the Department of Chief 
Minister, and then General Manager Indigenous Education in 
the Department of Education. Ken has worked in a range of 
executive positions in the then Department of Education, most 
notably the position of Deputy Chief Executive, Education 
Services where he was responsible for a range of key areas 
including remote schools policy, student services, teaching 
learning and standards, distance learning and the non-
government schools sector.

Ken has degrees in education and public sector management.

Catherine Weber  
Deputy Chief Executive, Strategic Policy and Governance

Catherine joined the agency in January 2010, from the 
Northern Territory Treasury where she had been Assistant 
Under Treasurer (Corporate and Superannuation) for a 
number of years.  At the executive level since 1998, Catherine 
held positions in Treasury’s public finance, strategic policy, 
financial management and intergovernmental areas.  Prior to 
this, Catherine worked in several other Territory Government 
agencies, in Darwin and Alice Springs since the early 1980s.

Catherine has a Master of Public Policy and a Bachelor 
of Economics and is a member of the Australian Human 
Resources Institute.

LEADERshIP
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Agency Overview PART ONE

Mychelle Curran   
Deputy Chief Executive, Territory Housing  
Programs and Performance

Mychelle started with the agency in August 2010.  Prior to that, 
she Zas 'irector 8rban 6trategy and $sset ,nvestment for 
Housing South Australia and held a range of executive roles 
since 2000.  Mychelle has an extensive and diverse background 
in social housing policy, management and operations with state 
housing organisations in South Australia and Tasmania. 

Mychelle completed post graduate studies in housing 
management and policy through 6Zinburne 8niversity in 200�.

Fran Kilgariff    
Senior Executive Director, Local Government,  
Regional and Community Services

,n 200�, Fran commenced as the ([ecutive 'irector, 5egional 
and Indigenous Economic Development before taking up her 
current role in May 2010.

Prior to that Fran spent nearly a decade as the Mayor of Alice 
Springs. She began her working life as a radiographer, has a 
degree in archaeology, taught geography to secondary school 
students and worked as an Australian Government Business 
Manager. Fran has also served on many boards, including the 
Desert K nowledge Cooperative Research Centre, Territory and 
1ational <0C$, 6t John $mbulance and The OutbacN +ighZay 
Committee.

SENIOR EXECUTIVE GROUP
The Senior Executive Group provides leadership across the agency and supports 
the Chief Executive in strategic decision making and policy setting for the agency’s 
operational and internal processes. 

A key focus of the Senior Executive Group is to build the agency’s capabilities by 
developing our people systems and culture.

The Senior Executive Group meets weekly and consists of the above senior executive 
staff and the following members of the Executive Leadership Team:

� Trish $ngus ± ([ecutive 'irector, 6trategic Policy 'evelopment and Coordination
� 'Zayne 0c,nnes ± ([ecutive 'irector, Corporate 6ervices and Chief Financial 

Officer
� 'anielle Cross ± 'irector, +uman 5esources
� Lisa :ilson ± $�'irector, Office of the Chief ([ecutive
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Agency Overview PART ONE

ExECutIVE LEADERshIP tEAM
The Executive Directors of the agency support the Chief Executive to provide high level 
management across the agency.

The Executive Directors profiled below, meet every six weeks to: 
• provide advice and leadership on policy and operational matters to ensure 

performance against agreed accountability frameworks 
• discuss strategic issues which are referred to the Senior Executive Group for 

decision making.

Andrea Martin     
Executive Director, Central Australia

Andrea joined the agency in 2007 as the Executive Director, 
Central Australia where she oversees the delivery of all local 
government and housing initiatives throughout the Central 
Australia region.

Andrea has lived in Central Australia since 1994 apart from 
some time spent working in Timor Leste in 2006-07. Andrea 
has gained extensive experience working with Indigenous 
communities through her roles in Indigenous tourism and  
as a ministerial adviser in both South Australia and the  
Northern Territory. 

Andrea has a Masters in Business Administration.

Andrew Kirkman      
Executive Director, Remote Housing NT

Andrew joined the agency in early 2009 as the Executive 
Director, Darwin Region before moving into his current role in 
August 2009. Andrew previously held key roles in the Darwin 
Waterfront Corporation, AustralAsia Railway and Department 
of the Chief Minister. He has worked in the Northern Territory 
Public Sector since 1999. 

Andrew has previously worked in finance and commercial roles 
in the private sector, locally in the mining industry and overseas 
on public private partnerships. Andrew has largely lived in the 
Territory since 1975 and undertook all his schooling in Darwin.

He is a Certified Public Accountant and has tertiary 
qualifications in business.
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Christine Hart       
$�([ecutive 'irector, $rnhem

Born in the Northern Territory, Christine began work for the 
1orthern Territory Government in 1��0 and has ZorNed for a 
number of agency’s including the then Transport and Works, 
Treasury, Mines and Energy, Parks and Wildlife Commission 
and NT Library.

,n 2003 Christine began ZorNing as 'evelopment Officer in 
the Gulf region before Moining the agency in 200� to support 
the Local Government Reform and Remote Housing Reform 
in the Territory. Her current position is with the Big Rivers 
region managing community engagement and remote housing 
programs. In April 2011 she was appointed as acting Executive 
Director, Arnhem.

Christine holds a Tualification in public sector management.

Danielle Cross       
Director, Human Resources

'anielle Moined the agency in 0arch 2010 from the Office of 
the Commissioner for Public Employment, where she was 
the Director Workforce Development for several years. She 
has wide public sector experience, particularly in training, 
development and change management. She has worked in the 
Department of the Chief Minister;  Department of Infrastructure, 
Planning and Environment;  Department of Employment, 
Education and Training;  and Department of Corporate and 
Information Services.

She holds a Bachelor of Education, Diploma of Education 
�$dult (ducation� and a Graduate Certificate in Public 6ector 
Leadership.
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Dwayne McInnes        
Executive Director, Corporate Services  
(and Chief Financial Officer)

Dwayne is responsible for the agency’s corporate services 
functions and is the Chief Financial Officer. Born in the Territory, 
Dwayne has held a range of diverse positions within the 
Northern Territory Public Sector over the past 13 years and has 
extensive experience in financial and budget management. 
This includes a period in the former Department of Transport 
and Works, Treasury, Territory Housing and the Department 
of Local Government and Housing, as well as extensive 
experience in the banking and retail industries.

Dwayne has a Bachelor of Business, majoring in accounting 
and is a Graduate Member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

Garry Russell        
Chief Information Officer

Garry joined the agency in 2007. He has over 30 years of 
experience in the Northern Territory Public Service in the 
information and communications technology sector including 
16 years in Chief Information Officer roles in a range of different 
agencies including Infrastructure, Planning and Environment; 
Justice, Police, and Health and Community Services. His 
particular focus is business information systems to support the 
achievement of organisational goals.

He has tertiary qualifications in computer science, a Graduate 
Diploma in Public Sector Executive Management and is a 
Graduate Member of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors.
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Jill Kleiner        
$�([ecutive 'irector, %arNly

Jill came to the 1T in 1��0 to ZorN for the then 1T 'epartment 
of Health and stayed in the health sector for many years. 
She commenced with the agency in Alice Springs in 2001 as 
a proMect officer ZorNing in the Pintubi-LuritMa communities 
in the now Macdonnell Shire. With six years experience in 
local government she moved to Tennant CreeN in late 200� 
during the NT Local Government Reform as Manager Local 
Government, %arNly. ,n 'ecember 2010 Jill Zas appointed to 
acting Executive Director, Barkly Region. 

Jill has post-graduate health Tualifications and has undertaNen 
the tertiary level Professional Management Program.  

John De Koning        
Executive Director, Big Rivers

John Moined the agency in July 200� as the ([ecutive 'irector 
for the Big Rivers Region ( K atherine) , moving from his  
previous position as Director of Parks and Wildlife in the 
K atherine region.

John has lived in the 1orthern Territory for about 30 years, 
working with both the Northern Territory and the Australian 
governments predominantly in the national parks and natural 
resource management fields. 'uring this time, John  
worked extensively with Indigenous people in the Top End 
establishing Moint management of national parNs through  
on-ground facilitation and at the policy level. John has tertiary 
Tualifications in natural sciences.



15DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

Agency Overview PART ONE

Lisa Wilson         
A/Director, Office of the Chief Executive

Lisa previously worked in finance-banking and a not for profit 
organisation providing playgroup services for children with 
disabilities. In 2000 she began working for this agency as 
a record clerk and over the past 11 years has worked in a 
number of roles in areas of tenancy management, policy and 
local government and ministerial liaison. 

Lisa started in the Secretariat and Ministerial Liaison unit as a 
Ministerial Liaison Officer. In 2009 she was appointed to the 
role of Director of Secretariat and in 2011 was appointed as 
acting Director, Office of the Chief Executive.

Lyn Allen          
Executive Director, Darwin

Lyn Allen was appointed to the position of Executive Director, 
Darwin in December 2010.  Prior to that she held the position 
of Executive Director, Office of Indigenous Policy since late 
September 2009 and was previously Executive Director, 
Environment, Heritage and the Arts at the Department of 
Natural Resources, Environment, The Arts and Sport.

Lyn has a wide range of experience working at the Territory, 
national and international levels.  Before returning to the 
Northern Territory in 2004, Lyn was Director Environment 
and Resource Policy in the Queensland Department of 
Premier and Cabinet.  Lyn has also worked for a number of 
Territory organisations including the Menzies School of Health 
Research, the former Katherine Regional Aboriginal Legal Aid 
Service, Greening Australia and the Environment Centre NT.

Lyn has tertiary qualifications in environmental studies and 
management including a Masters of Business Administration, 
and is a Graduate Member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors. 
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Mathew Fagan          
Executive Director, Service Delivery Coordination

0atheZ Moined the 'epartment of +ousing, Local Government 
and 5egional 6ervices in 'ecember 200�, Zhen the 
6ervice 'elivery Coordination 8nit Zas transferred from the 
'epartment of the Chief 0inister. ,n 200�-0�, 0atheZ Zas a 
6enior 0inisterial $dviser and a 6enior Policy Officer in the 
Department of the Chief Minister.  Prior to this, Mathew was 
Director Community Development in the Department of Local 
Government and Housing.

0atheZ began his career in the 1orthern Territory in 1��� 
working for an Aboriginal organisation in the West Arnhem 
region. Since this time, he has worked in the community 
sector and the private sector, and within government on 
matters relating to service delivery, land tenure and community 
development in remote areas of the Northern Territory.

Mathew has a Bachelor of Laws and a Bachelor of Arts 
( Communications) .

Noelene Swanson          
Executive Director, Territory Housing Development and 
Operations

1oelene 6Zanson Moined the 'epartment of +ousing, Local 
Government and 5egional 6ervices in 'ecember 200�, Zhen 
the Regional Operations Centre was transferred from the 
Department of the Chief Minister. Prior to this Noelene was the 
Director of Remote Health Services in the Department of Health 
and Families for a number of years.

1oelene spent time in the Territory in the early 1��0’s, ZorNing 
in health before travelling to live and work interstate and 
overseas. She resumed her career in the Northern Territory 
in 1��1, ZorNing in a variety of roles in the public and private 
sector including higher education, vocational education and 
training and health.

1oelene holds a number of health Tualifications, a degree 
in teaching and post graduate degree in public sector 
administration.



17DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

Agency Overview PART ONE

Trish Angus           
Executive Director, Strategic Policy Development  
and Coordination

Trish has held a number of executive and management 
positions in government and the community sector over several 
decades. The majority of these positions have been in the 
human services field. She moved from the health sector to the 
housing sector in 1999. During the past 11 years, she has held 
a range of executive level positions within the areas of housing, 
local government and community services and has provided 
stewardship for the agency through a number of significant 
changes and reforms.

Trish has tertiary qualifications in health and management, 
including a Masters Degree in Tropical Health.
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The structure of the agency and its divisions and regions are shown below.

F,G85( 1� O5G$1,6$T,O1$L C+$5T

Territory Housing Programs 
and Performance

Local Government, Regional 
and Community Service
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ARNHEM
F,G85( 2� $51+(0 5(G,O1 0$P

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Nhulunbuy
2 Jabiru

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Angurugu/ Umbakumba
2 Galiwin’ku
3 Gapuwiyak
4 Gunbalanya
5 Maningrida
6 Milingimbi
7 Ramingining
8 Y irrkala

Sh i r e s
 West Arnhem Shire
 East Arnhem Shire
 West Arnhem Shire West Arnhem Shire
 East Arnhem Shire East Arnhem Shire

2

1

3 8
12

7
65

4

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Tennant Creek

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Ali Curung
2 Elliott

Sh i r e s
 Barkly Shire

1

1

2

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 K atherine

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Borroloola
2 Daguragu/ K alkarindj i
3 Ngukurr
4 Numbulwar
5 Wadeye

Sh i r e s
 Municipality of K atherine
 V ictoria Daly Shire 
 Roper Gulf Shire

1

1

3

2

5 4

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Alice Springs

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Laj amanu
2 Ntaria ( Hermannsburg)
3 Papunya
4 Y uendumu

Sh i r e s
 MacDonnell Shire
 Central Desert Shire

1

1
2

3

4

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Darwin
2 Palmerston

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Wurrumiyanga ( Nguiu)

Sh i r e s
 Tiwi Islands Shire
 Municipalities of Darwin  
 and surrounds 

2

1

1

Outstation/homeland communities

131 outstation�homeland communities. 

Economic Development Committee

� (ast $rnhem 

Indigenous languages

AREA L$1G8$G( 6PO.(1

North East Arnhem 21 Y olngu languages
Groote Eylandt Alawa 

Anindilyakwa
K riol 
Nunggubuyu

Gunbalanya�Jabiru Burarra .unZinNMu
Maningrida
Warruwi Burarra 

'Mambarrpuyngu 
'Minang 
Guninggu  
Gurrgoni  
K riol  

Nakkara  
1dMebbana  
Rembarrnga  
Y anyangu 
Maung  
Walang

REGIONAL SNAPSHOTS
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Housing

The folloZing presents government-supported housing profiles in the $rnhem region’s 
respective local government areas.

C+$5T 1� $51+(0 +O86,1G 61$P6+OT

Government employee housing 587   

Industry housing 53   

General public housing 34   

Private head leases 3 4   

Remote Indigenous housing/ town camp housing 1 1 9 3   

T$%L( 1� $51+(0 GO9(510(1T-68PPO5T(' +O86,1G

$51+(0 +O86,1G 1+8L81%8<
EAST 

ARNHEM
WEST 

ARNHEM

General public housing 3� 0 0

Industry housing 1� 0 36

Government employee housing 203 21� 1��

Private head leases* 23 3 �

Remote Indigenous housing  
�toZn camp housing



1�$ ��� �3�

*  Government leasing of private dwellings primarily for accommodating government employees in the region.



   ,ncludes housing numbers from communities identified in the 1ational Partnership $greement on 5emote 
Indigenous Housing only.
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Key Achievement Highlights 2010-11

Improve access to safe, secure, appropriate and affordable housing.

• Delivered 75 new homes through National Partnership Agreement on Remote 
Indigenous Housing (NPA RIH) in Galiwin’ku, Angurugu, Umbakumba, Milyakburra, 
Gunbalanya and Maningrida. 

• Refurbished 146 dwellings and rebuilt 19 dwellings in Galiwin’ku, Angurugu, 
Umbakumba, Milyakburra, Gunbalanya, Maningrida and Warruwi.

• Commenced construction of six Government Employee Housing (GEH) dwellings in 
Nhulunbuy.

• Commenced water storage upgrades at Warruwi. The power station at Warruwi was 
also extended, including a fuel bunding upgrade (fuel bunding is a process undertaken 
to contain fuel/diesel spills).

Strong regions, communities and local governments

• Established four local advisory boards in East Arnhem Shire and two in West 
Arnhem Shire. There are now 11 local advisory boards established in the Arnhem 
region. These boards ensure local community input into shire council affairs, and 
act as an effective engagement tool for shire councils to liaise and consult with their 
communities. 

• Signed Local Implementation Plans in Territory Growth Towns in  
Gunbalanya (November 2010), Angurugu and Umbakumba (December 2010),  
Yirrkala (December 2010), Galiwin’ku (March 2011), Milingimbi (March 2011) and  
Gapuwiyak (March 2011).  

• Commenced local implementation planning in Ramingining and Maningrida. 
• Established the Arnhem Regional Coordination Committee to work collaboratively 

across the three levels of government (national, territory and local) to facilitate the 
implementation of key government initiatives, policies and programs for the benefit of 
the Arnhem region.

Future Priorities 2011-12

• Completion of new dwellings and refurbishments currently underway under NPA RIH:
• Groote Eylandt and Bickerton Island – 14 new dwellings and 13 refurbishments 
• Galiwin’ku – 60 new dwellings and 6 refurbishments. 

• Provision of intensive tenancy support to tenants of remote community housing and 
improve their capacity to maintain successful tenancies.

• Continue developing five year plans for all Arnhem communities not undergoing the 
Local Implementation Plan process.

• Research project on Backyard Burials across Arnhem region and the impact on the 
delivery of the Public Housing Model.

• Provision of support and governance education for elected councillors and local 
advisory board members to ensure strong representative structures in shire councils. 
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BARKLY
F,G85( 3� %$5.L< 5(G,O1 0$P

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Nhulunbuy
2 Jabiru

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Angurugu/ Umbakumba
2 Galiwin’ku
3 Gapuwiyak
4 Gunbalanya
5 Maningrida
6 Milingimbi
7 Ramingining
8 Y irrkala

Sh i r e s
 West Arnhem Shire
 East Arnhem Shire

2

1

3 8
12

7
65

4

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Tennant Creek

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Ali Curung
2 Elliott

Sh i r e s
 Barkly Shire Barkly Shire Barkly Shire

1

1

2

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 K atherine

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Borroloola
2 Daguragu/ K alkarindj i
3 Ngukurr
4 Numbulwar
5 Wadeye

Sh i r e s
 Municipality of K atherine
 V ictoria Daly Shire 
 Roper Gulf Shire

1

1

3

2

5 4

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Alice Springs

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Laj amanu
2 Ntaria ( Hermannsburg)
3 Papunya
4 Y uendumu

Sh i r e s
 MacDonnell Shire
 Central Desert Shire

1

1
2

3

4

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Darwin
2 Palmerston

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Wurrumiyanga ( Nguiu)

Sh i r e s
 Tiwi Islands Shire
 Municipalities of Darwin  
 and surrounds 

2

1

1

Outstation/homeland communities

�� outstation�homeland communities.

Economic Development Committee

� Tennant CreeN

Indigenous languages

AREA L$1G8$G( 6PO.(1

Barkly Alyawarre 
Anmatyerre 
Jingili 
.aititM

Mudbarra 
Warlpiri 
Warnmanpa 
Warumungu
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Housing

The folloZing presents government-supported housing profiles in the %arNly region’s 
respective local government areas.

C+$5T 2� %$5.L< +O86,1G 61$P6+OT

Government employee housing 83   

Industry housing 48   

General public housing 126   

Private head leases 1 6 6   

Remote Indigenous housing/ town camp housing 4 2 9   

T$%L( 2� %$5.L< GO9(510(1T-68PPO5T(' +O86,1G

%$5.L<  +O86,1G TENNANT CREEK
%$5.L< �O8T6,'( 
TENNANT CREEK )

General public housing 12� 1

Industry housing �� 2

Government employee housing 1� ��

Private head leases* 166 0

Remote Indigenous housing  
�toZn camp housing



1�0 2��

*  Government leasing of private dwellings primarily for accommodating government employees in the region.



   ,ncludes housing numbers from communities identified in the 1ational Partnership $greement on 5emote 
Indigenous Housing only.
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Key Achievement Highlights 2010-11

Improve access to safe, secure, appropriate and affordable housing.

� 6ecured nine lots in a neZ Tennant CreeN subdivision in line Zith the 1orthern 
Territory Government’s Housing the Territory strategy to provide social and affordable 
housing. 

� 5ebuilt �0 dZellings in Tennant CreeN community living areas and refurbished 11� 
dZellings through 1P$ 5,+ in $li Curung, $mpilatZatMa, $lpurrurulam, Canteen CreeN 
and Epenarra.

� There are currently �� individual public housing dZellings, and three pending that are 
declared alcohol-restricted premises. There are also nine public housing complexes 
within Tennant Creek that have their common areas declared restricted. This is a 
significant tool used to assist tenants maintain a successful and sustainable tenancy. 

� +ousing 5eference Groups established in all communities for Zhich the Territory 
Government manages remote Indigenous housing under the National Partnership 
Agreement on Remote Indigenous Housing.

� Connected ,rrultMa to the $rlparra electricity grid.

Strong regions, communities and local governments.

� Provided funding to the Tennant CreeN Foundation to continue to develop the 
sustainability and commercial viability of the Battery Hill Mining Centre and Nyinkka 
Nyuyu Art and Culture Centre. Seventeen staff are employed at the Nyinkka Nyuyu Art 
and Culture Centre.

� ,dentified five $,6 interpreters of $lyaZarra, three in the 8topia region. This language 
group has not previously been able to be well serviced.

� (stablished the %arNly 5egional Coordination Committee to ZorN collaboratively 
across the three levels of government ( national, territory and local)  to facilitate the 
implementation of Ney government initiatives, policies and programs for the benefit of 
the Barkly region.

Future Priorities 2011-12

� 8pgrade the %lain 6treet public housing unit comple[. 
� Provide social and affordable housing on secured lots in the neZ Tennant CreeN 

subdivision.
� Completion of �0 rebuilds of housing in Tennant CreeN ToZn Camps. 
� Commence the Tenancy 6ustainability Program for public housing tenants in Tennant 

Creek, including community living areas.
� Construct three Government (mployee +ousing dZellings in (lliott and $von 'oZns.
� ,nstall reneZable energy technology at $lpurrurulam to reduce diesel consumption 

and emission of greenhouse gases.
� ,nstall a Zater treatment plant at $li Curung.
� Finalise Local ,mplementation Plans in $li Curung and (lliott.
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BIG RIVERS
F,G85( �� %,G 5,9(56 5(G,O1 0$P

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Nhulunbuy
2 Jabiru

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Angurugu/ Umbakumba
2 Galiwin’ku
3 Gapuwiyak
4 Gunbalanya
5 Maningrida
6 Milingimbi
7 Ramingining
8 Y irrkala

Sh i r e s
 West Arnhem Shire
 East Arnhem Shire

2

1

3 8
12

7
65

4

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Tennant Creek

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Ali Curung
2 Elliott

Sh i r e s
 Barkly Shire

1

1

2

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 K atherine

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Borroloola
2 Daguragu/ K alkarindj i
3 Ngukurr
4 Numbulwar
5 Wadeye

Sh i r e s
 Municipality of K atherine
 V ictoria Daly Shire 
 Roper Gulf Shire

 Municipality of K atherine Municipality of K atherine
 V ictoria Daly Shire  V ictoria Daly Shire 
 Roper Gulf Shire Roper Gulf Shire

1

1

3

2

5 4

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Alice Springs

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Laj amanu
2 Ntaria ( Hermannsburg)
3 Papunya
4 Y uendumu

Sh i r e s
 MacDonnell Shire
 Central Desert Shire

1

1
2

3

4

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Darwin
2 Palmerston

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Wurrumiyanga ( Nguiu)

Sh i r e s
 Tiwi Islands Shire
 Municipalities of Darwin  
 and surrounds 

2

1

1

Outstation/homeland communities

11� outstation�homeland communities.

Economic Development Committees

� .atherine
� Gulf �%orroloola�
� 9ictoria 5iver 'istrict

Indigenous languages

AREA L$1G8$G( 6PO.(1

K atherine GurrindMi 
JaZoyn 
K riol 
Mayali

Ngaringman 
Nunggubuyu 
:alpiri ± 1auiyu 
Nambiyu ( Daly River)

Peppiminarti K riol 
Ngangikurrungurr

Ngangiwumirri 
Marithiel

Ngukurr K riol Marra
Wadeye 0ari-Jurran 

Murrinh-Patha
1ungu Jamidi

Borroloola Y anyuwa 
Marra

Garrawa  
GurdanMi
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Housing

The folloZing presents government-supported housing profiles in the %ig 5ivers region’s 
respective local government areas.

C+$5T 3� %,G 5,9(56 +O86,1G 61$P6+OT

Government employee housing 282   

Industry housing 51   

General public housing 461   

Private head leases 1 3 1   

Remote Indigenous housing/ town camp housing 1 2 8 9   

T$%L( 3� %,G 5,9(56 GO9(510(1T-68PPO5T(' +O86,1G

%,G 5,9(56 +O86,1G K ATHERINE 5OP(5 G8LF
9,CTO5,$ 

DALY

General public housing �2� 1� 16

Industry housing �� � 0

Government employee housing 12 1�� 113

Private head leases* 110 1� �

Remote Indigenous housing  
�toZn camp housing



3� �%inMari� �0� ^ ���

*  Government leasing of private dwellings primarily for accommodating government employees in the region.



   ,ncludes housing numbers from communities identified in the 1ational Partnership $greement on 5emote 
Indigenous Housing only.

A   ,ncludes �� %orroloola Community Living $reas.
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Key Achievement Highlights 2010-11

Improve access to safe, secure, appropriate and affordable housing.

• Six public housing complex common areas declared alcohol restricted. There are 
currently 45 public housing tenants who have their homes declared alcohol-restricted 
to assist in sustaining their tenancies.

• Constructed six Government Employee Housing (GEH) dwellings in Borroloola.
• Upgraded 14 GEH dwellings and installed two additional GEH demountable dwellings 

in Mataranka.
• Through NPA RIH delivered: 

• 88 new dwellings
• 335 refurbishments 
• 53 rebuilds.

• Provided the Tenancy Sustainability Program (TSP) and the A Place to Call Home 
(APTCH) program to support tenancies at risk of failure. Catholic Care was funded to 
provide TSP to 65 households and APTCH to six households in katherine.  Mabunji 
was funded to provide TSP for up to 19 households in Borroloola.  

• Established a full-time office in Ngukurr to provide ongoing agency support for 
residents and to assist in NPA RIH consultations.

• Piloted Tenancy Management System in Jilkminggan (Territory Housing’s tenancy 
information management system) to test and trial its application in the remote housing 
context.

• Upgraded road drainage to a section of the Barunga.
• Commenced sewerage upgrade work at Palumpa.
Strong regions, communities and local governments.

• Facilitated corporate governance training for members and directors of a number of 
corporations in the Borroloola and Robinson River areas.

• Expanded the AIS office in katherine to accommodate three new full-time Community 
Based Interpreters.

• Signed Local Implementation Plans in the Territory Growth Towns of Ngukurr, 
Numbulwar and Wadeye. Commenced local implementation planning in Borroloola, 
Daguragu and kalkarindji.

• Lead the recovery effort, clean up and repatriation in Daly River community following 
flooding which occurred in the aftermath of Cyclone Carlos.

• Established the Big Rivers Regional Coordination Committee to work collaboratively 
across the three levels of government (national, territory and local) to facilitate the 
implementation of key government initiatives, policies and programs for the benefit of 
the Big Rivers region.

• Held the first Futures Forum in Ngukurr. The forum provided an opportunity to access 
information on a range of government, non-government and private sector programs 
and services, including how to start and run a business, home ownership, job creation 
and cultural and sporting events. 
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Future Priorities 2011-12

� Commence 1P$ 5,+ ZorNs in $manbidMi, %orroloola �0ara, <anyula, GaraZa 1 and 
GaraZa 2�, %ulman, 'aguragu, JilNminggan, .alNarindMi, 0inyerri, 1auiyu 1ambiyu, 
Numbulwar, Pigeon Hole, Robinson River and Weemol. 

� Construct tZo neZ dZellings on higher ground and complete the causeZay upgrade 
at Palumpa.

� (stablish +ousing 5eference Groups Zithin %orroloola, 1auiyu 1ambiyu and 
Robinson River to ensure local community input into local NPA RIH work and housing 
management.

� Complete the 0anthathpe road crossing upgrade near :adeye.
� 'evelop a Community Plan for 1auiyu 1ambiyu in conMunction Zith the 1auiyu 

Nambiyu Land Trust. 
� 6upport local organisations and assist in establishment of long-term land tenure 

arrangements in Borroloola community living areas to facilitate delivery of NPA RIH in 
Borroloola and Robinson River.

� 6upport 5oper Gulf 6hire Council to name roads in <anyula, 0ara, GaraZa 1 and 
Garawa 2 urban living areas ( community living areas) .

� Finalise Local ,mplementation Plans in %orroloola, 'aguragu and .alNarindMi.
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CENTRAL AUSTRALIA
F,G85( �� C(1T5$L $86T5$L,$ 5(G,O1 0$P

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Nhulunbuy
2 Jabiru

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Angurugu/ Umbakumba
2 Galiwin’ku
3 Gapuwiyak
4 Gunbalanya
5 Maningrida
6 Milingimbi
7 Ramingining
8 Y irrkala

Sh i r e s
 West Arnhem Shire
 East Arnhem Shire

2

1

3 8
12

7
65

4

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Tennant Creek

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Ali Curung
2 Elliott

Sh i r e s
 Barkly Shire

1

1

2

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 K atherine

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Borroloola
2 Daguragu/ K alkarindj i
3 Ngukurr
4 Numbulwar
5 Wadeye

Sh i r e s
 Municipality of K atherine
 V ictoria Daly Shire 
 Roper Gulf Shire

1

1

3

2

5 4

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Alice Springs

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Laj amanu
2 Ntaria ( Hermannsburg)
3 Papunya
4 Y uendumu

Sh i r e s
 MacDonnell Shire
 Central Desert Shire
 MacDonnell Shire MacDonnell Shire
 Central Desert Shire Central Desert Shire

1

1
2

3

4

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Darwin
2 Palmerston

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Wurrumiyanga ( Nguiu)

Sh i r e s
 Tiwi Islands Shire
 Municipalities of Darwin  
 and surrounds 

2

1

1

Outstation/homeland communities

1�� outstation�homeland communities. 

Economic Development Committees

� :est 0ac'onnell
� $lice 6prings
� $nmatMere �Ti Tree�

Indigenous languages

L$1G8$G(6 6PO.(1

Alyawerre 
Anmatyerre 
Central Arrernte 
Eastern Arrernte 
Jingili 
.aititM 
Mudbarra 
LuritMa 
1gaanyatMarra 
Pintupi

PitMantMatMatMara 
Southern Arrernte 
Wambaya 
Warlpiri 
Warnmanpa

Warumungu 
Western Arrernte 
<anNunytMatMara 
Wuriaki
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Housing

The folloZing presents government-supported housing profiles in the Central $ustralia 
region’s respective local government areas.

C+$5T �� C(1T5$L $86T5$L,$ +O86,1G 61$P6+OT

Government employee housing 287   

Industry housing 123   

General public housing 879   

Private head leases 2 1 5   

Remote Indigenous housing/ town camp housing 1 3 9 2   

T$%L( �� C(1T5$L $86T5$L,$ GO9(510(1T-68PPO5T(' +O86,1G

C(1T5$L $86T5$L,$ +O86,1G
ALICE 

SPRINGS
CENTRAL 

DESERT MACDONNELL

General public housing ��� 2 0

Industry housing 123 0 0

Government employee housing �0 113 13�

Private head leases* 21� 1 0

Remote Indigenous housing  
�toZn camp housing



2�2 �1� 622

*   Government leasing of private dwellings primarily for accommodating government employees in the region.



   ,ncludes housing numbers from toZn camps in $lice 6prings and communities identified in the 1ational 
Partnership Agreement on Remote Indigenous Housing only.
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Key Achievement Highlights 2010-11

Improve access to safe, secure, appropriate and affordable housing.

• Increased social housing through National Stimulus Package initiatives, including 
construction of managed and supported accommodation facilities at Percy Court, 
Goyder Street and Bath Street, and public housing at Willshire Street.

• Completed the refurbishment of 34 South Terrace (Akangkentye Hostel) to provide 
short-term and transitional accommodation. Operational funding was provided to 
Aboriginal Hostels Limited to manage this facility.

• Commenced construction of an 18 unit (two bedroom) seniors village at Larapinta.
• Completed 12 new dwellings (in Ntaria, Wallace Rockhole and Yuendumu) and 

upgraded five dwellings.
• Upgraded unit complex at 75 Gap Road and allocated under the Industry Housing 

Assistance Scheme.
• Rebuilt or refurbished 478 houses in remote communities in the Central Desert and 

MacDonnell shires from October 2009 to 30 June 2011 through NPA RIH.
• Commenced construction of 85 new houses and 196 rebuilds or refurbishments at the 

Alice Springs Town Camps due for completion September 2011. 
• Contracted services at Apmere Mwerre Accommodation Park for short-term visitors 

with 8411 nights provided between 25 February 2011 to 30 June 2011. This is an 
initiative under the Alice Springs Transformation Plan.

• Provided short-term accommodation at the Stuart Lodge facility, with 17 308 nights 
provided in 2010-11 for short-term visitors accessing medical services and  
homeless people.

• Provided intensive tenancy support through TSP and APTCH program in urban areas 
and town camps. Anglicare was contracted to provide TSP for 66 households and 
APTCH for eight households. Tangentyere Council was contracted to provide TSP to 
50 households in town camps. 

• The Intensive Supported Tenancy Enabling Program (ISTEP), similar to APTCH, 
commenced with Mission Australia contracted to deliver ISTEP to six households for 
vulnerable tenancies in urban Alice Springs and town camps. Funding was provided 
through the Alice Springs Transformation Plan.    

• Sold six affordable house and land packages at Ridges Estate, Larapinta in May 2011.
• There are currently 107 individual public housing dwellings, and one pending, that are 

declared alcohol-restricted premises in Alice Springs. There are also 16 public housing 
complexes within Alice Springs that have their common areas declared restricted. 
These alcohol restriction declarations are a significant tool used to assist public 
housing tenants maintain a successful and sustainable tenancy. 
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Strong regions, communities and local governments.

� 6ubstantially completed the 5oad 1aming ProMect in 2� remote communities across 
the region. This effectively established names for internal community roads following 
participation of local people through community Street Naming Committees.

� 1egotiated service delivery outcome for municipal services for 0utitMulu.
� Local ,mplementation Plans Zere completed and signed in <uendumu, 1taria and 

LaMamanu.
� $ Futures Forum Zas held in 1taria. The forum provided an opportunity to access 

information on a range of government, non-government and private sector programs 
and services, including hoZ to start and run a business, home oZnership, Mob creation 
and cultural and sporting events. 

Future Priorities 2011-12

� Complete 1� units of seniors accommodation at Larapinta in early 2012.
� Complete construction of �� neZ houses and continue rebuild and refurbishment of 

1�� houses at the $lice 6prings Living $reas �ToZn Camps�. 
� Complete upgrade ZorNs �predominantly bathrooms� in 6tuart Lodge and other 

associated repairs and maintenance in a targeted maintenance program.
� Complete construction of Percy Court �$herlNeme 9illage� and establish contractual 

management arrangements with Mission Australia to deliver tenancy management 
and support services to tenants.

� ([pand the T6P in $lice 6prings ToZn Camps Zith funding from the $lice 6prings 
Transformation Plan to the maMority of tenants allocated neZ or rebuilt�refurbished 
public housing dwellings.

� Conduct a Community +ousing Officers �C+O� ZorNshop aimed at providing training 
and support to remotely based CHOs, most of whom are Indigenous and employed  
by shire councils. The training is designed to assist remote housing officers 
understand the contextual environment of their roles, in addition to housing 
management processes. 
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DARWIN
F,G85( �� '$5:,1 5(G,O1 0$P

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Nhulunbuy
2 Jabiru

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Angurugu/ Umbakumba
2 Galiwin’ku
3 Gapuwiyak
4 Gunbalanya
5 Maningrida
6 Milingimbi
7 Ramingining
8 Y irrkala

Sh i r e s
 West Arnhem Shire
 East Arnhem Shire

2

1

3 8
12

7
65

4

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Tennant Creek

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Ali Curung
2 Elliott

Sh i r e s
 Barkly Shire

1

1

2

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 K atherine

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Borroloola
2 Daguragu/ K alkarindj i
3 Ngukurr
4 Numbulwar
5 Wadeye

Sh i r e s
 Municipality of K atherine
 V ictoria Daly Shire 
 Roper Gulf Shire

1

1

3

2

5 4

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Alice Springs

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Laj amanu
2 Ntaria ( Hermannsburg)
3 Papunya
4 Y uendumu

Sh i r e s
 MacDonnell Shire
 Central Desert Shire

1

1
2

3

4

Ma j o r  c e n t r e s
1 Darwin
2 Palmerston

Te r r i t o r y  Gr o w t h  To w n s
1 Wurrumiyanga ( Nguiu)

Sh i r e s
 Tiwi Islands Shire
 Municipalities of Darwin  
 and surrounds 

 Tiwi Islands Shire Tiwi Islands Shire
 Municipalities of Darwin   Municipalities of Darwin  

2

1

1

Local government in the region is summarised as follows: 
� 'arZin City Council
� City of Palmerston
� Litchfield Council
� %elyuen Community Government Council 
� Coomalie Community Government Council
� :agait 6hire Council
� TiZi ,slands 6hire Council 

Outstation/homeland communities

1� outstation�homeland communities.

Indigenous languages

AREA L$1G8$G( 6PO.(1

Darwin Larrakia
Litchfield �%atchelor� Madinarl Mariamu
Tiwi Islands Tiwi
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Housing

The folloZing presents government-supported housing profiles in the 'arZin region’s 
respective local government areas.

C+$5T �� '$5:,1 +O86,1G 61$P6+OT

Government employee housing 89   

Industry housing 171   

General public housing 3552   

Private head leases 6 7   
Remote Indigenous housing/ town camp housing 5 0 1   

T$%L( �� '$5:,1 GO9(510(1T-68PPO5T(' +O86,1G

'$5:,1 +O86,1G DARWIN PALMERSTON

COO0$L,(�
%(L<8(1�

WAGAIT LITCHFIELD
TIWI  

ISLANDS

General public housing 2302 11�3 63 1� 0

Industry housing 13� 32 0 1 0

Government employee 
housing

1� 1 2� 1� 3�

Private head leases* �� 0 12 0 0

Remote Indigenous housing  
�toZn camp housing

1�$ 1�$ 3� 
( Belyuen)

1�  
( Acacia 

Larrakia)

��0



*   Government leasing of private dwellings primarily for accommodating government employees in the region.



   ,ncludes housing numbers from communities identified in the 1ational Partnership $greement on 5emote 
Indigenous Housing only.
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Key Achievement Highlights 2010-11

Improve access to safe, secure, appropriate and affordable housing.

• Increased social housing through National Stimulus Package initiatives, including 
construction of managed and supported accommodation facilities at Patterson Street, 
Malak; Crerar Road, Berrimah; Dick Ward Drive; Coconut Grove and Catherine Booth 
House, Stuart Park.

• Upgraded 25 dwellings under the National Stimulus Package.
• Commenced construction of a 40 unit seniors village at Bellamack.
• Established a Priority Housing Committee, incorporating representation from non-

government organisations, to improve efficiency of processing priority housing 
applications. Achieved an 86 per cent reduction in the number of pending priority 
housing applications in the Darwin region. 

• Established a Housing Reference Group at Belyuen to ensure community input into 
housing allocation decisions and improve and maintain connections to the community.

• Constructed 33 dwellings at Wurrumiyanga through NPA RIH. Across the region, 62 
refurbishments and 44 rebuilds were completed at Milikapiti, Pirlangimpi, Belyuen and 
Acacia Larrakia.

• Provided intensive tenancy support to 70 remote households across the Darwin region.
• Provided the TSP to 160 households through Mission Australia, Anglicare and 

CatholicCare. CatholicCare was also contracted to provide APTCH to ten households, 
a program which builds the capacity of participants to maintain an independent public 
housing tenancy.

• Facilitated the sale of 12 affordable house and land packages at Bellamack in line with 
the Housing the Territory strategy.

• Sold ten affordable housing lots, at Johnston Stage 1B, in December 2010.
• There are currently 129 individual public housing dwellings, and seven pending, 

that are declared alcohol-restricted premises within Darwin and Palmerston. There 
are also 28 public housing complexes within Darwin and Palmerston that have their 
common areas declared restricted. This is a significant tool used to assist tenants 
maintain a successful and sustainable tenancy. 

Strong Regions, communities and local governments.

• Provided support to Coomalie Community Government Council, Belyuen Community 
Government Council, Wagait Shire Council and Litchfield Council to complete Stage 1 
investigations of local government boundary expansion into unincorporated areas.

• Completed Stage One of the Bagot Community election commitment including:
• fencing of 36 residential houses
• installing water meters at 56 residential houses
• numbering 56 residential houses and erecting a map at the Bagot Road 

entrance
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� fencing and shade for the basNetball court
� upgrading the basNetball court ablution blocN
� re-roofing the community hall
� building an ablution blocN Zith disabled access for the community hall.

� 'elivered Zater safety lessons Zith visits to students in 0iddle Point, %elyuen, 
Woolaning and Dundee Beach.

�  8ndertooN e[tensive consultations Zith the Litchfield community folloZing the 
announcement of a �0 metre outdoor sZimming pool at Freds Pass 5eserve in the 
2010-11 Budget.

� ,nvestigated options for the establishment and development of a regional 
management waste facility in the Darwin region. 

Future Priorities 2011-12

� 5edevelopment of the former :irrina Comple[ in Parap for the purpose of $ffordable 
Housing Rental Company. 

� Complete construction of neZ affordable housing across 'arZin and Palmerston, 
including the development of the �0 unit 6eniors 9illage and eight duple[es at 
Bellamack, and increasing managed accommodation facilities. 

� 8pgrade unit comple[es in 5unge 6treet, 'rysdale 6treet and 6mith 6treet.
� Complete 1P$ 5,+ ZorNs in Pirlangimpi and $cacia LarraNia.  
� Completion of the %agot election commitment by early 2012.  6tages 1 and 2 have 

been completed at a cost of �2.� million.  The remainder of the �� million Zill be spent 
on proMects in 2011-12.

� Finalise the Local ,mplementation Plan in :urrumiyanga.
� 'evelopment of regional Zaste management options for the 'arZin region. 
� Commence construction of the Litchfield 6Zimming Pool at Freds Pass 5eserve. 
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IMPROVE ACCEss tO sAfE, sECuRE, APPROPRIAtE AND 
AffORDAbLE hOusING.
Deliver safe, secure and healthy public housing to low income households for the 
duration of their need

• Increase social housing supply by continuing commitment of $49 million to construct 
150 new dwellings over three years.

• Develop and implement a 10 year asset strategy with three year targets and regional 
delivery plans.

• Develop and implement principles for redevelopment of public housing complexes to 
increase social housing supply and reduce concentrations of disadvantage.

• Implement the Public Housing Safety Strategy, including Public Housing Safety 
Officers. 

• Increase capacity of clients to sustain successful tenancies. 
• Reduce the number of Territorians sleeping rough.
• Drive and implement key social housing initiatives, in partnership with the Australian 

Government, under the National Affordable Housing Agreement.
• Ensure public housing policies and procedures are outcomes and client focused. 

Improve access to public housing assistance and support in Indigenous 
communities and town camps

• Deliver the NPA RIH new construction, refurbishment and rebuild targets.
• Reduce average occupancy rate per remote dwelling and improve housing quality to 

remote public housing standard by 2012-13.
• Continue to implement a tenancy management framework that is aligned to the urban 

and regional public housing model.
• Implement a Remote Housing Performance Reporting framework with measures 

consistent the Urban Public Housing Reporting Framework.
• Increase capacity of clients to sustain successful tenancies through the Intensive 

Tenancy Management program.

Build the capacity of the non-government sector to provide housing assistance  
to clients with special needs

• Improve access to housing for people with disabilities and special needs.
• Implement and monitor an integrated waitlist for public and non-government housing 

applicants. 
• Develop the non-government sector through collaboration and engagement.
• Undertake homelessness profile studies in major urban centres and develop regional 

action plans.

futuRE PRIORItIEs
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� ,ncrease neZ managed accommodation facilities and continue the industry housing 
program.

� Contribute to development of national legislation and regulation of the community 
housing sector.

Contribute to the delivery of affordable rental and home ownership strategies

� (stablish the $ffordable +ousing 5ental Company.
� Facilitate entrance to the housing marNet through the 1ational 5ental $ffordability 

Scheme.
� 'evelop redevelopment options that contribute to mi[ed tenure housing including 

affordable rental and home ownership.

Provide opportunities for increasing home ownership for low to middle income 
earners in the Territory

� ,ncrease home oZnership opportunities in the 1orthern Territory for loZ to middle 
income earners through access to HOMESTART NT. 

� ,ncrease ,ndigenous home oZnership opportunities in urban and remote locations.
� (nsure the Territory +ousing $sset 6trategy includes home oZnership opportunities.

Maximise core government services through housing availability 

� ,mplement a Government (mployee +ousing $sset and Operational 6trategy 
Zith Àe[ible housing solutions that support delivery of critical services in remote 
communities.

STRONG REGIONS, COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL GOVERNMENTS.

Lead whole of government implementation of the Working Future policy, in 
partnership with other relevant stakeholders

� Progress and implement Local ,mplementation Plans that are agreed by all tiers of 
government and local people so that the Territory GroZth ToZns can enMoy normal 
facilities and services prevailing in other regional centres in $ustralia of a similar si]e, 
are properly planned and designed, and are connected by appropriate infrastructure.

� ,mplement land tenure reform in remote areas to facilitate service delivery and 
economic opportunities.

� 0onitor and revieZ baseline indicators in Territory GroZth ToZns and regularly 
monitor, report and evaluate progress.

� 5evieZ and develop homelands policy and support, establish a clear frameZorN 
for services and seeN adeTuate funding to address needs and realise benefits of 
homelands.
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Coordinate whole of government Indigenous policy

• Lead commitments made through the partnership agreements with the Australian 
Government, government policies and legislation.

• Build strong partnerships with Indigenous Territorians and organisations.
• Drive whole of government policy and effort to support Indigenous Territorians and 

communities.
• Provide high level policy advice and strategic direction in relation to the NT Emergency 

Response and Stronger Futures.
• Lead improvements in responsiveness to and incorporation of Indigenous issues in 

access to services and service delivery.

Build regional economies through enterprise development, job creation and 
infrastructure investment

• Develop and implement business and employment strategies to stimulate and grow 
regional and remote economies.

• Facilitate the development of business and employment opportunities for Indigenous 
Territorians including targeted programs to stakeholders to increase economic 
participation and wealth creation.

• Develop, maintain and distribute comprehensive economic information about regional 
centres and remote economies to assist in facilitating economic growth.

• Promote development through Futures Forums and the Indigenous Economic 
Development Forum.

• Stimulate business and regional development for Indigenous Territorians and regional 
and remote communities through funding programs.

Strengthen local government capacity

• Ensure the agency meets its responsibilities under the Local Government Act.
• Promote local government compliance with legislation via reviews, investigations, 

advice and assistance.
• Provide support to local governments to build their capacity to provide services and to 

improve their governance performance by providing training and advice.
• Work with shire councils to develop Indigenous employment.
• Manage grants to local governments to support delivery of core services.
• Engage councils in future planning to achieve an agreed vision and work with councils 

to achieve identified goals.
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Provide interpreting and translating services to improve access to services for  
all Territorians

� 6trengthen and build on the capacity of the $boriginal ,nterpreter 6ervice in Territory 
Growth Towns.

� ,ncrease the capacity of interpreters and translators through training and accreditation 
to provide a high standard of language services.

� ,ncrease the uptaNe of interpreting and translating services by government and  
non-government agencies.

Support water safety and animal welfare education and ensure legislative 
compliance

� 6trengthen the animal Zelfare regulatory program including remote areas.
� 'evelop animal Zelfare education in remote areas.
� 'eliver sZimming pool safety advice and certification.
� 'eliver Zater safety education across the Territory.

A COLLABORATIVE, INFLUENTIAL AND CAPABLE 
ORGANISATION.

Our agency is recognised and valued for its advice, expertise, leadership and 
continuous improvement in the NTPS

� (nsure our leaders inspire and model high performance, through professional and 
ethical decision-making and practice.

� ,mplement a Performance 0anagement FrameZorN to enable an effective and 
constructive staff management framework that fosters a high performance culture.

� 6trengthen our partnerships and relationships Zith staNeholders.
� Continue to strengthen policy and program implementation capability, and 

performance monitoring, reporting and evaluation of programs. 
� 6trengthen our contract management capability.

Attract, retain and develop a highly capable, skilled and professional workforce 
that reflects the diversity of the Territory population

� Continue to improve recruitment processes Zhile upholding the merit principle 
to foster open competition and attract motivated, capable people from diverse 
backgrounds.

� 'rive the ,ndigenous Career 'evelopment 6trategy across the agency.
� (nsure our leaders champion diversity, ,ndigenous employment and client focused 

services.
� ,mplement a coordinated approach to learning and development to identify and 

respond to skill and capability gaps.
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Our staff are supported in their business

• Develop better ways to deliver services through technology and business systems.
• Equip staff with the right tools to do their jobs.
• Establish and support contemporary work places in Territory Growth Towns.
• Provide a supportive, friendly, respectful and safe working environment.
• Promote health and wellbeing programs.

Implement and monitor high standards of governance and accountability in the 
organisation’s operations

• Strengthen the governance framework through effective risk management and internal 
audit policy and processes.

• Ensure access for all staff to corporate policies, processes and procedures.
• Ensure regular monitoring and management reporting on agency resources and 

systems.

Our organisation is a responsible environmental citizen

• Implement the Northern Territory Government’s Greening the Fleet strategy to support 
the Greening the Territory initiative.

• Implement the Northern Territory Government’s Energy Smart Buildings Policy.
• Reduce the agency’s environmental impact.





PERFORMANCE 
PART TWO

Divided into output groups, reports on key achievements and output performance 
in 2010-11 as measured in the Northern Territory Government Budget.
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PERFORMANCE REPORTING

Our achievements for 2010-11 are outlined by our Strategic Goals set out within the 
agency’s Corporate Plan 2010-2013. The agency’s goals correspond with the below 
outcomes from the Northern Territory Government Budget 2010-11, Paper No. 3. The 
alignment of the agency’s strategic goals, outcomes and outputs is presented in figure �.

  Improving access to safe, secure, affordable and appropriate housing.

 Corresponds Zith the agency’s first outcome of  
  Access to safe, affordable and appropriate housing for all eligible Territorians 

and essential services to promote the health and wellbeing of Territorians 
living in remote areas.

 Also corresponds with the agency’s fourth outcome of  
 Access to affordable housing through home ownership.

 Strong regions, communities and local governments. 

 Corresponds with the agency’s second outcome of  
 Stronger regions and communities.

 Also corresponds with the agency’s third outcome of  
  Improved social wellbeing and living conditions for Indigenous Territorians, 

especially those living in remote communities.

 A collaborative, influential and capable organisation.

  To achieve the above outcomes, this goal aims to strategically align the 
agency’s organisational arrangements including people and financial 
management and corporate governance.
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F,G85( �� $L,G10(1T OF T+( $G(1C<’6 6T5$T(G,C GO$L6, O8TCO0(6, 
OUTPUT GROUPS AND OUTPUTS

STRATEGIC GOAL 
Improved access to safe, 

secure, appropriate  
and affordable housing.

STRATEGIC GOAL 
Stronger regions,  
communities and  

local governments.

Outcomes

Intended result 
of the service 
provided by 
government to 
the community.

Access to 
affordable 
housing 
through home 
ownership.

Access to safe 
affordable and 
appropriate 
housing for 
all eligible 
Territorians and 
essential services 
to promote the 
health and  
wellbeing  
of Territorians 
living in  
remote areas.

Stronger 
regions and 
communities.

Improved social 
wellbeing and 
living conditions 
for Indigenous 
Territorians, 
especially those 
living in remote 
communities.

Output groups

Outputs that 
contribute to 
the common 
outcome.

1T +ome 
Ownership

Territory +ousing 
Services

Local 
Government, 
Regional and 
Community 
Services

Indigenous 
Policy and 
Service Delivery 
Coordination

Outputs

Services 
and goods 
produced by 
the agency for 
the benefit of 
the Territory 
community.

1T +ome 
Ownership

Urban Public 
+ousing

Local 
Government

Indigenous 
Policy and 
Service Delivery 
CoordinationRemote 

Indigenous 
+ousing

Regional 
Development

Government 
Employee 
+ousing

Interpreter 
and Translator 
Services

Indigenous 
Essential 
Services

Water Safety 
and Animal 
Welfare

STRATEGIC GOAL 
A collaborative, influential and capable organisation.
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Outcome   Access for low to middle income Territorians to affordable housing through 
home ownership.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
Provide opportunities for increasing home ownership for low to middle income 
earners in the Territory

� 5evised the +O0(6T$5T 1T criteria in $pril 2011, including increased income 
threshold and price caps to Neep pace Zith groZing housing marNets. $ total of ��3 
enq uiries and more than 60 applications were received since release of the revised 
program to 30 June 2011.

Contribute to the delivery of affordable housing strategies 

� Facilitated the sale of�
� 10 affordable housing lots in Johnston
� 20 house and land pacNages in %ellamacN.

With increased income thresholds more 
Territory families have the opportunity to 
buy their own home.

NT HOME OWNERSHIP
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T$%L( �� O8TP8T P(5FO50$1C( 0($685(6 

.(< '(L,9(5$%L(6 CONTEX T

New home loans The total number of new home loans funded over the 
year through +O0(6T$5T 1T.

Proportion of new 
Indigenous households 
receiving home purchase 
assistance

The proportion of total new home loans funded to 
Indigenous clients over the year. 

Fee $ssistance Loans 
granted as a percentage of 
new home ownership loans

The proportion of all new home loans funded which 
received Fee $ssistance Loans. These loans are 
available to neZ +O0(6T$5T 1T loan applicants to 
assist with conveyancing fees, deposit, stamp duty and 
whitegoods. 

9alue of neZ home 
ownership loans

The total value of new loans funded over the year. This 
includes +O0(6T$5T 1T 6tandard 9ariable Loans and 
6hared (Tuity Loans, but not Fee $ssistance Loans.

9alue of neZ shared eTuity 
loans

The total value of shared eq uity investment by 
the Northern Territory Government to assist with 
affordability. 

Loans funded to 
households with gross 
ZeeNly income� 
 � �0 to �13�� 
 � �13�� to �2020 
 � �2021 to �2��1

Measures the proportion of loans funded to households 
within each income range. This shows the mix of 
households accessing the scheme, and the impact of 
changes in eligibility criteria over time.

Loan accounts in arrears 
greater than 30 days

The percentage of loan accounts in arrears of more 
than 30 days as at 30 June 2011. This measures the 
effectiveness of arrears management processes. 

Average loan amount The average funded loan amount of 6tandard 9ariable 
Loans and 6hared (Tuity Loans granted during the 
financial year. 

Median Purchase Price The median purchase price of properties bought with 
+O0(6T$5T 1T loans during the financial year. 



49

Performance PART TWO

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

taBle 7: output performanCe analysis

Key DeliveraBles
2007-08 
aCtual

2008-09 
aCtual

2009-10 
aCtual

2010-11 
ESTIMATE

2010-11 
aCtual

2011-12 
ESTIMATE

New home loans 82 101 145 95 1061 103

Proportion of new 
Indigenous households 
receiving home purchase 
assistance

3% 4% 8% 8% 6%2 6%

Fee assistance loans 
granted as a percentage 
of new home ownership 
loans

100% 99% 99% 100% 100% 99%

value of new home 
ownership loans

$14m $21m $36m $28m3 $28M $28m

value of new shared 
equity loans

$5m $5m $8m $6m3 $6M $6m

loans funded to 
households with gross 
weekly income:4

 $0 to $1346 N/A* N/A* 59% 31%5 31% 25%

 $1347 to $2020 N/A* N/A* 40% 62% 62% 60%6

 $2021 to $2451 N/A* N/A* 1% 7%7 7% 15%

loan accounts in arrears 
greater than 30 days

1.5% 0.8% 1.4% 1.6% 1.06%8 1.8%

average loan amount ($) 172 650 205 785 241 390 269 000 254 4009 270 000

median purchase price ($) 235 500 270 000 312 000 338 000 340 00010 335 000

Explanatory Notes

*n/a – no historical data is available prior to the introduction of this measure in 2009-10.

1.  The changing housing market and increasing interest rates led to a reduction in home loan take up earlier in the 
year. Changes to eligibility limits in april 2011 increased take up in the final quarter.

2.  Due to an increase in property market values and interest rates, there are affordability constraints at the lower 
income brackets.

3.  the decrease in estimated and actual values for 2010-11 compared to 2009-10 is a result of fewer people 
accessing the scheme.

4.  property prices and interest rates influence the household income mix accessing the scheme. higher minimum 
income limits decrease the proportion of loans at the lower level, and an increase in income cap thresholds 
means more people on higher incomes are eligible for the scheme.
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�.    The minimum income reTuired increased in 0ay 2010, decreasing the percentage of loans to households in the 
lowest income category. 

�.    The income cap for loans in 200�-10 Zas �230�. The increase to �2��1 means more people at a higher income 
level are eligible and therefore the proportion of loans to households in this category is expected to decrease.

�.    The income cap in 200�-10 Zas �230�. The increase to �2��1 means more people are eligible and therefore 
the proportion of loans to households in this category is expected to rise, with full impact from 2011-12.

�.    $rrears are loZer than e[pected due to tight policy and arrears management processes, hoZever budget 
forecasts for 2011-12 remain conservative.

�.    The average loan amount Zas loZer than e[pected due to applicants having more of their oZn funds. Loan 
prices are expected to stay the same due to stabilising median property prices.

10.    Continued increases in the housing marNet through the first half of 2010-11, and access to higher purchase 
caps from $pril 2011, continued the upZard trend in median purchase price begun in previous years. +oZever, 
these prices are e[pected to plateau for the 2011-12 financial year. 
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Outcome   Access to safe, affordable and appropriate housing for all eligible 
Territorians and essential services to promote the health and wellbeing of 
Territorians living in remote areas.

URBAN PUBLIC HOUSING

Strategic objective

Provide safe and appropriate public and affordable housing to 
eligible Territorians. Provide housing and manage tenancies 
for key employees of private sector businesses and community 
organisations in regional centres where no private rental market 
exists. In collaboration with the community housing sector, 
assist in delivering crisis and supported accommodation to 
clients with high and complex needs.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
Deliver safe, secure and healthy public housing to low income households for 
the duration of their need 

� 0aMor housing infrastructure achievements highlights across the Territory include�
� completed 1�1 neZ social housing dZellings in urban areas across the Territory 

improving access of Territorians to a broader spectrum of public,  
short-term and managed accommodation services.

� $Zarded seven neZ +ousing 0aintenance Contracts during 2011-12. The improved 
public housing maintenance program will focus on improving turn-around times for 
recently vacated premises. 

� 6coping of ZorNs and planning for a Targeted 8pgrade Program completed, including�
� roof replacements in Casuarina, 'arZin, Jabiru, 1hulunbuy and Tennant CreeN
� solar hot Zater replacements and maintenance plan commencing in Palmerston 
� timber picNet fence replacements in Palmerston
� cyclical e[ternal painting in all regions
� cyclical maintenance minor repairs and painting program for seniors and 

aged units under 1� years old to ensure continued aesthetics and asset life 
expectancy

� uprgrade program installing hard-Zired smoNe alarms
� upgrading fuse bo[es and circuit boards to 5C' protection.

� 'eveloped and implemented an Operational Policy FrameZorN for the administration 
of operational housing policy across urban, remote and community living areas and 
government employee housing.

� 'eveloped and implemented a neZ performance reporting frameZorN for urban  
public housing.

� $ppointed a neZ Territory +ousing $ppeals %oard for a period of tZo years.

TERRITORY HOUSING SERVICES
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Build the capacity of the non-government sector to provide housing assistance 
to clients with special needs

� ([panded the Tenancy 6ustainability Program �T6P� throughout the Territory to 
provide intensive case management and life skills training to current and prospective 
housing clients. Eight service providers were contracted to deliver TSP to households 
in the Darwin region, K atherine, Borroloola, Tennant Creek and Alice Springs. Twenty 
TSP provider forums were held to assist in establishing networks between service 
providers, and to share experiences and resources.

� ([panded the µ$ Place to Call +ome �$PTC+�’ program to provide intensive tenancy 
support and case management to assist tenants maintain their Territory +ousing 
tenancy. $PTC+ is being delivered in the 'arZin region, .atherine and $lice 6prings.  

� (stablished neZ homelessness services and programs to assist people Zho are 
homeless or at risk of homelessness under the National Partnership Agreement on 
+omelessness.

� 5olled out an ,ntegrated :ait List combining public and community housing Zait lists 
and creating a single application and housing allocation system. 

� +ead leased properties to non-government organisations �1GOs� under the ,ndustry 
+ousing $ssistance 6cheme.

T$%L( �� O8TP8T P(5FO50$1C( 0($685(6

.(< '(L,9(5$%L(6 CONTEX T

Urban public housing 
dwellings

Total dwellings for public housing in urban areas. These 
dwellings are owned, managed and maintained by 
Territory +ousing.

Industry housing dwellings Dwellings allocated to NGOs, mainly for transitional and 
supported accommodation programs. These dwellings 
are oZned and maintained by Territory +ousing but are 
managed by NGOs.

Social housing constructed 
for NGOs

Measures the number of dwellings constructed under 
the 6ocial +ousing ,nitiative Zith oZnership vested Zith 
NGOs.

Urban public housing 
occupancy rate

Measures the proportion of urban public housing stock 
occupied by tenants.

Urban public housing 
dwellings inspected within 
the last six months

Measures the effectiveness of tenancy and dwelling 
management processes. Regular inspections enable 
timely identification of maintenance issues and tenant 
damage, which may result in improved tenancy 
sustainability and extend the life of dwellings.
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Continued

Key DeliveraBles CONTExT

Average number of days to 
occupy vacant stock

measures the efficiency of processes to manage tenant 
turnover and carry out routine repairs and maintenance 
works during vacancies. vacancies attributed to major 
upgrade or significant maintenance works are excluded.

New households assisted 
in urban public housing 
- allocations to approved 
priority applicants

Measures the assistance provided to households 
entering the public housing system (excludes transfers), 
and the proportion of priority housing applicants housed 
during the year.

New households assisted 
through Bond Assistance 
Scheme

Bond assistance is provided in the form of interest-free 
loans to eligible applicants. Performance is measured 
through the number of households that receive this 
assistance throughout the year.

households supported 
to maintain a successful 
tenancy through tenancy 
sustainability programs

The TSP provides case management support and life 
skills to clients to improve their ability to meet tenancy 
obligations. Performance is measured by the number of 
households supported through the program during the 
year. 

Managed accommodation 
beds provided

Measures the bed capacity of facilities provided 
by territory housing for managed and supported 
accommodation programs that are generally managed 
by NGOs.
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T$%L( �� O8TP8T P(5FO50$1C( $1$L<6,6

.(< '(L,9(5$%L(6
200�-0� 
$CT8$L

200�-0� 
$CT8$L

200�-10 
$CT8$L

2010-11 
ESTIMATE

2010-11 
$CT8$L

2011-12 
ESTIMATE

Urban social housing stock 

public housing dwellings � 2�� � 22� � 0�� � 1�� 5 0521 � 23�

industry housing dwellings 31� 3�0 3�2 �2� 4462 �2�

Social housing constructed 
for non-government 
organisations

N/ A*  N/ A*    N/ A*  �� 75 0

Urban public housing 
occupancy rate 

��� ��� ��� ��� 97% ���

Urban public housing 
dwellings inspected within 
the last six months

N/ A*  N/ A* N/ A* ��� 59%3 ���

Average number of days to 
occupy vacant stock

�� �� 100 21 594 21

New households assisted in 
urban public housing

�20 ��� ��� �2� 4695 ���

allocations to approved 
priority applicants 

 N/ A* N/ A*  N/ A* �2� 42%6 ���

New households assisted 
through Bond Assistance 
Scheme 

302 2�3 20� 222 2477 220

+ouseholds supported 
to maintain a successful 
tenancy through tenancy 
sustainability programs

 N/ A* N/ A*  N/ A* 32� 346 3�0

Managed accommodation 
beds provided

N/ A*  N/ A*  N/ A* ��� 5968 �2�

Explanatory Notes

* N/ A –  No historical data is available prior to the introduction of this measure in 2010-11.

1.  9ariations are e[plained by minor delays in the completion of construction proMects as a result of significant Zet 
season events and an error in the original estimate figure.

2.   The increase in industry housing stocN reÀects government’s commitment to build capacity in the community 
housing sector by leasing public housing dwellings to NGOs and providing increased supported housing for 
vulnerable households.

3.  Inspections were also scheduled for a further 3 per cent of dwellings, but were incomplete as at 30 June 2011 
as tenants failed to keep the appointment. The agency utilises processes under the Residential Tenancies Act to 
arrange access for inspections where tenants fail to attend.
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4.  turnaround time for vacant stock is lower then previous years, however remains higher then the target of  
21 days. 

5.  lower than anticipated new households assisted is due to reducing vacancy rates, construction delays and the 
movement of stock to industry housing or managed and supported accommodation. Performance is consistent 
with previous years.  

6.  reflects households that completed the full priority housing application and approval process. a further 12 per 
cent of new households were housed urgently due to identified emergency situations, high needs and priority 
circumstances.

7.  in response to increased rental prices since the introduction of the program, eligibility for the Bond assistance 
Scheme has been expanded. 

8.  the estimate was exceeded as some construction projects were completed earlier than expected.
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REMOTE INDIGENOUS HOUSING

Strategic objective

Provide and manage public housing to ensure Territorians in 
remote areas and town camps have access to safe, healthy, 
sustainable and affordable housing, including appropriate 
tenancy management and maintenance. Meet the needs of 
Indigenous and remote communities by providing new and 
upgraded housing and related infrastructure. Provide strategic 
planning and policy advice, including community engagement, 
to support the implementation of the 5emote Public +ousing 
Management Framework.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
Improve access to public housing assistance and support in Indigenous 
communities and town camps

� Constructed 2�� neZ houses, and 12�� refurbishments and rebuilds in a number 
of remote Indigenous communities and community living areas across the Northern 
Territory were completed in 2010-11, under the National Partnership Agreement on 
5emote ,ndigenous +ousing �1P$ 5,+� Zhich incorporates 6trategic ,ndigenous 
+ousing and ,nfrastructure �6,+,P�.

� ,mplementated a 5emote 5ent FrameZorN, introduced progressively and in line Zith 
improvements �construction, refurbishment and rebuild completions� under 1P$ 5,+.

� (stablished 6ervice Level $greements Zith shire councils and other organisations to 
facilitate standardised public property and tenancy management services in remote 
locations.

� ,ntroduced the Territory +ousing $ppeals 0echanism in remote communities and 
community living areas subMect to the 5emote +ousing 0anagement FrameZorN.

%ernard Tipiloura and partner Lynette 
Johnson with children Ruth and Agnetha in 
their neZ home in 1arrumiyanga �1guiu�.
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Explore opportunities for increasing Indigenous home ownership

• identified options for home ownership on aboriginal land with key stakeholders within 
the framework of the Aboriginal Land Rights Act (northern territory) 1976 (Cth) 
section 19 and 19a land tenure arrangements

taBle 10: output performanCe measures

Key DeliveraBles CONTExT

Remote public housing 
dwellings

Dwellings allocated for public housing in remote areas. 
This includes dwellings owned or managed by Territory 
housing. it also includes outstation dwellings not owned 
by territory housing for which territory housing provides 
Management, and Repair and Maintenance funding.

Town camp housing 
dwellings

Measures the total number of town camp dwellings 
owned, managed and/or funded by territory housing. 

Refurbished and rebuilt 
dwellings

Total number of dwellings rebuilt/refurbished under the 
National Partnership Agreement for Remote Indigenous 
housing over the year. these are included in the 
number of remote and town camp dwellings.

New dwellings Measures the total number of dwellings constructed 
under the National Partnership Agreement for Remote 
indigenous housing during the year. 

Community housing 
reference groups 
established

the total number of housing reference groups 
established under the National Partnership Agreement 
for remote indigenous housing to provide local input 
into decisions about housing in the community.

Communities receiving 
repairs and maintenance 
services

The total number of remote communities receiving 
repairs and maintenance services through Territory 
housing or contracted providers.

Indigenous employment  
on sihip projects

Measures the effectiveness of the program’s Indigenous 
employment strategy. The proportion of full-time 
equivalent staff employed on sihip projects since the 
commencement of the program, who are Indigenous.

Indigenous employment  
in Tenancy Management

The proportion of employees providing tenancy 
management and property management services,  
who are Indigenous.
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T$%L( 11� O8TP8T P(5FO50$1C( $1$L<6,6

.(< '(L,9(5$%L(6
200�-0� 
$CT8$L

200�-0� 
$CT8$L

200�-10 
$CT8$L

2010-11 
ESTIMATE

2010-11 
$CT8$L

2011-12 
ESTIMATE

Remote public housing 
dwellings1

N/ A* � 2�� � 3�02 � ��� 5 482 � �2�

Town camp housing 
dwellings1

N/ A* N/ A* 3�02 �22 4803 621

Refurbished and rebuilt 
dwellings

N/ A* N/ A* 3�� 1 030 1 2484 1 1��

New dwellings N/ A* N/ A* �� 2�0 257 3�0

Community housing 
reference groups established

N/ A* 2� �� �0 775 �0

Communities receiving 
repairs and maintenance 
services6

N/ A* �3 �� �� 98 ��

Indigenous employment on 
6,+,P proMects

N/ A* N/ A* 3�� 20% 34% 20%

Indigenous employment in 
Tenancy Management

N/ A* N/ A* N/ A* �0� 50% �0�

Explanatory Notes

* N/ A –  No historical data is available prior to the introduction of this measure.

1. $nticipated dZelling numbers are subMect to change Zhen communities are scoped for construction. 

2.  200�-10 figures included �3 remote communities, $lice 6prings toZn camps and Tennant CreeN urban living 
areas �toZn camps�.

3.  This figure includes dZellings from $lice 6prings, Tennant CreeN and %orroloola ToZn Camps. The variance is 
due to construction programs underway but incomplete as at 30 June 2011.

�.  $ total of 12�� dZellings have been rebuilt�refurbished under the 1ational Partnership $greement on 5emote 
,ndigenous +ousing, e[ceeding program targets.

�. The �� +ousing 5eference Groups counted serve �2 communities.

�.  This includes �3 communities and 2� toZn camps and community living areas in $lice 6prings and  
Tennant Creek.
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gOvERNMENt EMPLOyEE hOUSiNg

Strategic objective

Provide housing and manage tenancies for eligible employees 
of Northern Territory Government agencies.

KEy AChiEvEMENtS
Maximise core government services through housing availability

• Completed 68 new government employee housing dwellings in remote areas across 
the Territory.

• Completed upgrades on 42 government employee housing dwellings across the 
Territory.

taBle 12: output performanCe measures

Key DeliveraBles CONTExT

Dwellings in urban 
localities

Dwellings owned by territory housing and allocated 
for government employee housing in urban and 
regional areas, including locations such as Darwin, 
Casuarina, Palmerston, Katherine, Tennant Creek and 
alice springs. government employee housing supports 
priority service delivery in these locations. 

Dwellings in remote 
localities

Dwellings owned by territory housing and allocated for 
eligible government employees delivering services in 
remote communities. 

Private head leasing 
arrangements

Total number of head leased dwellings for government 
employee housing in place at the end of June 2011. 
These arrangements enable accommodation of 
employees delivering core services in communities 
where there is no, or a limited, private rental market.
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T$%L( 13� O8TP8T P(5FO50$1C( $1$L<6,6

.(< '(L,9(5$%L(6
200�-0� 
$CT8$L

200�-0� 
$CT8$L

200�-10 
$CT8$L

2010-11 
ESTIMATE

2010-11 
$CT8$L

2011-12 
ESTIMATE

Dwellings in urban localities  2�3  2��  2�3  2�2  290  2�2

Dwellings in remote 
localities1

 ��1  �03  �3� 1 02� 1 038 1 060

Private head leasing 
arrangements

 �0�  ��0  ��1  ��2  6132  ��2

Explanatory Notes

1.  The number of Government (mployee +ousing dZellings in remote communities continues to increase due 
to new construction. Dwellings to be constructed in 2011-12 will be funded under the Government Employee 
+ousing 1eZ Construction, Closing the Gap, Office for $boriginal and Torres 6trait ,slander +ealth �O$T6,+�  
and Additional Teachers programs.

2.  There has been an increase in demand for private head leasing arrangements, predominantly from the 
'epartment of +ealth in Central $ustralia, in order to attract and retain staff to the region.
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iNdigENOUS ESSENtiAL SERviCES

Strategic objective

Coordinate funding and provide strategic planning and policy 
advice for the delivery of electricity, water and sewerage to 
remote Indigenous communities through the contracted service 
provider, the Power and Water Corporation.

KEy AChiEvEMENtS

Improving essential services in remote Indigenous communities

• increased customer satisfaction with services.
• Commenced and completed upgrades to water storage, power stations, drainage and 

sewerage in remote Indigenous communities across the Territory including Warruwi, 
Barunga and Palumpa.

taBle 14: output performanCe measures

Key DeliveraBles CONTExT

Services purchased for 
remote localities

Total annual cost of purchasing electricity, water and 
sewerage services for remote Indigenous communities 
through the Power and Water Corporation.

Customer satisfaction with 
services

measures effectiveness and efficiency of services 
provided by the Power and Water Corporation, through 
annual customer satisfaction surveys conducted in 
remote Indigenous communities.

Indigenous Essential 
service officers (esos) 
employment

Measures the effectiveness of strategies to deliver 
Indigenous employment opportunities in remote 
communities by the proportion of full-time equivalent 
ESOs who are Indigenous as at 30 June 2011.

esos with Certificate  
II or III 

Measures the effectiveness of strategies to promote a 
skilled workforce in remote areas through the proportion 
of total ESOs working in remote locations who had a 
Certificate ii or iii (nationally accredited qualifications)  
at the end of June 2011. 
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T$%L( 1�� O8TP8T P(5FO50$1C( $1$L<6,6

.(< '(L,9(5$%L(6
200�-0� 
$CT8$L

200�-0� 
$CT8$L

200�-10 
$CT8$L

2010-11 
ESTIMATE

2010-11 
$CT8$L

2011-12 
ESTIMATE

Services purchased for 
remote localities

���.30 �110.30 ��0.�0 ��1.�0 $89.5M1 ��0.�0

Customer satisfaction 
with services 

�2� ��� ��� ��� 82%2 ���

Indigenous ESO 
employment

N/ A*  N/ A*   N/ A*   3�� 37% �0�

(6Os Zith Certificate  
II or III 

N/ A*  N/ A*   N/ A*   �0� 41%3 ���

Explanatory Notes

* N/ A –  No historical data is available prior to the introduction of this measure in 2010-11.

1. �1�.�0 budgeted for 2011-12 Zas brought forZard to accelerate the :adeye gas-fired poZer station proMect. 

2.  Customer satisfaction surveys from remote ,ndigenous communities, Zhere fair is rated �0 per cent, good �� per 
cent and very good 100 per cent. Results for 2010-11 exceeded the target, which is aligned to the Agreement for 
Provision of Essential Services to Nominated Indigenous Communities 2010-2013.

3.  ,n early 2011, it Zas identified that performance against this neZ indicator Zas loZer than e[pected. ,n response, 
the Power and Water Corporation has commenced a strategic program targeting ESO training Territory wide.



63

Performance PART TWO

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

TERRITORY HOUSING SERVICES  
CAPITAL WORKS PROGRAM 

T$%L( 1�� C$P,T$L :O5.6 P5OG5$0

P5OG5$0 �,1CL.5(9OT(� �000

5(9,6(' 
PROGRAM  

�000

2010-11 $CT8$L 
EX PENDITURE 

�000

TOTAL HOUSING & INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM 612 517 485 034

PUBLIC HOUSING 80 726 67 215

Minor New Works 20 ��� 20 ���
Construct general purpose housing ��� �2�
Larapinta 6eniors 9illage � ��� 1 ���
Redevelop unit complexes � 2�0 1 2��
%ellamacN 6eniors 9illage 11 0�3 � 32�
Stimulus –  Stage 1 1 ��� 1 ���
Stimulus –  Stage 2 33 3�2 32 10�
$ Place to Call +ome 2 ��� 66

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE HOUSING 63 400 30 153

Minor New Works 3 ��� 3 ���
Construct new housing � 00� 2 0�0
Replace existing housing 1 �0� ��0
Upgrade existing housing � 00� � 20�
Additional teacher housing 10 �1� 3 ��3
$dditional teacher housing �,CFC� 2 2
Closing the Gap 10 102 � �2�
Closing the Gap –  additional teacher housing 3 �1� 2 �2�
Land servicing � ��1 2 ���
O$T6,+ ± construct neZ housing � �1� 2 663
Gove 'istrict +ospital ± construct � neZ units 3 �00 3��

INDIGENOUS HOUSING AND INFRASTRUCTURE 461 254 380 726

OTHER 7 137 6 940

Minor New Works ��� ���
Program delivery 3 ��� 3 ���
Co-location of Territory +ousing to 5CG Centre 2 �0� 2 ���
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Outcome  Stronger regions and communities.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT

Strategic objective

Develop the strength and capacity of shire and municipal 
councils to provide legitimate representation, effective 
governance, improved service delivery and sustainable 
development.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
Strengthen local government capacity

� Completed a revieZ of elected member alloZances and introduced neZ guidelines for 
the structure and process for setting elected member allowances.

� Completed a revieZ into the current effectiveness of Local %oards in the delivery of 
local government in shire councils. Recommendations are currently being examined, 
and implementation of neZ initiatives Zill be the subMect of further consultation Zith 
key stakeholders.

� Completed an assessment and revieZ into current governance capacity and support 
structures within shire councils. Recommendations are currently being examined, and 
implementation of neZ initiatives Zill be the subMect of further consultation Zith Ney 
stakeholders. 

� ,n conMunction Zith the $ustralian Government, funded and participated in the µ<ear of 
:omen in Local Government’ in 2010, through� 

� 6upporting promotional material and programs delivered by the Local 
Government $ssociation of the 1orthern Territory �LG$1T� encouraging Zomen 
to participate in local government.

� 6ponsoring of a <ear of :omen in Local Government event in $lice 6prings in 
November 2010, that invited women within local government across the Territory 
to a dinner and conference, including national guest speakers and entertainers. 

� Funded the third phase of LG$1T’s (merging Leaders Program, providing 
governance training to elected members across shire councils. This allowed continued 
support and training for the µtrain the trainer’ type model Zhich had 1� participants 
throughout 2010-11. 

� ,n partnership Zith LG$1T, developed and substantially implemented the Council 
Asset Management and Financial Planning Implementation Plan. Initiatives include the 
offer of training to relevant council staff including a course tailored to remote councils 
and opportunities for professional development sessions for elected members.

 LOCAL GOVERNMENT, REGIONAL  
AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 
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taBle 17: output performanCe measures

Key DeliveraBles CONTExT

Number of full-time 
jobs generated through 
the Shire Indigenous 
Employment Package

Measures the number of Indigenous positions managed 
under the Shire Indigenous Employment Package 
including new positions created under the National  
Job Creation Package and the Community Development 
employment projects, Conversion to real Jobs 
initiative.

local government grants Measures the value of grants paid to Northern Territory 
local governments to deliver core services.

Municipal and essential 
services grants for 
homelands and outstations

Measures the value of grants paid to Northern Territory 
shire and municipal governments for essential and 
municipal services to outstations/homelands and other 
indigenous living areas.

local government key 
stakeholder forums 
working towards 
strengthening shire 
governance and service 
delivery

The total number of regional shire forums and local 
government statutory committee meetings held during 
the year. 
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T$%L( 1�� O8TP8T P(5FO50$1C( $1$L<6,6

.(< '(L,9(5$%L(6
200�-0� 
$CT8$L

200�-0� 
$CT8$L

200�-10 
$CT8$L

2010-11 
ESTIMATE

2010-11 
$CT8$L

2011-12 
ESTIMATE

Number of full-time 
Mobs generated through 
the Shires Indigenous 
Employment Package1

N/ A*  N/ A* N/ A* N/ A*  N/A* �30

Local Government 
Grants

N/ A* ��0.�30 ���.��0 ���.30 $57.9M2 ���.�0

Municipal and essential 
services grants for 
homelands and 
outstations3

N/ A* N/ A* N/ A* �1�.10 $16.5M4 �21.�0

Local government Ney 
stakeholder forums 
working towards 
strengthening shire 
governance and 
service delivery�

N/ A* N/ A* N/ A* 12 12 12

Explanatory Notes

* N/ A –  No historical data is available prior to the introduction of new measures.

1. This is a new program to commence in 2011-12.

2.  This figure includes an increase of �1.�0 in General Purpose and 5oad Grants under the Local Government 
(Financial Assistance) Act 1995 due to indexation to the Consumer Price Index. 

3.  From July 200�, the 1T Government assumed delivery responsibility for essential and municipal services to 
outstations�homelands and other ,ndigenous Living $reas, including �13 outstations, 3� toZn camps, 2� minor 
and � maMor communities. The $ustralian Government committed funds to provide for service delivery in those 
town camps and outstations historically funded by the Australian Government for the four years ending  
June 2012.

�.  This figure reÀects �2.�0 in une[pended grants funds from the total pool in 2010-11. The annual grant pool for 
municipal and essential services will remain at similar levels in 2011-12.

�.  5egional shire forums Zere held in 'arZin as folloZs�

 � 31 $ugust 2010

 � 10 'ecember 2010

 � � $pril 2011

0eetings of the $dministration and Legislation $dvisory Committee �$L$C� and the Local Government  
$ccounting $dvisory Committee �LG$$C� Zere held throughout the year in 'arZin in accordance Zith the  
Local Government Act.
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REgiONAL dEvELOPMENt 

Strategic objective

Work in partnership with business, industry and communities  
to support activities that stimulate sustainable economic growth 
and wealth creation in all regions of the Territory.

KEy AChiEvEMENtS
Build regional economies through enterprise development, job creation and 
infrastructure investment

• provided indigenous Business Development grants to 26 businesses across the 
northern territory. see appendices, grant programs, for recipients and projects 
funded in 2010-11.

• provided 12 regional economic Development fund grants to stimulate economic 
growth in major regional centres. see appendices, grant programs, for recipients and 
projects funded in 2010-11.

• strengthened and supported the development of indigenous business enterprises 
operating in remote Indigenous communities and community living areas through 
opportunities created in manufacturing, supplies and labour in npa rih activity.

• employed more than 1100 indigenous people since the commencement of works 
under the npa rih across the territory.
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Indigenous businesses 
and organisations assisted 
under the Indigenous 
Business Development 
Program �,%'P�

The total number of Indigenous businesses and 
organisations that have been assisted under the IBDP. 
The IBDP is an application-based assistance program 
that provides financial assistance to ,ndigenous 
businesses and organisations to support business 
development activity.

Regional Indigenous 
businesses and 
organisations assisted 
under the Regional 
Economic Development 
Fund �5('F�

The total number of businesses and organisations 
that have been assisted under the REDF. The REDF 
is an application-based assistance program aimed at 
increasing the capability to deliver positive regional 
economic development outcomes for Indigenous 
businesses.

Future Forums held in 
Territory Growth Towns 
to promote economic and 
employment opportunities

The total number of forums the agency has delivered 
to the communities involved in the Territory Growth 
Towns initiative. The forums identify and promote future 
business and employment opportunities for people living 
in the Territory Growth Towns.
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taBle 20: output performanCe analysis

Key DeliveraBles
2007-08 
aCtual

2008-09 
aCtual

2009-10 
aCtual

2010-11 
ESTIMATE

2010-11 
aCtual

2011-12 
ESTIMATE

Indigenous businesses 
and organisations 
assisted under the 
Indigenous Business 
Development Program

 N/A* N/A* 39  251 26  362

Regional Indigenous 
businesses and 
organisations 
assisted under the 
Regional Economic 
Development Fund

N/A* N/A* 11 12 12 12

Future Forums held in 
Territory Growth Towns 
to promote economic 
and employment 
opportunities

 N/A* N/A*  N/A*  4  23  15

Explanatory Notes

*N/A – No historical data is available prior to the introduction of this measure.

1.  There has been a strong focus on remote opportunities in 2010-11, and some applications are still in the process 
of being developed.

2.  There is additional external funding available in 2011-12 and four new Indigenous Economic Development 
officers based in regions.

3.  Future Forums are community driven and decisions on when to hold or change dates are made by the 
community. future forums were held at ngukurr (20 august 2010) and ntaria (19-20 may 2011). there is a 
commitment to deliver the final forums in 2011-12. 
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INTERPRETER AND TRANSLATOR SERVICES

Strategic objective

Provide interpreter and translator services to alleviate language 
barriers for Territorians with English as their second language  
to enable fair and eq uitable access to government and  
non-government services.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
Provide interpreting and translating services to improve access to services for 
all Territorians

Aboriginal Interpreter Service

� The $boriginal ,nterpreter 6ervice �$,6� continued to provide $boriginal language 
interpreting services across the 1T and in Murisdictions across the border. 5eTuests 
were mainly in the areas of legal, health and welfare, with other key clients being 
$ustralian Government agencies� CentrelinN and 'epartment of Families, +ousing, 
Community 6ervices and ,ndigenous $ffairs assisting Zith the delivery of maMor 
community consultations throughout the Territory.

� The Community Liaison and 'evelopment Officer �CL'O� Program for remote 
$boriginal interpreters continued Zith the folloZing significant achievements�

� neZ offices established in Gunbalanya and :urrumiyanga �1guiu�
� recruitment and employment of ten CL'Os in remote communities
� tZo ,nterpreter 6upport and 'evelopment Officers
� a total of fourteen full-time eTuivalent community-based interpreters �in remote 

communities�, Zith most being contracted part-time, Zhich eTuates to  
30 individuals employed with AIS over the course of the year. 

� ,n 2010-11, the number of interpreters increased to �0�, maintaining the status of $,6 
as one of the largest employers of Aboriginal people in Australia.

AIS employees at opening of AIS branch in Wadeye 2010.
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Interpreter and Translating Service Northern Territory

• interpreter bookings for languages other than english and aboriginal languages 
through the interpreting and translating service nt (itsnt) increased in 2010-11 by 
19 per cent. requests were mainly in the areas of health, legal, welfare, settlement 
and education.

taBle 21: output performanCe measures

Key DeliveraBles CONTExT

abOriginal interPreter services (ais)

Bookings received for 
interpreting services

The total number of bookings for Aboriginal interpreter 
services. 

Confirmed bookings 
attended

The total number of Aboriginal interpreter services 
delivered.

Registered interpreters The total number of Aboriginal interpreters registered 
with AIS at 30 June. Interpreters are employed on a 
casual basis and engaged for interpreting jobs on a 
needs basis.

Community-based 
interpreters

The total number of full-time equivalent community-
based interpreters. Interpreters employed on a full-time 
or part-time temporary basis and are based in various 
urban, regional and remote  
community locations.

NAATI accredited 
interpreters

The total number of interpreters who achieved 
accreditation over the year through the National 
Accreditation Authority for Translators and Interpreters 
(naati) and/or the Diploma of interpreting for aboriginal 
Interpreters from the Batchelor Institute of Indigenous 
tertiary education (Biite).

Aboriginal interpreter 
training completion rate

The total number of Aboriginal participants who have 
completed interpreter training delivered by AIS Trainers.
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Continued

.(< '(L,9(5$%L(6 CONTEX T

INTERPRETER AND TRANSLATOR SERVICES NT (ITSNT)

Bookings received for 
interpreting services

The total number of bookings received for interpreting 
services. 

Bookings received for 
translating services

The total number of bookings received for translator 
services.

Registered interpreters The total number of interpreters registered with ITSNT 
at 30 June.

Registered translators The total number of translators registered with ITSNT  
at 30 June.

NAATI accredited or 
recognised interpreters 
and translators

The total number of interpreters and translators who 
hold accreditation or recognition through the NAATI.

Languages covered The total number of languages ITSNT has available 
locally for interpreting �oral� or translations �Zritten�. 
Languages not available in the 1orthern Territory are 
sourced through interstate suppliers.
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taBle 22: output performanCe analysis

Key DeliveraBles
2007-08 
aCtual

2008-09 
aCtual

2009-10 
aCtual

2010-11 
ESTIMATE

2010-11 
aCtual

2011-12 
ESTIMATE

abOriginal interPreter services

Bookings received for 
interpreting services1

3 945 6 452 6 124 6 800 7 080 7 000

Confirmed bookings 
attended

77% 93% 91% 93% 91% 95%

Registered 
interpreters2

266 326 382 350 409 400

Community-based 
interpreters3

N/A* N/A* N/A* 16 14 27

NAATI accredited 
interpreters4

N/A* N/A* N/A* 11 15 15

Aboriginal interpreter 
training completion rate

70% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90%

interPreting and translating service nt

Bookings received for 
interpreting services

4 842 4 585 5 361 4 165 6 3885 5 000

Bookings received for 
translating services

881 979 1 045 800 1 0756 900

Registered interpreters 125 127 156 180 1857 200

Registered translators 57 59 120 80 848 90

NAATI accredited or 
recognised interpreters 
and translators9

N/A* N/A* N/A* 70 84 7510

languages covered 48 49 56 60 6211 65

Explanatory Notes

*N/A – No historical data is available prior to the introduction of this measure in 2020-11.

1.   the methodology for measuring booking requests changed in 2010-11. it now reflects the time commitment 
involved when an interpreter is booked for a number of consecutive days. For example, weekly duty rosters  
at hospitals, court or Centrelink, previously counted as 1 request, are now calculated at an average rate of  
2.5 requests to be consistent with counting of other part or full day job requests. 

2.  estimates are based on current staffing information.

3.    as at 30 June 2011, there were 14 full-time equivalent community-based interpreters employed with ais. 
Commencement of additional staff was delayed until July 2011. 
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�.    The 2010-11 %udget figure Zas revised doZn as a result of the cancellation of accreditation training due to 
restricted access casued by tropical Zeather conditions, hoZever the initial target of 1� neZ accreditations Zas 
met. At the end of 2010-11, there were 66 accredited interpreters. 

�.    ,nterpreter demand Zas e[pected to decline but instead maintained its upZard trend, and Zas unusually high 
in 2010-11 due to refugee and asylum seeker req uirements in legal and health areas. The use of telephone 
interpreter services played a significant bacN-up role Zhen ,T61T Zas unable to meet face-to-face reTuests. 
This demand is expected to continue in health and legal areas, especially for emerging languages. 

�.    Trends at the time that the %udget for 2010-11 Zas revised suggested a decrease in demand. +oZever, there 
was an unanticipated increase in translation req uests from both individuals and agencies, and this is predicted 
to continue in 2011-12.

�.    $n active annual recruitment drive has generated a moderate increase in interpreter numbers especially in 
new and emerging languages resulting from recent refugee and asylum seeker arrivals. This has resulted in 
an overall increase despite some loss in numbers due to natural attrition. Ongoing recruitment and training of 
new interpreters is a means of replenishing numbers for long-term languages and setting up a pool for new and 
emerging languages.

�.    $dditional translators Zere sourced interstate as neZ language or bacN-up practitioners, or to cater for 
language req uests not able to be met by local translators.

�.    There is an annual accreditation drive to enhance credibility and professionalism through accreditation Zith the 
NAATI. This is undertaken by the unit, with a corresponding budget allocation for this purpose. 

10.   The ongoing push for accreditation is likely to result in a modest increase in the number of accredited 
practitioners. +oZever, given the degree of difficulty and the high percentage of failure among test candidates 
across Australia, the Northern Territory does not predict a high number of candidates passing these national 
e[ams on first or second attempt.

11.   The expanded language pool catered for new and emerging languages for migrant and humanitarian arrivals. 
Additional language req uirements are dictated by the new languages introduced through the migrant and 
humanitarian intake.
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wAtER SAFEty ANd ANiMAL wELFARE 

Strategic objective

Promote safer communities through the Water Safety Strategy 
and administration of the Swimming Pool Safety Act and the 
Animal Welfare Act.

KEy AChiEvEMENtS
Support water safety and animal welfare education and ensure legislative 
compliance

• 530 new properties were inspected for pool or spa safety advice in 2010-11.
• 1000 certificates of compliance were issued against modified australian standards in 

2010-11.
• 1100 territorians under the age of five participated in the Water safety awareness 

Program in 2010-11 funded by the Northern Territory Government. 
• Delivered public education activities and events, including World animal Day, pets 

Day Out, Animal Welfare Awareness Week and Water Safety Week.
• in response to the ombudsman’s report into animal Welfare in mataranka, the 

agency has strengthened its animal welfare investigative capacity through the: 
• expansion of the animal Welfare unit and acquiring access to experienced 

investigators
• establishment of more appropriate and job-specific training for animal welfare 

inspectors
• a review of the Animal Welfare Act.
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ANIMAL WELFARE

Complaints responded to 
within 3 days

0easures the efficiency of responding to complaints 
received by Animal Welfare. 

Funds granted The total value of grants paid to recipients for the Animal 
Welfare Fund.

WATER SAFETY

(nrolments in the 8nder � 
Water Safety Awareness 
Program

The total number of children enrolled in the 8nder � 
Water Safety Awareness Program over the year.

8nder � :ater 6afety 
Awareness Program 
completion rate

Measures the proportion of participants who have 
completed the 8nder � :ater 6afety $Zareness 
Program by the end of the financial year.

New pool fence inspections 
conducted within 3 weeks 
of application

0easures the efficiency of inspections completed on 
new fences. 
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taBle 24: output performanCe analysis

Key DeliveraBles
2007-08 
aCtual

2008-09 
aCtual

2009-10 
aCtual

2010-11 
ESTIMATE

2010-11 
aCtual

2011-12 
ESTIMATE

animal Welfare

Complaints responded 
to within 3 days

100% 99% 95.2% 90% 94% 90%

Funds granted N/A* N/A* N/A* $0.2m $0.2M $0.2m

Water safey

Enrolments in the 
under 5 Water safety 
Awareness Program

863 1 101 1 100 1 100 1 100 1 100

under 5 Water safety 
Awareness Program 
completion rate

61% >100% 88% 80% 80% 80%

New pool fence 
inspections conducted 
within 3 weeks of 
application

57% 70% 90% 70% 80% 70%

Explanatory Notes

* N/A – No historical data is available prior to the introduction of this measure in 2010-11. 
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Outcome  Improved social wellbeing and living conditions for Indigenous Territorians, 
especially those living in remote communities. 

Strategic objective

Work with Northern Territory, Australian and local government 
agencies and Indigenous people to provide strategic 
policy and advice on Indigenous affairs from a whole of 
government perspective. Improve the outcomes for residents 
of remote areas of the Territory through the delivery of 
Working Future initiatives. Secure land tenure to establish 
and maintain government infrastructure and support private 
sector development on Aboriginal land. Coordinate whole of 
government reporting and monitor outcomes of the nationally 
agreed Closing the Gap targets.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
Lead whole of government implementation of the Working Future policy, 
in partnership with other relevant stakeholders and coordinate whole of 
government Indigenous policy

� Provided and coordinated of policy advice across a range of issues including the 
development and support of the Northern Territory Government’s Working  
Future policy. 

� Finalised 13 Local ,mplementation Plans for Territory GroZth ToZns under the 
1ational Partnership $greement on 5emote 6ervice 'elivery �1P$ 56'�. Local 
Implementation Plans for the remaining two NPA RSD sites are nearing completion. 
Local ,mplementation Plans are also a priority of the :orNing Future policy. 

� 'rafted Local ,mplementation Plans for Territory GroZth ToZns identified as part of the 
Working Future policy, but not included within the NPA RSD.

� ([ecuted long-term leases over remote public housing in nine communities. These 
tenure arrangements are critical to supporting new housing investment under  
1P$ 5,+.

� Completed %aseline 'ata 0apping for 1� Territory GroZth ToZns. This includes the 
preparation of detailed community profiling that alloZs for more strategic planning and 
monitoring of government services at community and regional levels. 

� Completed a comprehensive gap analysis of roads in and around Territory GroZth 
Towns, including costing capital upgrade options. A funding submission for road 
upgrades has been made to the Australian Government. 

� Commenced the $ssessment of Governance and Community (ngagement research 
proMect Zith a vieZ to identifying future strategies to assess and improve governance 
and community engagement across the 1� 1P$ 56' priority communities in the 
Northern Territory.  

INDIGENOUS POLICY AND SERVICE 
DELIVERY COORDINATION
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red flag dancers performing at the signing ceremony 
for the numbulwar local implementation plan.

Coordinate whole of government monitoring and reporting on progress towards 
achieving nationally agreed Closing the Gap targets.

• participated in working groups and national and cross-jurisdictional forums including:
• ministerial Council for aboriginal and torres strait islander affairs
• national indigenous reform agreement working groups
• Working group on indigenous reform
• overarching Bilateral indigenous plan governance committee.

• finalised key agreements including:
• variation of the Closing the gap national partnership agreement to include 

greater emphasis on community engagement and partnerships, and building 
capability and leadership within Indigenous communities.

• inclusion of a further schedule to the national indigenous reform agreement on 
food security.

• Drafted schedules to the overarching Bilateral implementation plan, addressing 
data quality and urban and regional service delivery, and outlining strategies 
within these areas to support the National Indigenous Reform Agreement 
building blocks and meet Closing the Gap targets.
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Closing the Gap targets 
reporting

The total number of reports on progress against the 
Closing the Gap on Indigenous Disadvantage targets. 
All Australian governments have agreed to targets set 
out in the National Indigenous Reform Agreement, which 
are reported on annually by the Council of Australian 
Governments �CO$G�. 

Local ,mplementation 
Plans for Territory Growth 
Towns 

The total number of Local ,mplementation Plans that have 
been signed by all parties. Local ,mplementation Plans 
are developed with local communities in Territory Growth 
Towns to determine priorities and timelines for action as 
part of the NPA RSD and the Working Future policy.

Remote towns where 
Aboriginal land tenure  
is secured

The total number of Territory Growth Towns located on 
or near Aboriginal land where the Northern Territory 
Government has secure tenure ( including through long-
term leases� over all or some of the $boriginal land on 
which Territory Government infrastructure ( excluding 
remote public housing� is located. Land tenure is reTuired 
to establish and maintain government infrastructure and 
support private sector development on Aboriginal land.

Communities covered 
under Territory 
Government housing 
leases

The total number of communities on Aboriginal land 
where the Territory Government has long-term remote 
public housing leases. Long-term leases are reTuired to 
underpin significant neZ investment via the 1P$ 5,+.
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taBle 26: output performanCe analysis

Key DeliveraBles
2007-08 
aCtual

2008-09 
aCtual

2009-10 
aCtual

2010-11 
ESTIMATE

2010-11 
aCtual

2011-12 
ESTIMATE

Closing the Gap 
targets reporting

N/A* N/A* N/A* 6 6 6

local implementation 
Plans for Territory 
Growth Towns 

N/A* N/A* N/A*  15 131  21

Remote towns where 
Aboriginal land tenure 
is secured

N/A* N/A* N/A*  16 22  21

Communities covered 
under Territory 
Government housing 
leases

N/A* N/A* 10  16 133  16

Explanatory Notes

*N/A – No historical data is available prior to the introduction of this measure.

1.  Protracted stakeholder negotiations have delayed signings, however it is anticipated that formal signings of the 
remaining eight local implementation plans will occur in 2011-12.

2.  The Australian Government has carriage of negotiating whole-of-township leases. The Northern Territory 
government secures tenure for its infrastructure via section 19 leases directly with land councils or via sub-lease 
with the Commonwealth executive Director, township leasing. 

 3.  a remote public housing lease is currently being executed in numbulwar and leases in yirrkala, yuendumu and 
Borroloola town camps are still under negotiation. Although not a Territory Growth Town, a long-term lease for 
public housing was secured at Milyakburra under the terms of the Groote Eylandt and Bickerton Island Regional 
Partnership Agreement. 
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Our agency is recognised and valued for its advice, expertise, leadership and 
continuous improvement in the Northern Territory Public Sector 

� Celebrated tZo individual staff aZards from the Chief 0inister’s $Zard for ([cellence 
in the Public Sector.

� Four nominations for agency initiatives in the Chief 0inister’s $Zard for ([cellence in 
the Public Sector.

Attract, retain and develop a highly capable, skilled and professional workforce 
that reflects the diversity of the Territory’s population; and our staff are 
supported in their business 

� Celebrated the valuable contribution our strong ,ndigenous ZorNforce �21 per cent of 
our total ZorNforce� maNes to the agency through hosting 1$,'OC events across the 
1orthern Territory. The theme this year Zas µCelebrating 8nsung +eroes’. The agency 
has more than doubled the Northern Territory Public Sector target of Indigenous 
employment of 10 per cent of the workforce in 2012. 

� �3 per cent of the ([ecutive Leadership Team and �1 per cent of the 6enior ([ecutive 
Group are women. 

� 12 employees graduated or Zere aZarded Tualifications in tertiary studies.
� 2� employees Zere supported to undertaNe tertiary study. 
� 'eveloped a neZ +ousing Operational Training program and +ousing Orientation 

Program designed to assist the public housing workforce deliver housing-related 
services in urban, remote and community living areas, and across government 
employee housing.

� Throughout 2010-11, the agency delivered operational training to a number of staff, 
specifically� 

Housing operational staff

� Public +ousing 6ales Program policy and process ± �� staff
� Terrritory +ousing Leadership Training ± 2� staff
� $nti-discrimination Training ± 13� staff �and non-government organisations�
� Tenancy 6ustainability Program Training ± 3� staff �and non-government 

organisations�
Aboriginal Interpreters: 

� 6pecialist Training ± �12 interpreters �many sessions delivered at various 
community locations� 

� ,nduction training ± 1�3 neZ interpreters 
� $ccreditation through 1$$T, ± 1� $boriginal language interpreters successfully 

gained 1$$T, accreditation in TiZi, 0urrinh-Patha, .riol and 'Mambarrpuyngu

A COLLABORATIVE, INFLUENTIAL  
AND CAPABLE ORGANISATION
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Implement and monitor high standards of governance and accountability in the 
organisation’s operations

• undertook a comprehensive strategic and operational risk assessment of the agency 
and its functions.

• undertook a number of risk management activities during 2010-11 including:
• enhancement of the role of the risk and audit Committee in recognition of the 

agency’s growing responsibilities and functions.
• the development and implementation of the internal audit plan – planning for 

internal agency audits to be conducted in alignment with identified risk areas. 
• a major review of the agency’s corporate delegations and alignment to the 

agency’s structure and functions.
• improved focus on transparency and efficiency in agency procurement practices 

through employment of a Procurement Director, and arrangement of better access to 
procurement expertise from the Department of Business and Employment. 

Our organisation is a responsible environmental citizen

• Consistent with agency commitments under the greening the territory strategy, the 
agency achieved a 14 per cent reduction in emissions from its vehicle fleet.

• a number of agency office amalgamations have occurred across the territory. the 
large-scale amalgamation of non-operational housing offices in the Darwin region and 
the consolidation of agency offices in Katherine achieved greater occupancy ratios in 
office accommodation, and efficiencies in the use of lighting and air-conditioning.





PEOPLE MANAGEMENT 
PART THREE

Profiles the agency’s people management including staff demographics, 
ZorNforce development initiatives and performance management.
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OVERVIEW

$s at 30 June 2011, the agency employed �11 full-time eTuivalent staff across the 
Territory to deliver the agency’s services.

People are the agency’s most important asset and are essential to the agency’s 
continued performance. $s presented in the Corporate Plan 2010-2013 our strategic  
goal is�

A collaborative, influential and capable organisation

�  recognised and valued for its advice, e[pertise, leadership and 
continuous improvement in the 1orthern Territory Public 6ector

�  a high capable, sNilled and professional ZorNforce that reÀects the 
diversity of the Territory’s population� and our staff are supported in  
their business.

T$%L( 2�� 6T$FF 61$P6+OT $6 $T 30 J81( 2011

6T$FF 180%(56

Full-time equivalent staff 611

Part-time staff

Permanent part-time 8
Temporary part-time 9
Casual ���
Graduates, apprentices and cadets 9

Demographics

0ale �full-time eTuivalent� 3��
Female �full-time eTuivalent� �3�
,ndigenous employees 12�
(mployees Zith a disability 22
(mployees from culturally diverse bacNgrounds 13
:omen in e[ecutive positions 32

The number of full-time eTuivalent staff employed by the agency has decreased by  
3� since June 2010. This decrease in is partly due to the agency’s large number of 
casual employees.
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The agency is proud of its people and their achievements and there have been many 
successes during 2010-11. $ summary of Ney achievements are included beloZ. 

T$%L( 2�� .(< 6T$FF $C+,(9(0(1T6

Leanne Caton ,ndigenous (conomic 
'evelopment

Presentation of paper on Aboriginal 
E conomic and E nterprise 
D evelopment in the N orthern Territory 
at the �th :orld ,ndigenous :omen 
and :ellness Conference, hosted by 
LarraNia 1ation $boriginal Corporation 
in 'arZin, Zith over ��0 attendees.

Lorraine Corowa 5egional 
'evelopment

Graduated Zith a 0asters of 
,nternational 0anagement from 
Charles 'arZin 8niversity. 

Megha Raut 5egional 
'evelopment 

Travelled to $thens as part of 
undertaNing her Ph' studies, to speaN 
at a conference about economic 
profiling in a regional conte[t. 
0egha’s Ph' ZorN has benefited 
the government in its regional 
development efforts.

Libby Collins ,ndigenous Cadets $Zarded a %achelor of 
Communications from Charles 'arZin 
8niversity. 

Peter Gillard Graduated Zith a %achelor of 6ocial 
6cience from the 8niversity of 6outh 
$ustralia.

Kellie Ann Fawcett Completed a %achelor of $ccounting 
from Charles 'arZin 8niversity.

Leanne Evans 6ervice 'elivery 
Coordination

Graduated Zith a 0asters 'egree in 
%usiness $dministration �0%$�.

Stuart MacLean $rnhem 5egion Graduated Zith a 0asters in $pplied 
Finance

Ann Vincent

Natasha Hamilton

+uman 5esources

%ig 5ivers 5egion

%oth graduated Zith a 'iploma of 
0anagement from the 1T Public 
6ector ,ndigenous Zomen’s leadership 
development program, LooNruNin.

CELEBRATING KEY STAFF ACHIEVEMENTS
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Kate Smith Graduate Winner of a Northern Territory 
Literary Award, in the Charles Darwin 
University Essay Award category, for 
her essay Imagining Darwin. 

Harry Appo 

Kevin Wanganeen

Darwin Region Successfully applied for scholarships 
to attend the 2nd Annual Indigenous 
Governance for Sustained 
Development Conference in Sydney.

Jacqueline Phillips Aboriginal Interpreter 
Service

Recipient of a scholarship for a 
Certificate II in Indigenous Leadership 
with the Australian Indigenous 
Leadership Centre in Canberra.

Rebecca Healy Barkly Region Recipient of a Northern Territory young 
Achievers Award - the McArthur River 
Mining Regional and Rural Initiative 
Award. 

Also received the 2011 Barnardos 
Mother of the year Award.

Joshua Bonson Finance and Budget 
Management

Successful completion of 
apprenticeship with the agency, 
receiving a Certificate III in Business. 

Tolga Hucent 

Nanet Pagsanjan 

Darren Johnson

Business Systems

Central Australia 
Region

Graduated from the Public Sector 
Management Program and were 
awarded a Graduate Certificate in 
Public Sector Management from 
Flinders University.
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Achievements from the 2010 Chief Minister’s Award for Excellence in the  
Public Sector 

The aZards are an opportunity for ZorN teams and individuals to be recognised and 
reZarded for continuous improvement, innovation, outstanding performance and 
e[traordinary results in the public sector. The aZards night recognised the hard ZorN 
and efforts of our staff, Zith specific achievements presented beloZ.

Christine Hart %ig 5ivers�$rnhem 
5egion

5ecipients of a 2010 Chief 0inister’s 
Public 6ector 0edal. %oth have been 
important ambassadors for the agency 
over long careers and many periods of 
change.

Grace Page 'arZin 5egion

Remote Housing NT (mployment 
and :orNforce 
'evelopment

Finalist in the 'elivering 4uality 
(ducation and Training Category 
for the (mployment and :orNforce 
'evelopment through 5emote +ousing 
initiative.

Local Government, 
Regional and 
Community 
Services

5egional 6ervices Finalist in the GroZing Prosperity 
Category for the (conomic Profile 
6eries ± $ 5egional 'evelopment 
initiative.

Central Australia 
Region

$lice 6prings ToZn 
Camps (ngagement 
Team

Finalist in the ,mproving +ealth and 
:ellbeing category for the ZorN Zith 
tenants in the $lice 6prings ToZn 
Camps. 

Local Government, 
Regional & 
Community 
Services

$boriginal ,nterpreter 
6ervice

Finalist in the (nriching our 6ociety 
and Lifestyle category for the 
(stablishment of a 5emote $boriginal 
,nterpreter 6ervice Office and 
Community %ased ,nterpreters in 
:adeye. 
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With a workplace comprising 126 Indigenous employees and 13 employees from 
culturally diverse backgrounds, the agency meets and exceeds diversity targets set by 
government. Nonetheless, the agency continues to strive to improve diversity in our 
workforce with a priority of developing a professional workforce reflective of the Northern 
Territory’s diverse population.

Some examples of the agency’s commitment to equal opportunity and the promotion of 
diversity within our organisation in 2010-11 are presented below. 

iNdiGENOus
• Two Indigenous male employees, from Nhulunbuy and Alice Springs, are currently 

participating in Kigaruk – Indigenous men’s leadership development program offered 
by the Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment. The aim of this program is 
to provide an opportunity for Indigenous men to gain knowledge and skills necessary 
to increase their effectiveness in their current position and to improve their career 
progression. Upon successful completion participants will be awarded a Diploma of 
Management (Policy Development).

• Two female Indigenous employees successfully completed their studies and were 
awarded a Diploma of Management (Policy Development) from Charles Darwin 
University as part of the Lookrukin – Indigenous women leadership development 
program.

• NAIDOC Week is an important opportunity in this agency to celebrate Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures and the contribution of our Indigenous employees. 
The agency celebrated the annual NAIDOC week in our offices across the Territory. 
The theme for this year was Celebrating Unsung Heroes. The celebration included 
important guest speakers who shared their stories. In Darwin we were treated to 
a performance from the “One Mob” traditional dancers and a selection of great 
traditional food cooked by our staff. In Alice Springs, Donna McMasters and Walter 
Wesley spoke about where they grew up and shared memories of their childhood.

AvErAGE AGE
• The average age of agency staff is 48 years, which is five years older compared with 

the rest of the Northern Territory Public Sector where the average age is 43 years. 

TABLE 29: AGE AND GENDER OF FULL-TIME EQUIvALENT STAFF AS AT  
30 JUNE 2011

AGE RANGE
MALE FULL-TIME 

EQUIvALENT
FEMALE FULL-

TIME EQUIvALENT TOTAL %

18-25 13.11 51.09 64.2 11%
26-35 37.97 84.73 122.7 20%
36-45 52.67 95.68 148.35 24%
46-55 69.4 89.85 159.25 26%
56-65 43.48 61.44 104.92 17%
66-75 7.2 3.98 11.18 2%

TOTAL 223.83 386.77 610.6 100%

EquAL EMPLOyMENT OPPOrTuNiTiEs  
ANd wOrkfOrCE divErsiTy
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WOMEN 

� :omen are strongly represented in the agency’s management. 
� �� per cent of the agency’s 6enior ([ecutive Group are Zomen. This team is 

responsible for strategic decision maNing and policy setting of the agency’s operational 
and internal processes� and provides strategic leadership and direction across the 
organisation.

� �� per cent of the ([ecutive Leadership Team are Zomen. This group consists of 
([ecutive 'irectors of the agency’s Ney business areas, and supports the Chief 
([ecutive in providing high level management and advice across the agency. 

� 21 Zomen Zere offered to participate in a life coaching ZorNshop, :orNing :inning 
:omen, to help focus their career direction and progression, set personal goals, 
develop a positive outlooN and increase self confidence. This Zas a Moint proMect in 
conMunction Zith the 'epartment of 1atural 5esources, (nvironment, The $rts  
and 6port.

� Three Zomen Zere sponsored to participate on 'iscovery ± :omen in Leadership. 
'iscovery is designed to help Zomen develop their self confidence� learn leadership 
sNills and builds valuable support and business netZorNs. This program is being 
offered in $lice 6prings in 6eptember 2011.

T$%L( 30� CL$66,F,C$T,O1 $1' G(1'(5 OF F8LL-T,0( (48,9$L(1T 6T$FF  
$6 $T 30 J81( 2011

'(6,G1$T,O1 F(0$L( MALE

TOT$L 
F8LL-T,0( 

(48,9$L(1T

$boriginal interpreter 1� 13 2�
,nterpreter 3 3 �
1TP6 apprentice 2 2 4
Graduate 3 2 �
Physical 3 3 2 �
Technical � 1 3� 3�
Technical � 0 2 2
Professional 3 0 1 1
6enior Professional Officer 1 0 1 1
$dministrative Officer 2 2� 10 3�
$dministrative Officer 3 �� 8 ��
$dministrative Officer � �� 20 ��
$dministrative Officer � �� 22 ��
$dministrative Officer � �� 23 89
$dministrative Officer � 32 20 �2
6enior $dministrative Officer 1 32 2� �0
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Senior Administrative Officer 2 10 10 20
*Executive Officer 2 1 0 1
*Executive Officer 3 0 1 1
Executive Contract Officer 1 11 11 22
Executive Contract Officer 2 7 9 16
Executive Contract Officer 3 1 2 3
Executive Contract Officer 4 2 0 2
Executive Contract Officer 6 0 1 1

Total 387 224 611

* Staff at the Executive Officer 2 and 3 are non contract employees and were on temporary promotion as at  
30 June 2011.

wOrk-LifE bALANCE iNiTiATivEs
There are a range of initiatives implemented by the agency, providing staff with 
opportunities to more effectively balance work commitments with family, community and 
cultural responsibilities, interests and obligations.

In 2010-11, the agency approved:
• five employees to take leave without pay for periods for up to 12 months to 

undertake both personal and professional development opportunities
• three applications for home based work
• seven requests for part-time employment
• one employee purchased additional recreation leave.
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REMOTE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT
The agency is committed to ensuring all employees have access to development 
opportunities to strengthen their ability to provide Tuality services throughout the Territory.  

:hile acNnoZledging the importance of ongoing professional development for all 
employees, living in a remote locality poses uniTue challenges in accessing training and 
development opportunities.  These include social and professional isolation, distance 
from maMor population and training centres and additional costs associated Zith travel 
and accommodation. To support our staff in remote localities, the agency supported and 
encouraged the folloZing learning and development opportunities in 2010-11�

� Certificate ,9 in training and assessment
� Public 6ector 0anagement Program
� .igaruN ± ,ndigenous men’s leadership development program
� cross cultural aZareness
� first aid
� recruitment and selection
� code of conduct
� change management
� team building and capacity development
� �[� Zheel driving
� e[ecutive leadership
� 3�0 degree feedbacN
� T5,0 �information and records management�.

WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT INITIATIVES
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As at 30 June 2011, there are 509 agency staff including casual, temporary, part time and 
full time employees working in remote locations.

TABLE 31: NUMBER OF AGENCy STAFF IN REGIONAL AND REMOTE LOCATIONS

Ali Curung 1 Katherine 71 Nyirripi 1
Alice Springs 227 Lajamanu 3 Papunya 4
Alyangula 6 Maningrida 11 Pirlangimpi  

(Melville Island)
1

Angurugu 10 Milingimbi 7 Ramingining 4
Areyonga 3 Minjilang  

(Croker Island)
1 Tennant Creek 33

Atitjere  
(Harts Range)

6 Minyerri 2 Umbakumba 1

Borroloola 2 Mutitjulu 1 Wadeye 27
Bulman 1 Nauiyu  

(Daly River)
1 Warruwi  

(Golbourn Island)
4

Galiwin’ku 8 Nganmarriyanga 
(Palumpa)

1 Wurrumiyanga 
(Nguiu)

16

Gapuwiyak 2 Ngukurr 7 yirrkala 2
Gunbalanya 5 Nhulunbuy 25 yuendumu 3
Jabiru 1 Ntaria 

(Hermannsburg)
1 yulara 1

Kalkarindji 1 Nturiya (Ti Tree) 4
Kaltukatjara 
(Docker River) 

1 Numbulwar 3

iNdiGENOus EMPLOyMENT ANd CArEEr  
dEvELOPMENT sTrATEGy
The agency is proud of its continuous achievement in Indigenous representation in the 
workforce, with 21 per cent of employees identifying as Indigenous at June 2011. Our 
Indigenous representation is at least double the target for the whole of the Northern 
Territory Public Sector of 10 per cent by 2012. The acceptance, encouragement and 
fostering of diversity within our agency is essential if we are to become regarded as an 
attractive employer and an employer of choice for Indigenous Territorians.

Each region has developed a specific Indigenous employment action plan to focus on 
improving local Indigenous employment and development opportunities. Additionally, 
the agency continues to support Indigenous career development programs such 
as the Indigenous cadetship support, Indigenous leadership programs, Indigenous 
apprenticeships and work experience. The agency also participates in the Office of the 
Commissioner for Public Employment Indigenous Employment and Career Development 
coordinators network.
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CORPORATE LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
Ongoing learning, development and education opportunities Zere offered to all 
employees. The agency’s commitment to learning and professional development saZ an 
increase in e[penditure from appro[imately ���0 per person in 200�-10 to �1200 per  
full-time employee in 2010-11.

'uring 2010-11, the agency established, maintained and promoted a range of corporate 
learning and development initiatives through Zell attended ZorNshops covering areas 
including�  

� recruitment and selection
� code of conduct
� change management
� anti-discrimination, harassment and bullying
� cross cultural aZareness
� developing personal resilience in the ZorNplace
� service delivery e[cellence
� team building and capability development
� giving and receiving performance feedbacN
� risN assessment
� career planning
� clear Zriting
� hoZ to Zrite a Mob analysis Tuestionnaire.

Presentations of the Corporate Plan 2010-2013 and the Territory 2030 strategy Zere also 
offered and Zell attended by staff throughout the Territory.

The agency also strongly supported the Office of the Commissioner for Public 
(mployment Zith representation on their leadership programs including�

� LooNruNin ± ,ndigenous Zomen’s leadership development program
� .igaruN ± ,ndigenous men’s leadership development program
� 3�0 degree feedbacN
� Public 6ector 0anagement Program
� Future Leaders
� ([ecutive Leaders
� 'iscovery ± Zomen as leaders
� $1=6OG ± (conomics for public sector managers.

TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
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sTudy AssisTANCE
Staff are encouraged to increase their learning though formal studies in areas relevant to 
the agency core business. Support provided includes reimbursement of study fees, paid 
study leave to attend tutorials, lectures and examinations.

Over 25 employees received study assistance during 2010-11. 

Areas of study supported by the agency in 2010-11 included:
• Certificate II in Indigenous Leadership
• Certificate III in Social Housing
• Certificate Iv in Project Management
• Certificate Iv in Training and Assessment
• Diploma of Human Resources
• Bachelor of Behavioural Science
• Bachelor of Business
• Bachelor of Commerce
• Bachelor of Environmental Science
• Bachelor of Social Work
• CPA Professional
• Graduate Certificate in Business
• Graduate Certificate in Legal Studies
• Masters in Business Administration
• Master of International Studies.

dEvELOPMENT PrOGrAMs
The agency continues to strengthen its investment in growing and supporting our own 
employees through on-the-job-training activities ranging from apprenticeships to the 
graduate program. These programs are essential in building a skilled, sustainable and 
capable workforce and developing the agency’s future leaders.

PubLiC sECTOr MANAGEMENT PrOGrAM
Public Sector Management Program (PSMP) is a national leadership program designed 
specifically for public sector managers from across Australian territory, state and local 
governments. The program combines tertiary study with experiential learning and 
focuses on building practical skills incorporating contemporary government case studies 
and challenging theory exercise.

Three employees were sponsored to undertake the PSMP in 2010-11, and three 
employees subsequently achieved a Graduate Certificate in Public Administration from 
Flinders University.
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GRADUATE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM
The Graduate 'evelopment Program is run over a calendar year and is available 
to recent graduates of tertiary Tualifications. The program is an on-the-Mob training 
program that combines continuous development and employment. ,t provides graduates 
Zith opportunities to put theory into practice and µTuicN start’ their career through 
ZorN e[perience and further learning opportunities under a managed program. The 
organisational outcome is the development of a pool of potential leaders.

Over the 12 month program, graduates rotate through business units undertaNing 
proMects related to agency core business. Graduates are also offered ZorN placements in 
regional centres, providing e[posure to our corporate environment in remote and regional 
localities to broaden their NnoZledge and e[perience.

Five graduates Zere employed during 2010-11.

L to 5� 'arcy %rooNe, .en 'avies, Peter 
Gillard, .ate 6mith, 'iZa +opNins and 
Catherine :eber

INDIGENOUS CADETSHIP SUPPORT PROGRAM
The ,ndigenous Cadetship 6upport Program is part of the $ustralian Government’s 
,ndigenous (conomic 'evelopment 6trategy aimed at increasing opportunities for 
,ndigenous people to gain professional Tualifications combined Zith ZorN e[perience. 
Cadets receive a study alloZance, booN alloZance and paid ZorN placements during their 
semester breaNs.

6i[ cadets Zere engaged by the agency during 2010-11. 

Of this group� 
� tZo cadets continue to study interstate
� one continues to study at Charles 'arZin 8niversity
� one graduated Zith a %achelor of Communications from Charles 'arZin 

8niversity - and accepted permanent appointment Zith the agency
� one graduated Zith a %achelor of 6ocial 6cience and has Moined the agency’s 

Graduate 'evelopment Program
� one recently completed studies toZard a %achelor of $ccounting at Charles 

'arZin 8niversity and has accepted employment Zith this agency.
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APPrENTiCEshiP PrOGrAM
The objective of the agency’s Apprenticeship Program is to provide Territorians with an 
opportunity to gain a qualification through structured employment and training over a 
12 month period. During this time, the apprentice undertakes job rotation every three 
months, providing them with an opportunity to broaden their skills and experience. 
On successful completion of their apprenticeship, the agency endeavours to provide 
employment opportunities where possible.

L to R: Joshua Bonson, Catherine Weber, 
Nelsina Portaminni and Sean Heavey

During 2010-11, the agency employed six apprentices who undertook study towards a 
Certificate III in Business; and one school based apprentice. 

• one Indigenous apprentice working in Territory Growth Town of Wurrumiyanga
• one located in Alice Springs
• five located in Darwin
• one apprentice from 2010 has graduated and has been permanently appointed
• one apprentice from 2010 is due to graduate with a Certificate III Business in 

August 2011.

hOusiNG OPErATiONAL TrAiNiNG
Housing Operational Training Program and Website

A new Housing Operational Training Program (HOTP) was designed to assist the 
housing workforce deliver housing services in urban, remote, town camps and 
government employee housing and develop the skills and knowledge to operate 
effectively and compliantly on behalf of the agency. 

The program aligns to government’s strategic corporate and regional initiatives and is 
linked to staff job performance, career advancement and accreditation.
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The +OTP incorporates five training modules� 

1.  Corporate: provides employees Zith information on national and local strategic 
and operational housing environments, agency values, corporate directions, 
structure, services and other areas to contribute to staff understanding their role 
Zithin the agency conte[t.

2.  Housing: focuses on specific Mob roles and responsibilities in delivering tenancy 
and property management services to enable housing staff to develop NnoZledge 
and practical sNills to perform their role in accordance Zith legislation and Territory 
+ousing policies and procedures, Zhilst ensuring a consistent and high level of 
client services are provided to public housing tenants.

3.  Systems: provides staff Zith sNills and NnoZledge to effectively access, navigate 
and perform system functions Zithin housing related business systems.

4.  Professional Development: a calendar of sourced and tailored outsourced 
training �Zhere appropriate� to ensure that staff gain professional development 
sNills relevant to the provision of housing services.

5.  Accredited Training: relevant accredited courses for staff Zho Zish to develop 
specialised sNills in a particular field. 

The +OTP is supported by a Zebsite Zhich has been developed to provide accessibility 
and Àe[ibility for managers and staff to access and undertaNe training units. The program 
offers a mi[ed delivery of self paced learning and includes theory�practical, face-to-face, 
online, on-the-Mob training and Zebinars.

The +OTP and Zebsite Zere launched to housing staff in all regional offices in  
1ovember 2010.

6ince implementation, the +ousing Operational Training 8nit has developed five 
+ousing 0odule training units and si[ 6ystem 0odule training units, all incorporating 
comprehensive training manuals, demonstration checNlists, theory and practical 
assessments.

Housing Orientation 

$ neZ +ousing Orientation Program Zas designed and delivered to provide staff Zith 
consistent messages and a sound understanding of national and local strategic and 
operational housing environments. ,t also provides staff Zith an opportunity to learn  
more about the support and services available Zithin the agency and through Zider 
community netZorNs.

The +ousing Operational Training unit delivered sessions to over 1�� housing staff in all 
regional offices betZeen 0ay and June 2011.
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Regional Training Sessions

In addition to the development and delivery of the HOTP and Housing Orientation 
Program, tailored programs were delivered to regional officers on a needs basis. This 
training was delivered to housing operational staff as follows:

•	 	Public	Housing	Sales	Program 
59 staff trained in all regional housing offices

•	 Territory	Housing	Leadership	Training	 	  
28 staff trained in Darwin and Alice Springs

•	 Anti-Discrimination	Training	(delivered	by	Anti-Discrimination	
Commission) 
134 staff trained in all regional housing offices

•	 Tenancy	Sustainability	Program	Training 
37 staff trained in all regional housing offices
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The agency’s Capability (nhancement $greement provides staff an opportunity to 
receive feedbacN on their performance. The discussion points for this agreement  
reaffirm Ney responsibilities of the Mob, outcomes achieved and any identified learning  
and development opportunities in alignment Zith our Corporate Plan and reTuired 
business outcomes. 

The 1orthern Territory Public 6ervice Capability and Leadership FrameZorN is a valuable 
tool encouraged to be used in this process as it assists in performance discussions. The 
agency developed a self assessment tool for use Zith the Capability and Leadership 
FrameZorN Zhich helps staff to reÀect and identify their strengths and those capabilities 
that, Zith focused development, Zill help them build greater capability at their current 
employment level and reach their career goals. This self assessment tool has since been 
made available to the Zhole of the public sector.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT



103DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

People Management PART THREE

wOrkErs COMPENsATiON
During 2010-11, nine new claims for workers compensation were received.  Six cases 
were resolved and as at 30 June 2011 there were ten open compensation claims. The 
table below compares workers compensation data from 2007-08 through to 2010-11.

TABLE 32: WORKERS COMPENSATION CLAIMS 

WORKERS  
COMPENSATION CLAIMS 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11

Claims at as 1 July 3 4 4 7

New claims 4 5 6 9

Claims resolved 3 5 3 6

Open claims as at 30 June 4 4 7 10

Staff currently receiving workers 
compensation payments

1 0 0 6

OCCuPATiONAL hEALTh ANd sAfETy PrOGrAMs
Safe Work Australia released Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S) model legislation 
that will be passed by all Australian Parliaments during 2011.  This legislation becomes 
active on 1 January 2012.  The agency developed an implementation plan, and 
supporting policies and procedures to meet the start date.  

The implementation plan sees the progressive introduction of OH&S Work Site 
Committees at locations where the agency has a presence. The policy and procedures 
provide a formal framework to monitor OH&S activity to ensure the agency meets its 
legislative obligations.

fLu vACCiNATiONs
Free influenza vaccinations continued to be offered to all staff as part of the agency’s 
health and wellbeing initiative.

EMPLOyEE AssisTANCE PrOGrAM
The agencies Employee Assistance Program (EAP) is a professional, confidential 
counselling service available to staff and family members - offering support on work 
related issues or personal concerns. The service also provides career counselling, and 
training and development. 

In 2010-11, the EAP service continued to be offered, with the agency spending 
approximately $78 500.

OCCuPATiONAL hEALTh ANd sAfETy
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INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS
1o industrial relations claims Zere lodged against the agency by an employee during 
2010-11.

The Public Sector Employment and Management Act provides direction to agencies on 
human resource management and prescribes that Chief ([ecutives’ are to report on 
their agency performance against each (mployment ,nstruction. Consistent Zith this 
reTuirement, prescribed information is reported beloZ.

T$%L( 33� '(P$5T0(1T OF +O86,1G, LOC$L GO9(510(1T $1' 5(G,O1$L 
6(59,C(6 5(PO5T $G$,16T (0PLO<0(1T ,16T58CT,O16

(0PLO<0(1T ,16T58CT,O16  
$1' $G(1C< 5(48,5(0(1T6 $CT,O1

Number 1 – Advertising, selection, 
appointment, transfer and promotion

$gency to develop procedures on 
recruitment and selection for internal use.

� 5ecruitment and establishment policies 
are available on the staff intranet. 
+uman 5esources Consultants 
continue to provide advice on 
recruitment and selection processes. 

� Over 100 staff across the Territory 
attended recruitment and selection 
ZorNshops.

Number 2 – Probation

Chief ([ecutive to develop a probationary 
process for their agency and convey 
details of the probationary process 
to employee Zithin their first ZeeN of 
reporting for duty.

� Probationary reports are coordinated 
and monitored by +uman 5esources.

� The probationary policy is currently 
being revieZed and Zill be available to 
all staff on the intranet.

� 1o staff received e[tension of probation 
period or Zere terminated in 2010-11.

Number 3 – Natural Justice

The rules of natural Mustice to be 
observed in all dealings Zith employees.

� The principles of natural Mustice are 
applied to all dealings Zith employees.

Number 4 – Performance Management

Chief ([ecutive to report annually to the 
Office of the Commissioner for Public 
(mployment on management and training 
and staff development programs.

Chief ([ecutives to develop and 
implement performance management 
systems for their agency.

� There is a capability enhancement 
agreement and a performance 
agreement for senior administrative 
officers available on the agency’s 
intranet site. FeedbacN on performance 
is provided every si[ months.

� (arlier this year the agency provided 
information sessions on the neZ 
senior administrative officer annual 
performance assessment scheme.

REPORTING AGAINST EMPLOYMENT 
INSTRUCTIONS
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Number 5 – Medical Incapacity

No reporting requirements.

• The agency rarely requires the need 
to manage medical incapacity issues. 
When required, managers liaise with 
Human Resource Consultants or the 
Office of the Commissioner for Public 
Employment for specific advice.

Number 6 – Inability to Discharge 
Duties

Chief Executive to provide the Office of 
the Commissioner for Public Employment 
with information on the extent to which 
this employment instruction has been 
used by the agency.

Chief Executive may establish 
procedures regarding inability within  
their agency.

• There were no inability cases during 
2010-11.

• Required information was provided 
to the Commissioner for Public 
Employment.

• The agency’s human resources 
consultancy framework is designed 
to assist managers and staff when 
exploring inability matters.

Number 7 – Discipline

Chief Executive to provide the Office of 
the Commissioner for Public Employment 
with information on the extent to which 
this employment instruction has been 
used by the agency.

Chief Executive may establish 
procedures regarding discipline within 
their agency.

• Workshops on the Code of Conduct 
were held throughout the Territory for  
all staff.

• There were no formal disciplinary 
actions taken during 2010-11.

Number 8 – Management of Grievances

Chief Executive shall establish written 
procedures for the agency that should 
outline steps for dealing with grievances.

• Management of grievances policy is 
currently being reviewed and will be 
available to all staff on the intranet once 
completed.

• Mediation is used as an active 
mechanism to resolve potential 
grievances and continues to be used as 
an early intervention tool.

• Our human resources consultancy 
framework provides a contact point 
for staff who feel aggrieved in the 
workplace.

Number 9 – Transfers

Now incorporated in Employment 
Instruction 1



Number 10 – Employee Records

$gencies are reTuired to maintain 
appropriate employee records and 
implement procedures for maintaining 
and accessing these records.

� (mployee personnel files are 
maintained by the 'epartment of 
%usiness and (mployment.

� 5eTuests for access to employee 
records are made through the 'irector 
+uman 5esources.

Number 11 – Equal Employment 
Opportunity

Chief ([ecutive to devise and implement 
programs to ensure eTual employment 
opportunities and outcomes are achieved.

Chief ([ecutive to report annually to the 
Office of the Commissioner for Public 
(mployment on programs and initiatives.

� 'etails of the agency’s programs and 
initiatives are provided earlier in the 
relevant section of this report.

Number 12 – Occupational Health and 
Safety

� The agency developed an 
implementation plan, associated 
policies and procedures in anticipation 
of national uniform Work  H ealth and 
Safety Act effective from 1 January 
2012. 

� $nnual Àu vaccinations Zere offered to 
all employees and are fully funded by 
the agency.

Number 13 – Code of Conduct

Chief ([ecutive may issue guidelines 
regarding acceptance of gifts and benefits 
to employees.

Chief ([ecutive may issue agency 
specific code of conduct.

� The code of conduct is available 
to all staff on the intranet and has 
been reinforced through our +uman 
5esources Consultants’ activities.

� 6pecific ZorNshops on the code of 
conduct have been held throughout the 
Territory during 2010-11.

Number 14 – Part-time Employment

Chief ([ecutives to provide information 
on the number of part-time employees by 
salary stream.

� Part-time employment is supported in 
the agency. 

� $s at 30 June 2011, 2� $dministrative 
Officers �$O� ZorNed part-time as 
folloZs� one 6$O1, three $O�s, three 
$O�s, one $O�, si[teen $O3s, and 
tZo $O2. Three Zere ZorNing in home-
based arrangements. Fle[ible ZorN 
practices are also encouraged.



GOVERNANCE 
PART FOUR

'etails the agency’s governance, risN and financial management arrangements 
that support the agency to meet its obMectives and monitor its achievements. 
,t also includes information on audit practices, information management, 
communications and community consultation.
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Sound corporate governance helps an organisation to achieve its outcomes and 
obligations through thorough planning, decision making, risk management and 
accountability. The agency’s corporate governance arrangements are described and 
reported in this section. 

Our corporate governance framework defines the agency’s strategic objectives and 
enables it to manage risks, maintain stakeholder relationships and utilise resources in 
order to meet its strategic goals and deliver core business. Additionally, it ensures sound 
governance practices are in place and actioned appropriately throughout the agency, in 
order to achieve transparent and ethical decision making and accountability at all levels. 
Figure 8 illustrates the corporate governance framework.

The agency’s corporate governance principles are accountability, transparency, integrity, 
stewardship, and leadership.

ACCOuNtAbility
The agency upholds this principle by implementing appropriate standards, controls  
and policies so staff understand expectations and take responsibility for their decisions 
and actions.

Corporate Governance Policy

The agency’s corporate governance policy assists staff to understand expectations and 
responsibilities by:
• continually improving articulation of accountabilities, responsibilities and authority to 

act, associated with different staff classification levels and functional roles
• continually improving agency governance practices
• continually educating employees and stakeholders on their roles and responsibilities.

In line with best practice and the agency’s continuous improvement approach, the 
corporate governance policy will be reviewed by the Risk and Audit Committee in  
2011-12 to ensure it continues to meet agency corporate governance objectives.

CORpORAtE GOVERNANCE
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Corporate Delegations

$ppropriate delegations enable staff to be accountable. $gency delegations Zere 
revieZed in 2010-11, and conseTuently, a more efficient and sustainable delegations 
system is being implemented across five categories�

1. finance

2. accounts payable

3. procurement

�. housing

�. human resources. 

The neZ system is more responsive to organisational changes, and simpler to 
administer. ,t Zill be revieZed annually to ensure currency and consistency Zith agency 
reTuirements.

Management and Staff

The agency’s 6enior ([ecutive Group is responsible for strategic decision maNing 
and policy setting for operational and internal processes. 6trategic issues are referred 
to the group by the agency’s ([ecutive Leadership Team, Zhich provides high level 
management across the agency.

The ([ecutive Leadership Team comprises the ([ecutive 'irectors, Zho are responsible 
for managing the operations of the agency’s business units and Zho are accountable to 
their respective 6enior ([ecutive Group member.

0ore information on the 6enior ([ecutive Group and ([ecutive Leadership Team can  
be found in Part One $gency OvervieZ.
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FIGuRE 8: CORPORATE GOvERnAnCE FRAMEwORk

HOW WE BEHAVE

As individuals, we will:
• be professional
• be honest
• be respectful
• be accountable
• work together
• value diversity.

HOW WE WORK

As an organisation we will:
• develop effective partnerships 

and networks that deliver effective 
outcomes, to our clients

• learn from our experiences so we can 
deliver better services

• create and sustain a client-centred 
culture

• use regional perspectives to help 
shape and drive our business

• plan, anticipate and think ahead so 
that we operate proactively.

STRATEGIC GOALS

• Improve access to safe, secure, appropriate and affordable housing.
• Strong regions, communities and local governments.
• A collaborative, influential and capable organisation.

HOW WE GOVERN 
OURSELVES

As an organisation 
we make decisions 
underpinned by:
• accountability
• transparency
• integrity
• stewardship
• leadership.

EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM

Provides advice to the Chief  Executive on policy and operational matters and considers performance 
against agreed accountability frameworks.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

SENIOR EXECUTIVE GROUP
Responsible for the strategic decision making and policy setting for the agency’s operational and internal 
processes. Provides strategic leadership and direction across the organisation to ensure the agency 
meets its corporate responsibilities and priorities.

Risk and 
Audit
Committee
Assists the 
Chief 
Executive to 
meet his 
accountability 
and 
responsiblities 
under the 
Financial 
Management 
Act.

OH&S 
Committees
Established as 
part of the 
agency’s 
obligations 
under the 
Workplace 
Health and 
Safety
Act.

Placement 
Committee
Considers
recruitment 
and placement 
issues to 
ensure 
decisions are 
equitable and 
the agency 
operates within 
its staffing cap.

Information
Management
Committee
Ensures 
technology
and systems
are aligned to 
the agency’s 
information
management
requirements 
and legislative 
obligations.

Procurement 
Committee
Ensures 
procurement 
practices are 
planned, 
achieve value 
for money and 
meets 
legislative 
obligations.

Research 
Advisory 
Committee
Advises on 
strategic 
research 
direction and 
prioritising 
research 
investment.
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TRANSPARENCY
Transparency ensures roles and responsibilities are clearly communicated, and clear 
advice and procedures are available to assist in decision maNing.

Corporate Plan

The agency’s Corporate Plan is an important tool to communicate the three high level 
strategic goals and annual operational priorities for the organisation.

The 'epartment of +ousing, Local Government and 5egional 6ervices Corporate Plan 
2010-2013 Zas developed to e[plain the breadth of the agency’s responsibilities and 
to reÀect the significant role of the regional offices in implementing agency programs 
government priorities and agreements.

The Corporate Plan is revieZed and updated annually, ensuring agency strategies 
and priorities continue to reÀect the operational and environmental challenges facing 
government and the agency in delivering its Ney responsibilities. Priorities for the agency 
in 2011-12 have been included in $gency OvervieZ.

Access to Information

,n accordance Zith the Information Act, the agency has a range of policies and 
procedures to enable interested people to access information held by the agency.

$n ,nformation $ccess Policy provides an avenue for individuals to access information 
about themselves Zithout the need for a formal application under the Freedom of 
,nformation process. 'uring 2010-11, the agency responded to �0 informal and �2 formal 
information access reTuests. 'etails of formal reTuests are in the folloZing table.

T$%L( 3�� $PPL,C$T,O16 TO $CC(66 ,1FO50$T,O1

$PPL,C$T,O16 81'(5  
T+( IN FO R M ATIO N  AC T 200�-0� 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11

Applications outstanding at start of year 4 0 1 0
$pplications to access personal information 5 19 30 3�
$pplications to access government 
information

5 5 1� 12

$ccepted applications ZithdraZn 2 3 2 2
Applications transferred 0 0 1 0
Unaccepted applications 0 1 0 0
$pplications completed Zithin 30 days 9 19 44 ��
$pplications completed in more than  
30 days

3 0 0 2

Open applications at end of year 0 1 0 1
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The agency has also published a list of the information held and the most expedient 
methods of accessing that information. The listing and the agency’s information access 
policy are available on our website or by contacting our Information Officer.

Information Officer 
Department of Housing, Local Government and Regional Services 
GPO Box 4621 
DARwIn nT 0801
Tel: 08 8999 8490 
Fax: 08 8942 6806
Email: infoact.dhlgrs@nt.gov.au 
www.dhlgrs.nt.gov.au/corporate/freedom_of_information

Personal Information

All personal information is handled in accordance with the Information Privacy Principles 
set out in Schedule 2 of the Information Act. The agency’s privacy policy is available from 
our Information Officer or website.

The agency undertakes to protect personal information it holds by collecting only the 
information necessary to perform its functions, holding the information for only the 
period of time required by business, legislative or historical reasons, and protecting such 
information from unauthorised disclosure or access.

no privacy breach complaints were lodged during 2010-11.

Information Available

In addition to meeting legislative reporting obligations, the agency endeavours to provide 
regular reporting on its activities by:
• publishing progress updates on key initiatives on the agency’s websites.
• tabling reports in local and national forums such as Council of Territory Corporation 

and Estimates Committee.

iNtEGRity
Corporate Ethics

The agency’s values are articulated in our corporate governance framework and 
Corporate Plan. They are underpinned by the northern Territory Public Sector’s 
Principles and Code of Conduct, which provides guidance on a range of ethical and 
moral issues that staff may encounter.

The Code of Conduct applies to all staff and adherence to it is a condition of employment.

Conflict of Interest Provisions

The northern Territory Public Sector Code of Conduct includes the principle that 
“employees shall disclose their private financial and other interests, where those interests 
may or may appear to conflict with their official duties, and take reasonable steps to 
prevent such conflict”.
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These conÀicts of interest include any actual or perceived conÀicts of interest relating to 
procurement. $ll staff involved in the evaluation of tenders of greater than �200 000 are 
reTuired to sign a 'eclaration of ,nterests and Confidentiality.

1o staff undertaNing procurement assessments identified any conÀicts of interest during 
2010-11.

STEWARDSHIP
The agency strives to manage resources in a manner that is compliant Zith legislation 
and policy, and to achieve efficient and effective agency outcomes that benefit the 
Territory community.

Procurement 

6ound procurement practices support the agency’s resource management. ,n 2010-11, 
the agency recruited a Procurement 'irector to provide rigor and drive process reform in 
procurement policy and practice throughout the agency, from Zhich a procurement unit 
Zas established in support these activities.

$ Procurement 0anagement Plan has been developed in line Zith the agency’s annual 
obligations under the Procurement 'irections. ,mplementation of this plan Zill facilitate 
improved capability across the agency in associated procurement monitoring, reporting 
and processes.

LEADERSHIP
6trong leadership is provided through the Chief ([ecutive, supported by the 6enior 
([ecutive Group and a clearly defined reporting structure. This group provides strategic 
leadership and direction across the organisation to ensure the agency meets its 
corporate responsibilities and priorities.

The agency recognises leadership ( of people and issues)  is undertaken across the 
various levels of the agency, Zherever staff taNe responsibility for their ZorN and are 
accountable for their actions. $s detailed in Part Three People 0anagement the agency 
encourages e[cellence in performance, has a strong emphasis on learning as an 
organisation and on professional developments for all staff.

Corporate Values

The values and behaviours the agency e[pects of its staff are outlined in our Corporate 
Plan and corporate governance frameZorN. %oth documents are readily available to 
agency staff via the intranet, and are emphasised through regular ZorNshops and forums 
Zith staff. 

Part One of this report presents the agency’s corporate frameZorN, including vision, 
values and corporate priorities.
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Risk MANAGEMENt FRAMEwORk

Risk management processes form part of the agency’s corporate governance framework.

The governance framework requires processes and practices to manage, in an 
integrated way, all significant risks associated with the agency’s operations and the 
achievement of its goals. The framework includes assessment and management of 
business risk from strategic through to operational levels,and a structured approach to 
audit and internal controls. It also builds risk management into corporate and business 
level planning, and develops our business continuity arrangements.

In April 2011, the agency procured the services of a consultant to conduct operational 
risk assessment of the twelve agency divisions. The recommendations will result in the 
preparation of a Strategic Risk Management Plan covering risks at agency and divisional 
levels, in line with goals, strategies and outcomes from the Corporate Plan; while 
enabling ongoing assessment of strategic business risks that potentially impact on the 
agency’s business. 

The strategic risk management plan and operational risk assessment will inform the 
2011-12 internal audit and review plan, which will be developed and monitored by the 
agency’s Risk and Audit Committee.

Specific risk management activities during 2010-11 include:
• the development and implementation of an internal audit plan 
• a major review of the agency’s corporate delegations
• re-establishment of the Risk and Audit Committee to reflect the agency’s broader 

responsibilities 
• the development of a procurement management plan.

Risk ANd Audit COMMittEE

The Risk and Audit Committee assists the Chief Executive to meet his accountability and 
responsibilities under the financial management Act and the Treasurer’s Directions. The 
Committee provides independent assurance and assistance to the Chief Executive and 
the Executive Leadership Team of the agency’s risk, control and compliance framework, 
and its external accountabilities.

In 2011-12, the Risk and Audit Committee will establish a Finance Subcommittee to 
address financial and audit reports.

Risk MANAGEMENt
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The current committee’s structure is detailed in the folloZing table.

T$%L( 3�� 5,6. $1' $8',T CO00,TT(( 6T58CT85(

POSITION '(T$,L6

,ndependent Chair John 0ontague, Commissioner of 
Superannuation, Northern Territory 
6uperannuation Office

Department of Housing,  
Local Government and  
Regional Services members:
'eputy Chair 0ychelle Curran, 'eputy Chief ([ecutive, 

Territory +ousing Programs and 
Performance

0ember Catherine :eber, 'eputy Chief ([ecutive, 
Strategic Policy and Governance

0ember Fran .ilgariff, 6enior ([ecutive 'irector, 
Local Government, 5egional and 
Community 6ervices

0ember $ndrea 0artin, ([ecutive 'irector, Central 
Australia

0ember $ndreZ .irNman, ([ecutive 'irector, 
5emote +ousing 1T

Observer 'Zayne 0c,nnes, ([ecutive 'irector, 
Corporate 6ervices and Chief Financial 
Officer

The committee’s charter sets out its obMectives, authority, membership, roles and 
reporting and administrative responsibilities. The charter is approved by the Chief 
([ecutive and revieZed annually.

AUDITS AND REVIEWS
'uring 2010-11 the agency Zas subMect to a number of e[ternal audits as part of 
the $uditor-General’s annual audit program in accordance Zith the reTuirements of 
$ustralian Government funding agreements.

,n accordance Zith reTuirements of $ustralian Government funding agreements, the 
agency also arranged for financial statements to be audited Zith respect to $ustralian 
Government funded programs.

Outcomes of audits Zere generally satisfactory. $udit findings Zere taNen on board 
by the agency and processes and procedures Zere improved in line Zith audit 
recommendations.

6everal agency internal revieZs and assessments Zere also conducted during the period 
aimed at improving program performance and operational systems and processes.



117DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

Governance PART FOUR

The following tables summarise the external audits and internal reviews undertaken for 
the agency in 2010-11.

TAbLE 36: ExTERnAL AuDITS

AuDIT/REvIEw OuTCOME

Agency Compliance Audit 2010-11

To review the adequacy of the agency’s 
internal controls and compliance with 
the financial management Act and other 
related Acts.

• The audit identified some instances 
where internal procedures and controls 
could be strengthened. All matters 
are progressively being addressed in 
line with agency responses on audit 
recommendations.

Agency End of Financial Year  
Review 2010-11

To review the adequacy of selected 
aspects of end of financial year controls 
over reporting, accounting and material 
financial transactions and balances with 
the primary purpose of providing support 
to the audit of the Treasurer’s Annual 
Financial Statement.

• The audit identified minor incidences of 
deviations from accounting and control 
procedures in relation to year end 
financial processing and some areas 
where corporate governance issues 
could be strengthened.

• To date, the agency has addressed a 
number of audit matters specifically 
relating to accounting control 
procedures.  

• Other findings are progressively 
being addressed in line with agency 
responses on audit recommendations.

Procurement audit on select suppliers 

To ascertain whether the agency entered 
into procurement arrangements for the 
replacement of toner cartridges with a 
select group of vendors known to offer 
inducements to customers in the form of 
gift vouchers and which do not provide 
value for money.

• The audit identified 12 transactions 
entered into by the agency with the 
select group of suppliers. 

• no evidence was identified of any 
inducement or incentive offered to staff 
by any of the suppliers.

Northern Territory Government service 
wide procurement audit 

To ascertain the extent to which cost 
estimates for tenders are reliable and, for 
each procurement transaction selected if 
the appropriate tier activity was properly 
applied.

• The audit identified that for each 
procurement transaction selected the 
appropriate tier activity process was 
properly applied.
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Performance Management  
System Audit

To assess the adeTuacy of the agency’s 
performance management systems to 
enable it to assess the effectiveness, 
efficiency and economy of its operations in 
relation to the stated outcome of µ$ccess 
to safe, sustainable and affordable 
housing for all eligible Territorians’.

� The audit identified significant progress 
has been made to assess outcomes 
for 8rban Public +ousing and 5emote 
Public +ousing but a performance 
management system for Government 
(mployee +ousing Zas still to be 
implemented.

NT Home Ownership – Financial 
Statement Audit end of financial  
year 2009-10

To satisfy the Auditor-General that 
1T +ome OZnership has prepared 
its financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2010 in accordance 
Zith $ustralian $ccounting 6tandards 
and other mandatory financial reporting 
reTuirements.

� The $uditor-General issued an 
unTualified opinion on the audit of the 
financial statements.

NT Home Ownership – Interim Financial 
Statement Audit 2010-11

To satisfy the $uditor-General that +ome 
OZnership has prepared its interim 
financial statements for 2010-11 in 
accordance Zith $ustralian $ccounting 
6tandards and other mandatory financial 
reporting reTuirements.

� The audit identified 1T +ome 
OZnership should revieZ loan 
administration procedures Zith the 
Territory ,nsurance Office.

T$%L( 3�� $8',T6 CO0PL(T(' ,1 $CCO5'$1C( :,T+ L(G,6L$T,9( 
ARRANGEMENTS

PROGRAM PURPOSE O8TCO0(

Jabiru ToZn 'evelopment 
Authority Financial 
6tatement $udit 200�-10

To satisfy the Auditor-
General that the Jabiru 
ToZn 'evelopment 
Authority has prepared its 
financial statements for the 
year ended 30 June 2010 in 
accordance Zith $ustralian 
Accounting Standards and 
other mandatory financial 
reporting reTuirements.

The financial statements 
Zere prepared in 
accordance Zith reporting 
reTuirements.
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nT Grants Commission 
Financial Statement Audit 
2009-10

To satisfy the Auditor-
General that the NT 
Grants Commission has 
prepared its financial 
statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2010 in 
accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and 
other mandatory financial 
reporting requirements. 

The financial statements 
were prepared in 
accordance with reporting 
requirements.

TAbLE 38: AuDITS OF AuSTRALIAn GOvERnMEnT FunDED PROGRAMS

PROGRAM AUDIT PURPOSE FINDINGS STATUS

Aboriginal 
Interpreter Services 
(AIS) - general 
funding agreement

To audit the financial 
acquittal relating to 
the year ended  
30 June 2010. 

The acquittal 
was prepared in 
accordance with 
funding guidelines. 

Completed

AIS – National 
Partnership 
Agreement acquittal 

To audit the financial 
acquittal relating to 
the year ended  
30 June 2010. 

The acquittal 
was prepared in 
accordance with 
funding guidelines. 

Completed

Community 
Development 
Employment 
Projects (CDEP) 
Conversion to 
Northern Territory 
Government Real 
Jobs/Matching 
Indigenous 
Employment 
Program

To audit the financial 
acquittal relating to 
the year ended  
30 June 2010. 

The acquittal 
was prepared in 
accordance with 
funding guidelines. 

Completed

Municipal and 
Essential Services 
to Indigenous Living 
Areas

To audit the financial 
acquittal relating to 
the year ended  
30 June 2010. 

The acquittal 
was prepared in 
accordance with 
funding guidelines.

Completed

Morris Soak 
Ablution block 
Demolition 
Commonwealth 
Agreement

To audit the financial 
acquittal relating to 
the year ended  
30 June 2010. 

The acquittal 
was prepared in 
accordance with 
funding guidelines. 

Completed
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Municipal and 
Essential Services 
C'(P Converted 
Jobs Funding

To audit the financial 
acTuittal for the  
year ended  
30 June 2010. 

The acTuittal 
Zas prepared in 
accordance Zith 
funding guidelines. 

Completed

'evelopment 
Coordinators

To audit the financial 
acTuittal for the  
year ended  
30 June 2010. 

The acTuittal 
Zas prepared in 
accordance Zith 
funding guidelines.

Completed

ShiresNet To audit the financial 
acTuittal for the 
period ended  
31 0ay 2010.

The acTuittal 
Zas prepared in 
accordance Zith 
funding guidelines.

Completed

Local Government 
Financial Assistance 
Act 

To provide an 
audit opinion to 
the Australian 
Government 
0inister by the 
Auditor-General that 
the funding acTuittal 
statement prepared 
by the agency for 
the year ended 30 
June 2010 Zas in 
accordance Zith the 
reTuirements of the 
Local Government 
Financial Assistance 
Act.

The funding 
acTuittal Zas 
prepared in 
accordance Zith the 
$ct.

Completed
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TAbLE 39: InTERnAL REvIEwS

OUTPUT InTERnAL REvIEw PROGRESS/OuTCOME

Agency wide Operational Risk 
Assessment - will inform 
the 2011-12 internal audit 
and review plan, which 
will be developed and 
monitored by the Risk and 
Audit Committee.

Consultant engaged in April 
2011. Review completed 
and recommendations 
implemented.

Review agency Corporate 
Delegations.

Completed review of 
agency procurement 
processes.

Established Procurement 
unit within the agency, 
employed a director and 
arranged for access to 
outsourced expertise from 
Department of business 
Employment Procurement 
Services.

Local Government Review of the effectiveness 
of local boards in shire 
council operation.

Report completed and 
recommendations being 
assessed.

Review of representative 
governance in shire 
councils.

Report completed and 
recommendations being 
assessed.

Review of the October 2008 
shire council elections.

Review completed and final 
report released. Agency 
is progressing a number 
of recommendations 
including reviewing current 
legislative provisions 
relating to employees 
and council membership; 
appropriateness of the 
current preferential voting 
system; and development 
of an election process 
framework to support future 
elections.

Review of elected member 
allowances.

Review completed. new 
structure for setting elected 
member allowances 
introduced.
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5evieZ of local government 
voting system.

Public consultation 
completed. Further e[pert 
consultation continuing 
through 2011-12.

5evieZ council employment 
and membership.

Public consultation 
completed. ,nitial 
consultative revieZ findings 
being considered by 
government.

$nimal :elfare 5evieZ of the Animal 
Welfare Act.

5evieZ completed. 

5ecommendations Zill be 
considered in conMunction 
Zith the findings of 
the $nimal :elfare 
Governance 6ubcommittee 
of the Council for Territory 
Co-operation’s e[amination 
of the $ct, in late 2012. 

Service Delivery and 
Coordination

Commenced $ssessment 
of Governance and 
Community (ngagement 
�$GC(� research proMect 
Zith a vieZ to identify 
future strategies to 
assess and improve 
governance and community 
engagement across 1� 
5emote 6ervice 'elivery 
priority communities in the 
1orthern Territory.

Consultants engaged and 
proMect underZay.
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iNsuRANCE
In accordance with Treasurer’s Directions, the agency and government business division 
are required to report on their mitigation strategies and processes in place to reduce the 
likelihood or severity of their insurable risks.

The agency mostly self-insures. The agency self-insures with regard to indemnities and 
there were no self-insurance claims for 2010-11.

Commercial public liability was procured for the agency’s housing assets at a cost of  
$55 341. In 2010-11 there were no public liability claims.

InSuRAbLE RISk CATEGORy MITIGATION STRATEGIES

workers Compensation • Establishment of OH&S committees has commenced 
in worksites with more than 20 staff.

• An Employee Assistance Program is available to all 
staff and has been proactively communicated across 
the agency.

• work-life balance strategies have been implemented.

Property and Assets • Construction under the agency’s Capital works 
Program is governed by northern Territory 
Government Construction Contracts, ensuring 
contractors and service providers have appropriate 
levels of insurance in place.

• A Repairs and Maintenance (R&M) Program 
is in place for the agency’s property and asset 
management.

• R&M requests are classified as immediate, 
urgent or routine, based on potential or actual 
health, safety and security risks. Immediate 
works are attended to within four hours.

• A process for tenants to report R&M is in place 
and a call centre maintained.

• All immediate works and a percentage of urgent 
and routine works are inspected, following 
completion, to ensure they have been completed 
satisfactorily.

• works to utility services are signed off by 
appropriate licensed tradespersons and 
certificates of compliance are issued where 
applicable.
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Public Liability � Commercial public liability Zas procured for the 
agency’s construction and asset management 
program.

� 1eZ tenants are reTuired to sign a lease�tenancy 
agreement on allocation of a property, Zhich states the 
responsibilities of the tenant and the agency.

� 1eZ tenants are provided Zith ingoing property 
condition report and an information pacN on reporting 
repairs and maintenance.

� Tenancy inspections are conducted as per individual 
lease�tenancy agreement terms and conditions, to 
ensure the property is maintained

,ndemnities � Comprehensive risN assessments conducted, Zith 
appropriate risN management and mitigation strategies 
in place for the duration of the agency’s indemnities.

� The Financial 0anagement $ct and Treasurer’s 
'irections are applied Zith respect to indemnities.
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The agency is responsible for administering 27 pieces of legislation, with 15 Acts and 
12 pieces of subordinate legislation, on behalf of the Minister for Public and Affordable 
Housing and the Minister for Local Government. 

The legislation provides an overarching direction for the many functions the agency 
performs and establishes the foundation to a number of its outputs. The agency also 
has statutory responsibility for certain statutory authorities and bodies, these are listed at 
Appendix 1 – Statutory Authorities and bodies Administered.

The 15 Acts administered by the agency are as follows:
•	 Animal	Welfare	Act

•	 Cemeteries	Act

•	 Crown	Lands	Act	(Section	79)

•	 Darwin	Rates	Act

•	 Housing	Act

•	 Jabiru	Town	Development	Act

•	 Local	Government	Act

•	 Local	Government	Grants	Commission	Act

•	 Local	Government	(Katherine	Rates)	Act

•	 Nudity	Act

•	 Places	of 	Public	Entertainment	Act

•	 Pounds	Act

•	 Status	of 	Darwin	Act

•	 Status	of 	Palmerston	Act

•	 Swimming	Pool	Safety	Act

GOVERNiNG lEGislAtiON
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The agency maintains a consistent marNeting approach that aligns Zith the directions 
set by the 1orthern Territory Government. 4uality control checNs are undertaNen on all 
publications and communication materials, including the agency’s internet site.

2010-11 ACHIEVEMENTS
•	 Media	management: 0anaged proactive and reactive media and issued media 

releases to local, national and international media in relation to agencies activities.
•	 Internet	Site: Launched the agency’s internet site that enhanced our public online 

presence, provides a service focus and is responsive to our staNeholders needs.
•	 Intranet	Site: 5edeveloped the agency’s intranet site to improve staff access to 

essential policies, procedures and information, deliver online training and recognise 
the achievements of the agency and its staff.

•	 Show	displays: 'esigned and managed the annual displays for +ousing the Territory 
and :orNing Future.

•	 Territory	2030: 6upported communication activities under Territory 2030, $ 6afe 
Territory, GroZing the Territory and Territory Together.

•	 Housing	the	Territory	campaign: Provided Zhole of government leadership, 
redeveloped and launched neZ Zebsite and managed communications campaigns 
and activities under +ousing the Territory.  

•	 Johnston	and	Bellamack	ballots	campaign: Supported the Johnston and 
%ellamacN ballots by developing and implementing campaigns including media 
management, promoting Johnston and %ellamacN to potential buyers.

•	 HOMESTART	NT	campaign: 0anaged ongoing communications campaign to inform 
the public about +O0(6T$5T 1T.

•	 Affordable	Housing: 6upport the establishment of the $ffordable +ousing 5ental 
Company and promote the supply of affordable housing and rental options through 
various communication activities.

•	 Remote	housing: 'eveloped a suite of communication materials to support regional 
staff and tenants Zith property and tenancy management including audio booNs, 
storyboards, posters and press advertisements. The audio booNs Zere produced in 1� 
,ndigenous languages.

•	 Public	housing	garden	competition: 0anaged the 2010 competition an annual 
event to encourage public housing tenants to taNe pride in planting and maintaining 
their gardens.

•	 Senior	public	housing	tenants	Christmas	cakes: $n annual event Zhere Territory 
+ousing staff have the opportunity to connect Zith their senior tenants through the 
distribution of Christmas caNes. This year the program Zas e[panded to include 
remote public housing tenants.

CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS
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•	 Working	Future	campaign: Provided whole of government leadership, redeveloped 
and launched new website and managed communications campaigns and activities 
under working Future.

•	 Futures	Forum: Provided event and marketing support for Future Forums 
encouraging local community members to attend and have their say on the future 
development of the Territories Growth Towns.

•	 Local	Implementation	Plans	(LIPs): Designed and published LIPs and factsheets for 
13 Growth Towns and supported the coordination of signing ceremonies. 

•	 Business	and	Economic	Profiles: Designed and published community business and 
economic profiles for three Growth Towns.

•	 Local	Government: Supported local government initiatives and preparations for the 
2012 elections by developing communication strategies and materials.

•	 Aboriginal	Interpreter	Service: Continued to raise the profile of the Aboriginal 
Interpreter Service through the development of promotional merchandise and 
marketing materials and proactive media management.

•	 Indigenous	communications: Provided whole of government leadership in the 
communications targeted at Indigenous Territorians. 

•	 Water	Safety: Supported annual water safety initiatives by managing campaigns 
including Don’t play in pies and drains, Swimming Pool Safety, water Safety 
Awareness Program and water Safety week.

•	 Animal	Welfare: Supported annual animal welfare initiatives by managing campaigns 
for Animal welfare and Animal Hero Awards.

FutuRE pRiORitiEs 2011-12
• Profiling the agency’s achievements
• Territory 2030 Conference – A balanced Housing Market
• Homelessness
• Indigenous Economic Development Forum
• 2012 Local Government Elections
• Housing the Territory and working Future
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$s discussed in Part One of this report, the agency engages Zith a range of staNeholders 
to effectively deliver a diverse range of services to the Territory community. 

To continually improve service delivery, the agency acNnoZledges the importance of 
³staNeholder´ engagement in our core business. The agency achieves this through�

� (stablishing and maintaining effective partnerships Zith Ney staNeholders and 
representative groups.

� 6tructured and coordinated consultation Zith communities on agency and broad 
government initiatives.

� Conduct of regular information and consultative forums.
� (ncouraging establishment of local relationships by supporting regional agency 

capacity.
� 'evelopment and implementation of a customer charter and structured 

communication plans. 

6pecific engagement and consultative activity undertaNen by the agency is presented 
beloZ according to output groups.

TERRITORY HOUSING SERVICES
Remote Indigenous Housing

Housing Reference Groups

+ousing 5eference Groups have been established as the primary model for community 
engagement for all housing related services. 

There are currently a total of �� +ousing 5eference Groups established across the 
Territory, representing �2 communities and toZn camps�community living areas.

0embership is voluntary and consists of a balance of representatives Zithin the 
community Zith different interests, such as� 
� people from different cultural and family groups
� traditional land oZners
� special interest groups, such as people Zho ZorN Zith youth and aged care.

Community engagement has continued for toZn camps and community living areas 
Zhere housing construction is being delivered under the 1ational Partnership $greement 
on 5emote ,ndigenous +ousing and for ongoing property and tenancy management. 

The Tennant CreeN $dvisory %oard is regularly consulted on all housing related activities 
involved Zith Tennant CreeN Community Living $reas. 

COMMUNITY CONSULTATION
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Remote	Rent	Framework	

The Remote Rent Framework was implemented on 1 July 2010 and based on differential 
housing amenity for repaired, refurbished, rebuilt or new houses. Transitioning into 
the new rent framework occurs as houses are completed and tenants sign a tenancy 
agreement under the residential tenancies Act.  At 30 June 2011, 1639 households 
have entered into formal tenancy agreements under the Act.

A suite of communication materials were developed to provide key information to 
Indigenous Territorians in remote communities and to support regional staff and tenants 
with the new rent framework including audio books, storyboards, fact sheets and posters.

The audio books produced in 15 Indigenous languages and plain English, provided an 
interpretation of the looking after your home booklet.  The audio books assist tenancy 
officers explain to tenants what they need to do to keep their home safe, clean and 
healthy.

Urban Public Housing

Territory Housing Complaints and Appeals 

• The rollout of the complaints and appeals mechanism to remote housing and town 
camp clients of Territory Housing commenced in 2010-11.

• Forums have been planned for delivery in 2011-12, to provide quality information, 
assistance and support to the community sector, advocates, housing staff and other 
stakeholders to promote awareness of the complaints and appeals mechanism.

• Strategic planning underway to improve access  and visibility of the complaints and 
appeals mechanism to people residing in regional and remote communities such as 
accessible and multi-media formats which are culturally meaningful, simple and easily 
understood by members of the communities. 

Public information sessions

• Delivered public information sessions on HOMESTART nT throughout Darwin, 
Palmerston, katherine and Alice Springs in May/June 2011, with about 120 attendees. 

lOCAl GOVERNMENt, REGiONAl ANd COMMuNity sERViCEs
Local Government

•	 Local	Advisory	Boards met in all regions and were regularly attended by agency 
staff. Local Advisory boards facilitate community involvement in local government 
issues, and provide the community with an opportunity to express their opinions and 
contribute to the development of local and regional policies.

• The Palumpa	Causeway	Working	Party established by the agency met with 
community representatives approximately every six weeks to progress construction 
of the upgraded causeway. Representatives from the Mutchirr Corporation, traditional 
owners, victoria Daly Shire Council, Australian Government and agency staff also 
participated.
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� The agency met appro[imately every tZo months Zith Bagot	Community 
Incorporated and community members regarding the implementation of the 1orthern 
Territory Government’s election commitment to upgrade services and infrastructure in 
%agot to a similar standard as any other suburb in 'arZin.

� The agency provided support to Coomalie Community Government Council, %elyuen 
Community Government Council, :agait 6hire Council and Litchfield Council to 
complete the initial investigations of local government boundary expansion into 
unincorporated areas.

� $ revieZ of elected member alloZances Zas completed, and conseTuently neZ 
guidelines for the structure and process for setting elected member alloZances 
Zas introduced. The revieZ process commenced during 200�-10, and encouraged 
participation from all local government councils in the 1orthern Territory, the Local 
Government $ssociation of the 1orthern Territory, council residents and ratepayers.

� Further local government consultative revieZs commenced in 2010-11 around the 
folloZing matters� 

� the local government voting system 
� reTuirement for a �100 nomination deposit for local government candidates 
� provisions in the Local Government Act related to council members 

simultaneously being council employees
� procurement provisions in the Local Government �$ccounting� 5egulations. 

Water	Safety	and	Animal	Welfare

� $dministration team consultations�presentations to 5ay :hite 5eal (state and to 
5aine 	 +orne 5eal (state on the Swimming Pool Safety Act and our processes in 
relation to neZ and e[isting pools for pool fencing and safety barrier reTuirements, 
one Zas conducted in June 2011 the other in 0arch 2011. 

� The $nimal :elfare $dvisory Committee �$:$C� advises the 0inister on all issues 
and aspects of animal Zelfare in the 1orthern Territory. The 'irector of the $nimal 
:elfare %ranch �$:%� is the government representative on the committee and the 
0anager of the (ducation unit is the secretariat role on the committee. The $:$C 
meets every three months Zhich has occurred in the 2010-11 period. 

� The 1orthern Territory :ater 6afety $dvisory Council �1T:6$C� advises the 0inister 
on all issues and aspects of Zater safety in the 1orthern Territory. The 'irector of 
the :ater 6afety %ranch is the government representative on the council and the 
0anager of the (ducation unit is the secretariat role on the council. The 1T:6$C  
met every three months in the 2010-11 period.

� 'elivered public education activities and events, including :orld $nimal 'ay, Pets day 
Out, $nimal :elfare $Zareness :eeN, and :ater 6afety :eeN.
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Interpreter and Translator Services

• The Aboriginal Interpreter Service (AIS) engaged in presentations and user training 
to promote the benefits, understanding and use of Aboriginal interpreters.  This 
included engagement primarily with government and non-government organisations 
in providing interpreting services  and recording of messages in local languages to 
broadcast over various media.

• various meetings and workshops were held with interpreters and translators to 
discuss professional issues such as the practitioners’ code of ethics, professional 
development, national accreditation, assignments, fees and payments.

• The Interpreting and Translating Service nT (ITSnT) continued ongoing consultations 
with migrant and refugee communities, government and non-government service 
providers, interpreters and translators to address emerging language needs and the 
skills shortage in the interpreting and translating profession.

• Attended meetings with the following agencies to discuss migrant and refugee 
concerns including language services needs:

• Refugee Support network (Melaleuca Refugee Centre) 
• Multicultural Advisory Forum (Centrelink-Department of Human Services)
• Multicultural Aged Care network (Carers nT and Partners in Culturally 

Appropriate Care - PICAC).  
• networked with migrant and refugee service agencies about sourcing, recruiting and 

training suitable interpreters for new and emerging languages in the community.  

Regional and Indigenous Economic Development

• Facilitated four nT Indigenous Economic Development Taskforce meetings to 
progress business and employment outcomes for Indigenous Territorians.

• Delivered ntaria and ngukurr Future Forums to provide access to updated information 
on programs and services relating to employment and economic development 
opportunities.

• Facilitated four Tanami Regional Partnership Agreement meetings.
• Supported nine regional  economic development committees.

ExtERNAl bOARds ANd COMMittEEs
National bodies

• Animal Ethics Committee – State Regulators working Group
• Animal welfare Code Liaison Group
• Animal welfare Council
• Australia and new Zealand Companion Animal working Group
• Australian Standards Committee (as 1926 Swimming Pool Safety)
• board of the national Accreditation Authority for Translators and Interpreters
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� Child Protection ,ncome 0anagement :orNing Group
� Council of $ustralian Governments ± ,ndigenous 5eform :orNing Group
� Criminal Court 8ser Group �0agistrates Court�
� +omelessness and +ousing Policy 5esearch :orNing Group
� +ousing and +omelessness $dvisory Group
� +ousing and +omelessness ,nformation 0anagement Group
� +ousing 6upply and $ffordability 5eform :orNing Party
�  +ousing 0inisters’ $dvisory Committee
� ,ndigenous 5eform Coordination 6ub-Group
� Joint :orNing Group on ,ndigenous 6ettlements
� Local Government and Planning Joint Officers’ Group
� 0inisterial Council $boriginal and Torres 6trait ,slander $ffairs
� 1ational ,ndigenous 5eform $greement :orNing Group
� 1ational ,ndigenous 5eform $greement Performance ,nformation 0anagement 

Group
� 1ational Local Government Finance 0anagers’ Forum
� 1ational :ater 6afety $dvisory Council
� 1ot for Profit +ousing 6ector 'evelopment 6ub-Group
� Overarching %ilateral ,mplementation Plan Governance Committee
� Overcoming ,ndigenous 'isadvantage :orNing Group
� 5efugee 6upport 1etZorN
� 5isN $ssessment, 0easurement and 0itigation 6ubcommittee �of the 1ational 

(mergency and 'isaster Committee�
� 6tanding Committee on $boriginal and Torres 6trait ,slander $ffairs
� 8rban and 5egional 6ervice 'elivery 6trategy 6ubcommittee
� :orNing Group on ,ndigenous 5eform

Northern Territory bodies

� $lcohol 5eference Group
�  $lcohol 5eform :orNing Group
� $lice 6prings $ccommodation $ction Group Committee
� $lice 6prings Counter 'isaster Committee
� $lice 6prings Counter 'isaster :elfare Committee
� $lice 6prings (conomic 'evelopment Committee
� $lice 6prings ,nteragency TasNing Coordination Group �,TCG�
� $lice 6prings ProMect Control Group �6,+,P�
� $lice 6prings 5egional Coordination Committee
� $lice 6prings Transformation Plan ± Joint 6teering Committee
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• Animal welfare Advisory Committee
• Anmatjere Economic Development Committee
•  big Rivers Regional Coordination Committee
• borroloola Interagency Meeting
• borroloola Steering Committee
• borroloola women’s Council
• building a better Future for young Territorians
• Closing the Gap Coordination Group
• Community Helping and Information network
• Community Safety working Group
• Counter Disaster welfare Group (Darwin)
• Daly River Management Advisory Committee
• Domestic violence network
• Early Childhood Steering Committee
• East Arnhem Counter Disaster Committee
• East Arnhem Economic Development Committee
• East Arnhem Regional Coordination Committee
• East Arnhem Regional Harmony Group
• Garma Steering Committee
• Government Employee Housing Interdepartmental Reference Group
• Growth Town Economic Development Team wadeye
• Growth Towns Infrastructure Delivery Committee
• Gulf Economic Development Committee
• Healing Pathways Steering Committee
• Housing Payments Deductions Scheme working Party
• Indigenous Affairs Advisory Council
• Indigenous Consultative Council - Department of Justice
• Indigenous Economic Development Taskforce
• Industry Reference Group
• Interagency Case Management
• Interagency Collaboration Panel
• Interagency Tasking and Coordination Group
• Jabiru Town Development Authority
• katherine Accommodation Action Group
• katherine Economic Development Committee
• katherine Interagency Tasking and Coordination Group
• katherine Regional Counter Disaster Planning Committee
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� .atherine <outh ,nteragency TasNing and Coordination Group
� Local Government $ccounting $dvisory Committee
� Local Government �$dministration and Legislation� $dvisory Committee
� 0c$rthur 5iver 0ining Community %enefit Trust
� 0ission $ustralia  service provider 
� 1hulunbuy Cemetery Committee
� 1hulunbuy ToZn %oard
� 1itmiluN �.atherine Gorge� 1ational ParN %oard
� 1orth $ustralian $boriginal Justice $gency %oard
� 1orthern Territory Council of 6ocial 6ervices 1etZorN
� 1orthern Territory Criminal Court 8sers’ Group
� 1orthern Territory Grants Commission
� 1orthern Territory 5egional $dvisory Committee for the 1ational $ccreditation 

Authority of Translators and Interpreters
� 1orthern Territory 6ettlement Planning Committee �1T +ousing 6ubcommittee�
� 1orthern Territory :ater 6afety $dvisory Council
� 1T Government Chief ,nformation Committee
� 1T Government Chief ,nformation Officers’ Forum
� Ord 5iver 6tage ,, ,nterdepartmental Committee
� Patrol 1etZorN Group
� Palumpa ,nter $gency Forum
� Police 6teering Committee
� Pools in 5emote $reas 6teering Group
� 5io Tinto $lcan TasN Force
� 6ocial 5esponsibility 6ubcommittee of Chief ([ecutives
� 6tatistical Liaison Committee
� 6trategic ,ndigenous +ousing and ,nfrastructure Program ± Joint 6teering 

Committee
� 6trategic ,ndigenous +ousing and ,nfrastructure Program ± 6trategic $lliance 

Leadership Committee
� Tennant CreeN $dvisory %oard
� Tennant CreeN (conomic 'evelopment Committee
� Tennant CreeN Foundation
� TiZi ,slands (conomic 'evelopment Committee
� 9ictoria 5iver (conomic 'evelopment Committee
� :adeye ,nter $gency Forum
� :est 0ac'onnell (conomic 'evelopment Committee



CONTRIBUTION TO GOVERNMENT STRATEGIES 
PART FIVE

Outlines how key government strategies and partnership arrangements affects 
the agency and details the agency’s performance in 2010-11 against them.  
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The agency’s strategic goals and structure is designed to deliver the agency’s 
responsibilities and obligations under a number of Northern Territory Government policy 
frameworks, strategies and partnership agreements with the Australian Government. 

nortHern territorY government strategies
The below Northern Territory Government policy frameworks and strategies are guided 
by the overarching Territory 2030 strategy. 

The Territory 2030 strategy is a 20-year strategic plan for the Northern Territory. 
Developed in consultation with the Northern Territory community the strategy sets out 
priorities to guide government efforts over the next two decades.

territorY 2030

•	 education

•	 society

•	 economic	sustainability

•	 health	and	wellbeing

•	 the	environment

•	 	knowledge,	creativity	and	
innovation

Agency lead:

•	 Housing	the	Territory

•	 Working	Future

Agency contributes to:

•	 Growing	the	Territory

•	 A	Safe	Territory

•	 Greening	the	Territory

national strategies and agreements
The	agency	makes	significant	contributions	to	the	following	strategic	policy	and	
partnerships between the Northern Territory and Australian governments:

•	 National	Affordable	Housing	Agreement

•	 National	Partnership	Agreement	on	Social	Housing	

•	 National	Partnership	Agreement	on	Building	and	Jobs	Plan	(Social	Housing)

•	 National	Partnership	Agreement	on	Homelessness	

•	 National	Partnership	Agreement	on	Remote	Indigenous	Housing

•	 	National	Partnership	Agreement	to	Support	Local	Government	and	Regional	
Development

•	 National	Partnership	Agreement	on	Remote	Service	Delivery

•	 National	Partnership	Agreement	on	Closing	the	Gap

•	 National	Indigenous	Reform	Agreement	

agenCY’s Contribution
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The table below shows how the agency’s strategic goals are aligned to contributed to  
key Northern Territory Government strategies and Australian Government agreements.

T$%L( �0� .(< 1O5T+(51 T(55,TO5< GO9(510(1T 6T5$T(G,(6 $1' 
1$T,O1$L P$5T1(56+,P $G5((0(1T6

T2030 T$5G(T6 +TT :F NPA

Improve 
access to 
safe secure 
appropriate 
and 
affordable 
housing.

SOCIETY � $ffordable 
+ousing 

� 6ocial +ousing 
� %uilding and 

Jobs Plan 
�6ocial +ousing�

� +omelessness 
� 5emote 

Indigenous 
+ousing 

The Territory offers affordable and 
appropriate housing that meets the varying 
needs of Territorians.
� ,mprove access to 

accommodation: by 2030 every 
Territorian will have access to 
appropriate accommodation.

� $ balanced housing marNet 
offering good value for money 
and affordability, ultimately 
becoming one of Australia’s 
most affordable housing 
markets, across all market 
segments.

Strong 
regions, 
communities 
and local 
governments.

Investing in and valuing our people, cultures 
and communities.

� 6upport Local 
Government 
and Regional 
Development

� 5emote 6ervice 
Delivery 

� Closing the Gap 
� ,ndigenous 

Reform

� %y 2030, residents of the 20 
Growth Towns will enj oy all 
normal facilities and services 
prevailing in other regional 
centres in Australia of a similar 
siz e.

� ,mprove ,ndigenous employment 
rates. 

ECONOMIC SUSTAINABILITY

Investment and infrastructure.
� 'evelop economic infrastructure 

in Territory Growth Towns.
Cutting edge businesses.
� ,ncrease ,ndigenous�

non-Indigenous business 
partnerships.

+TT +ousing the Territory
:F :orNing Future
NPA National Partnership Agreements
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territorY 2030
As	shown	in	Table	40	the	agency	is	responsible	for	six	targets	under	the	Territory	2030	
strategy. Detailed below is the agency’s performance against these targets.

Society

TARGET AGeNCy	ReLATeD	ACTIoNS

Improve access to accommodation:  
by 2030 every Territorian will have 
access to appropriate accommodation.

•	 Reduce	the	percentage	of	Territorians 
‘sleeping rough’.

•	 Reduce	waiting	times	for	public	housing.
•	 Increase	the	percentage	of	rental	stock	

allocated for social housing.
•	 Reduce	the	number	of	Territorians	

being turned away from supported 
accommodation services for people 
who are homeless or who are escaping 
domestic and family violence.

•	 Average	occupancy	per	remote	dwelling	
to be reduced by 2018, and achieve two 
people per bedroom by 2030.

•	 Complete	delivery	of	the	current	
Strategic	Indigenous	Housing	and	
Infrastructure	Program	(SIHIP)	by	2013.

•	 Develop	an	ongoing	program	for	
delivery of remote housing beyond 
SIHIP	by	2012.

2010-11 Agency Achievements

Public housing

•	 Conducted	a	rough	sleeper	headcount	and	survey	in	the	Darwin/Palmerston	region	to	
better understand patterns and reasons people are sleeping rough.

•	 Contributed	to	a	future	reduction	in	public	housing	waiting	times	through	increasing	
public housing stock with the: 

•	 completion	of	34	new	public	housing	dwellings
•	 construction	of	a	new	40-unit	Seniors	village	at	Bellamack	(95%	complete)
•	 preparation	for	the	construction	of	a	18-unit	Seniors	village	at	Larapinta	in	 

Alice	Springs.	
•	 Provided	tenancy	support	program	services	throughout	the	Territory	via	Territory	

Housing	and	non-government	organisations,	to	maximise	public	housing	tenancy	
sustainability and prevent further homelessness.

Contributions to nortHern territorY 
government strategies



140 DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

Contribution to Government Strategies PART FIV E

Managed accommodation, short term and transitional accommodation

� 6ignificant achievements have been made in provision of more short-term and 
transitional accommodation options for Territorians in 'arZin and $lice 6prings. The 
folloZing presents specific proMects the agency contributed to. Further information is 
presented under the 1ational Partnership $greement on +omelessness in this part of 
the Annual Report.

New management accommodation 
development Catherine %ooth +ouse 
opened in May 2010.

T$%L( �1� O9(59,(: OF 0$1$G(' $CCO00O'$T,O1 '(9(LOP0(1T6

T<P( OF 
'(9(LOP0(1T LOC$T,O1 TARGET GROUP 6(59,C( P5O9,'(5

1�0 neZ bed facility $lice 6prings, 
Len Little 'rive

6hort-term 
accommodation for 
visitors to town.

$boriginal +ostels 
Limited

18 refurbished units $lice 6prings, 
6outh Terrace

6upported, 
short-term 
accommodation, 
for homeless single 
men and women 
and families. 

$boriginal +ostels 
Limited

28 new units $lice 6prings, 
Percy Court

6upported, 
transitional 
accommodation, for 
homeless. 

Mission Australia

8 new units $lice 6prings, 
Goyder 6treet

6upported, 
transitional 
accommodation for 
homeless men.

6alvation $rmy
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35	room	hostel	
reburbishment

Alice	Springs,	 
Bath	Street

Managed, 
short-term 
accommodation 
for visitors to town, 
especially medical 
treatment.

Aboriginal	Hostels	
Limited.	

12 new units Darwin, 
Crerar	Road

Supported,	
transitional 
accommodation for 
women and children 
escaping family 
violence.

Anglicare NT

8 new units Darwin,  
Patterson	Street

Short-term,	
managed 
accommodation for 
women and children 
escaping family 
violence. 

Darwin Aboriginal 
and Islander 
Women’s	Shelter	
(DAIWS)

12 refurbished units Darwin, 
Crerar	Road

Transitional, 
supported 
accommodation 
for homeless, 
particularly women.

Salvation	Army

20 new units Darwin, 
Dick	Ward	Drive

Transitional, 
supported 
accommodation for 
homeless people. 

St	vincent	De	Paul

63 rooms 
refurbished & 
additional	15	x	1	
bedrooms, and  
1 x 2 & 3 bedroom 
dwellings 

Darwin Short-term	
accommodation

ymCA

Refurbishment katherine,	 
Acacia Drive

Managed 
accommodation 

kalano	Association

Remote Housing

•	 Significant	construction	continued	in	remote	Indigenous	communities	and	community	
living	areas	with	257	new	houses,	and	1248	refurbishments	and	rebuilds	completed	
in remote communities across the Northern Territory under the National Partnership 
Agreement	on	Remote	Indigenous	Housing	(NPA	RIH)	which	incorporates	SIHIP	and	
funding provided by the Northern Territory Government. 
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TARGET $G(1C< 5(L$T(' $CT,O16

A balanced housing market offering 
good value for money and affordability, 
ultimately becoming one of Australia’s 
most affordable housing markets, 
across all market segments.

� ,ncrease home oZnership among  
all Territorians.

2010-11 Agency Achievements

� $ssisted 113 neZ home oZners to purchase their oZn home, under the +O0(6T$5T 
NT program, spending $ 33 million in loans, fee assistance assistance and shared 
eq uity investment.

� (nabled greater access to home oZner ship for loZ to middle income earners, through 
the introduction of higher caps on purchasing and means testing in the +O0(6T$5T 
NT home loan program from April 2011.

� Facilitated the purchase of 30 affordable housing initiatives in Johnston and 
%ellamacN. 



143DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

Contribution to Government Strategies PART FIVE

TARGET AGeNCy	ReLATeD	ACTIoNS

By 2030 residents of the Territory 
Growth Towns will enjoy all normal 
facilities and services prevailing in 
other regional centres in Australia of  
a similar size.

•	 By	2010,	develop	an	agreed	list	of	
expected facilities and establish a 
timeline and associated targets for their 
introduction into the Growth Towns.

2010-11 Agency Achievements

•	 Australian	and	Northern	Territory	governments,	working	closely	with	shire	councils	and	
communities,	have	developed	Local	Implementation	Plans	(LIPs)	for	15	Growth	Towns	
also	identified	as	priority	sites	under	the	National	Partnership	Agreement	on	Remote	
Service	Delivery	(NPA	RSD).

•	 The	LIPs	include	an	agreed	list	of	expected	facilities	and	services	within	communities,	
and identify responsible parties and time frames for achieving agreed priorities. 

•	 By	June	2011,	13	of	the	15	NPA	RSD	LIPs	had	been	formally	signed	by	all	
stakeholders at signing ceremonies in communities. Implementation of actions 
identified	in	these	LIPs	is	well	underway	and	progress	is	published	quarterly	in	the	
Northern	Territory	Coordinator	General	for	Remote	Services	progress	reports.	

Members of the Numbulwar community 
signing	their	Local	Implementation	Plan.
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TARGET $G(1C< 5(L$T(' $CT,O16

Improve Indigenous employment rates. � +alve the gap in employment outcomes 
between Indigenous and non-
Indigenous Australians by 2018, and 
eq uivalent rates of participation  
by 2030.

2010-11 Agency Achievements

� The 1ational Partnership $greement on 5emote ,ndigenous +ousing incorporating 
6trategic ,ndigenous +ousing and ,nfrastructure Program �6,+,P� continues to provide 
significant employment and training opportunities for ,ndigenous people across 
the Territory. 3� per cent of the 6,+,P ZorNforce at 30 June 2011 Zas ,ndigenous 
�amounting to appro[imately 2�0 people�. 

� 6ince commencement the program has employed appro[imately 1100 ,ndigenous 
people, leaving a legacy of construction related skills in communities often used in 
local repairs and maintenance programs. 

� ,n 2010-11, the ,ndigenous %usiness 'evelopment Program provided �0.� million 
in grant assistance to 2� ,ndigenous businesses contributing to the support of �3 
Indigenous j obs in Indigenous enterprises.

� To ensure continuity of employment opportunities beyond the cessation of the 
$ustralian Government’s Community 'evelopment (mployment Program �C'(P� 
conversion to real Mobs after 30 June 2011, the 1orthern Territory Government 
committed ��.� million per year for three years to support up to �00 positions. 

� Funding Zas also provided to outstation and homelands resource centres to support 
130 positions to transfer from C'(P to paid employment.
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Economic Sustainability

TARGET $G(1C< 5(L$T(' $CT,O16

Develop economic infrastructure in 
Territory Growth Towns.

� %y 2010, undertaNe place-based 
studies of the economic potential of 
designated towns and the key gaps.

� (ncourage the $ustralian Government 
to implement tax incentives to establish 
businesses by 2011.

� %y 2012, in partnership Zith traditional 
owners and the private sector, construct 
10 new commercial hubs.

2010-11 Agency Achievements

� The first %usiness and (conomic Opportunities Profile Zas launched for 1guNurr in 
$ugust 2010. Three other profiles Zere completed by 30 June 2011, and are aZaiting 
community sign off before publication.

� To facilitate private investment and conseTuent improved employment opportunities in 
remote communities, the agency prepared and submitted a tax incentive proposal to 
the Australian Government in 2010. The Australian Government has since indicated it 
prefers to pursue alternative options. 

� The agency completed preparatory ZorN on the development of a Government 
%usiness Centre �or commercial hubs� Zith the 'epartment of %usiness and 
(mployment on the pilot site in :urrumiyanga on the TiZi ,slands. 

  

<irrNala Profile %usiness and (conomic 
Opportunities.



146 DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

Contribution to Government Strategies PART FIV E

TARGET $G(1C< 5(L$T(' $CT,O16

Increase Indigenous/non-Indigenous 
business partnerships.

� ,ncrease the number of ,ndigenous 
tourism hubs

� ,ncrease the number of neZ ,ndigenous 
j oint-venture businesses.

� ,ncrease the taNe-up of the ,ndigenous 
%usiness 'evelopment Program.

2010-11 Agency Achievements

� 'istributed ��00 000 to support 2� ,ndigenous businesses and organisations under 
the ,ndigenous %usiness 'evelopment Fund in�

� 'arZin ² �1�0 000 �eight organisations�
� %ig 5ivers �.atherine, 5oper Gulf and 9ictoria 'aly� ² �1�0 000  

�eight organisations�
� $rnhem ² ��� 000 �five organisations�
� %arNly ² ��� 000 �tZo organisations�
� Central $ustralia ² ��� 000 �three organisations� 

� Grants Zere made for a range of ventures including a mobile outdoor cinema, tourism, 
commercial garden contracting, arts, hospitality franchise and a recruitment and 
human resources service.
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HOUSING THE TERRITORY 
+ousing the Territory is aimed at achieving balance in housing in the Territory. ,t includes 
four themes:
� land to groZ
� neZ places to buy
� neZ places to rent
� neZ public housing.

Land to Grow

This initiative involves accelerated land release by the Northern Territory Government 
to facilitate growth and development in maj or centres. It is driven by the Territory 
Government’s 'epartment of Lands and Planning. 

F,G85( �� O9(59,(: OF L$1' '(9(LOP0(1T ,1 '$5:,1 5(G,O1
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New Places to Buy

+O0(6T$5T 1T is a financial assistance scheme designed to help loZ to middle 
income Territorians buy their own home at an affordable price. In 2010-11 the scheme 
assisted 113 households in purchasing their own home. 

In April 2011 limits on purchase price and means testing increased providing more low 
to middle income earners access to appro[imately �0 per cent of the property marNet 
without investing more than 30 per cent of their income in repayments.

New Places to Rent

Affordable Housing Rental Company (AHRC): The $+5C Zill operate as a non-
government entity that provides q uality and affordable rental housing to medium and low 
income Territorians, in the segment between the public and private housing markets. 
The $+5C Zill rent affordable dZellings at costs beloZ marNet value to eligible tenants. 
Preparatory ZorN for the establishment of the $+5C Zas completed in 2010-11, Zith the 
actual establishment of the $+5C anticipated in early 2011-12. 

Wirrina Development: 5edevelopment at :irrina in 'arZin commenced, Zith progress 
estimated at appro[imately 10� at 30 June 2011. Construction is e[pected to be 
complete by mid 2012.

The $ustralian Government provided �13.� million toZards the proMect under the 1ational 
Partnership $greement on 1ation %uilding and Jobs Plan �1P$ 1%JP�. The development 
Zill include �� Tuality affordable and public rental units, including ten for seniors. The 
remainder of the units will be privately tenured. 

New Public Housing

The agency is addressing changing clients’ needs, relating to people getting older, 
family siz es changing and a greater need for more single person accommodation, by 
implementing additional strategies that deviate from the traditional public housing model. 
To this end, 1� per cent of all neZ land releases is set aside for affordable and social 
housing to help more Territorians into home ownership and public housing. 

8nder the 1P$ 1%JP, government has committed to ���.� million for neZ social housing 
�incorporating public housing and other short term and transitional housing units� over 
two stages:
� Stage One: ��.1 million for 22 dZellings Zhich have noZ been completed.
� Stage Two: ���.� million for 1�� dZellings. Thirty four public housing dZellings 

completed in 2010-11. :irrina development, and %ellamacN 6eniors 9illage also 
commenced. In addition other developments in managed accommodation were 
completed under this investment.
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More managed and supported accommodation

In	2010-11,	the	agency	has	made	significant	in-roads	to	achieving	greater	short-term	and	
supported accommodation options, through construction of new facilities, refurbishment 
of existing facilities, and working with the non-government sector to manage these 
facilities and provide services on government’s behalf. 

Significant	investment	through	the	NPA	NBJP	has	increased	availability	and	access	to	
short-term	and	transitional	accommodation	facilities	across	the	Territory,	with	500	beds	
made available to vulnerable Territorians. The primary targets for these facilities include:
•	 homeless	Territorians	(men,	women	,	children	and	families)
•	 Territorians	at	risk	of	homelessness
•	 Territorians	escaping	domestic	violence
•	 Territorians	requiring	short-term	accommodation	to	access	medical	services
•	 	Territorians	requiring	support	to	acquire	and	maintain	longer-term	accommodation	

options.

Further information on managed and supported accommodation services and facilities is 
provided	under	the	National	Partnership	Agreement	on	Homelessness	later	in	this	part	of	
the report. 

More Public Housing

Despite	the	shift	in	focus	of	social	housing	delivery	to	a	more	innovative	community/
sector-wide	model,	Northern	Territory	Government	continues	its	significant	commitment	
and investment into maintaining and improving its traditional public housing model. 

Consistent	with	this	investment,	the	agency	is	continuing	its	three-year	commitment	to	
the	construction	of	150	new	dwellings	in	Alice	Springs	and	Darwin.	

Seniors Housing

In response to the Territory’s aging population, agency is increasing its capacity to cater 
for older Territorians seeking housing assistance by increasing senior accommodation 
options. In 2010-11:

•	 construction	commenced	on	the	Larapinta	Seniors	village	(18	units)	in	Alice	
Springs

•	 construction	contract	awarded	and	works	commenced	on	the	40	unit	Seniors	
village	at	Bellamack.

Remote Housing

Improving housing for Indigenous Territorians in remote communities is a key focus 
of	the	agency	through	Remote	Housing	NT	supported	under	the	National	Partnership	
Agreement	on	Remote	Indigenous	Housing.
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WORKING FUTURE
The agency leads the implementation of the 1orthern Territory Government’s :orNing 
Future, in partnership with other relevant stakeholders.  

:orNing Future has si[ parts�
� Territory GroZth ToZns
� Outstations and +omelands
� 5emote 6ervice 'elivery
� (mployment and (conomic 'evelopment
� 5emote Transport 6trategy
� Closing the Gap Targets and (valuation.

F,G85( 10� 1O5T+(51 T(55,TO5< 5(G,O16
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Territory Growth Towns

A	key	component	of	the	Territory	Growth	Towns	initiative	is	the	development	of	Local	
Implementation	Plans	(LIPs).	LIPs	set	out	the	priorities	that	have	been	agreed	with	each	
community and include targets, actions, success measures and timelines for achieving 
these priorities. 

LIPs	for	the	15	Territory	Growth	Towns,	also	identified	as	National	Partnership	Agreement	
on	Remote	Service	Delivery	(NPA	RSD)	priority	locations,	were	formally	agreed	by	the	
Northern	Territory	Government	on	2	November	2010.	Thirteen	of	the	fifteen	LIPs	were	
formally	signed	by	all	stakeholders	at	community	signing	ceremonies	by	June	2011.	
Implementation	of	actions	identified	in	these	LIPs	is	well	underway.	The	development	of	
LIPs	for	the	Territory	Growth	Towns	not	identified	within	the	NPA	RSD	is	now	progressing.

Homelands and Outstations

Through	a	Working	Future	(including	commitments	in	LIPs),	the	Territory	Government	is:	
•	 Working	to	achieve	improved	and	more	transparent	service	delivery,	in	close	

cooperation with service providers and residents of homelands.
•	 Working	with	residents	and	traditional	owners	of	homelands	to	implement	economic	

development initiatives to create jobs on country and ensure ongoing sustainability of 
homeland communities.

•	 Working	with	residents	and	traditional	owners	of	homelands	to	put	in	place	effective	
and	cost	efficient	infrastructure	management	processes	on	homelands.

•	 Working	with	service	providers	and	businesses	to	maximise	access	to	services	by	
residents of homelands.

Remote Service Delivery

The	agency	made	significant	headway	in	establishing	secure	land	tenure	in	key	
communities	during	2010-11,	with	housing	leases	secured	at	Lajamanu,	Ntaria	
(Hermannsburg)	and	Daly	River.	Importantly,	template	leases	enabling	security	of	tenure	
for	Territory	Government	infrastructure	are	almost	complete.	The	Central	and	Northern	
land councils undertook consultations with traditional owners on the template leases over 
government infrastructure in Territory Growth Towns, and achieved agreement in principle 
to grant such leases from traditional owners at these consultations.

The agency is improving the coordination of government services in remote communities 
through	the	undertaking	a	Single	Government	Shopfront	project,	which	is	currently	in	
the planning and scoping phase. A business model has been developed to facilitate 
and deliver a range of government and potentially non-government services through a 
‘single or shared front counter’ model in remote areas. It is a scalable model that could 
potentially operate out of existing growth town accommodation or, at the other end of 
the	scale,	result	in	a	full	Government	Business	Centre	with	both	government	and	retail	
services operating in a ‘town precinct’ like model. 

An integral component to ensuring quality administration of government services 
in remote locations is the provision of appropriate accommodation for government 
employees in these locations. In 2010-11, the agency completed 68 dwellings across the 
Territory to assist facilitate remote government initiatives. 
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Employment and Economic Development

$s part of a :orNing Future, the 1orthern Territory Government is tacNling five Ney areas 
to boost Indigenous employment: 

1. increasing the number of Indigenous people in existing remote area j obs

2.  growing the number of j obs in remote areas to create additional Indigenous 
employment

3. improving and simplifying pathways to employment

�. providing motivation, incentives and support to stay in a Mob

�. providing opportunities for remote ,ndigenous people to build Zealth.

2010-11 Achievements:

� 8nder the 1ational $greement Partnership of 5emote ,ndigenous +ousing 3� per cent 
of the 6,+,P ZorNforce at 30 June 2011 Zas ,ndigenous �amounting to appro[imately 
2�0 people�. 6ince commencement the program has employed appro[imately 1100 
Indigenous people, leaving a legacy of construction related skills in communities often 
used in local repairs and maintenance programs. 

� Continuation of the 6hire 0atching Grants for ,ndigenous employment, Zhich has 
seen in e[cess of ��0 million supporting real ,ndigenous Mobs in local government over 
the past three years.

� PoZer and :ater Corporation achieving �0 per cent ,ndigenous employment 
outcomes in its remote contracts totalling ��.� million per annum.

� ,ncreasing the number of people ZorNing as ,ndigenous rangers, either in the Territory 
ParNs and :ildlife 6ervice or in ,ndigenous land management organisations, to more 
than 600 persons.

� 6teady increase in the ,ndigenous employment proportions across the 1orthern 
Territory Public 6ervice �noZ at �.2 per cent at 2010-11 to achieve a target of 10 per 
cent�.

� Conducting an annual census of employers �both public and private� in Territory 
GroZth ToZns to measure ,ndigenous employment in these locations. Profiles for 
Territory Growth Towns are developed for each town based on the census results.

� Continuing to ZorN Zith mining, pastoral, tourism and agricultural sectors on industry 
Indigenous employment programs with an emphasis on remote populations. This 
includes the ,ndigenous Training for (mployment Program �,T(P�, Zhich has funded 
�� proMects across regional and remote areas of the Territory Zith 1232 separate 
opportunities provided for Indigenous Territorians to achieve employment outcomes in 
2010-11. The program is led by the 'epartment of %usiness and (mployment.
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Remote Transport Strategy

The	Northern	Territory	Integrated	Regional	Transport	Strategy	was	finalised	in	2010-11.	
Initiatives	underway	include	bus	trials	in	Gove	Peninsula,	Central	Australia,	and	in	Gulf	
region of Roper Gulf; and community transport planning workshops. Government has 
also committed $6.2 million over three years from 2010-11 to improve freight vessel 
handling and storage facilities at a number of coastal barge landings. The Department of 
Lands	and	Planning	are	the	lead	agency	for	this	initiative.	

Closing the Gap Targets and Evaluation

	As	part	of	Working	Future,	the	agency	plans,	monitors	and	reports	on	progress	against	
seven	key	building	blocks	endorsed	by	Council	of	Australian	Governments	(CoAG):	
early	Childhood,	Schooling,	Health,	economic	Development,	Healthy	Homes,	Safe	
Communities,	Governance	and	Leadership.	LIPs	include	performance	indicators	that	are	
agreed	by	key	stakeholders	and	which	integrate	with	these	CoAG	targets.	

groWing tHe territorY 
Regions

The growth of the Northern Territory economy is associated with the successful 
development of our regions, with Indigenous business development vital for strong 
regional economies.

To assist the development and coordination of improved economic outcomes in regional 
areas, the agency:
•	 Administers	an	Indigenous	Business	Development	Program	providing	$600	000	per	

annum in grants to kick start and grow Indigenous business throughout the Territory. 
In	2010-11,	the	agency	granted	$0.5	million	in	funding	to	26	Indigenous	businesses	
under this scheme 2010-11 grant recipients are included in the Appendices.

•	 Facilitates	regional	coordination	of	economic	activity	through	continued	support	of	nine	
economic	Development	Committees	established	throughout	the	regions.	Committees	
are formed around communities of interest and are facilitated by the agency in: 

•	 The	Gulf
•	 Timber	Creek
•	 katherine
•	 Tiwi	Islands
•	 east	Arnhem
•	 Tennant	Creek
•	 Anmatjere
•	 macDonnell
•	 Alice	Springs.

•	 Provides	funding	to	support	regional	economic	growth	through	the	Regional	economic	
Development Fund. In 2010-11 this supported 12 regional organisations at a cost of 
$260 000. Details of the program are included in the Appendices. 
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BUILDING SAFER COMMUNITIES
As a contributing agency to this government strategy, the agency promotes safety and 
welfare of Territorians from those in need of accommodation to improving water safety for 
young Territorians.

Priority Area: Children and Young People

The %oard of ,nTuiry into the Child Protection 6ystem in the 1orthern Territory completed 
its inTuiry into the Child Protection 6ystem in the 1orthern Territory and submitted a 
report to the Chief 0inister in October 2010. The agency has senior representation on 
key groups established from its recommendations, including: 

� the Chief ([ecutives Child Protection TasNforce
� the Child 6afety and :ellbeing 'irectors 1etZorN 
� the Child 6afety and Legislative 5eform 5eference Group.

The agency collaborates Zith other agencies through forums such as the Community 
6afety :orNing Group and the 5emote 6ervice 'elivery 6ubcommittee.

The agency also promotes safety and welfare of the Territory’s young population through 
the 8nder � :ater 6afety $Zareness Program Zhich continued through  
2010-11, providing free Zater safety lessons for children aged under five and their 
parents and guardians in urban, rural and remote areas. Further, agency staff inspected 
�30 neZ properties and offered advice on pool or spa safety, and issued  
1100 certificates of compliance, including provisional compliance certificates under the 
Swimming Pool Safety Act.

Priority Area: Preventing Violence – Protecting Territorians

Territory +ousing’s core business is the provision of safe, secure and affordable housing 
to Territorians most in need. ,n achieving this, Territory +ousing taNes incidents of 
antisocial behaviour in public housing properties seriously and has introduced a number 
of initiatives to ensure Territorians can enj oy their residences without experiencing anti-
social behaviour originating from public housing properties.

Territory +ousing employs a variety of techniTues to manage antisocial behaviour in 
public housing. It maintains a policy that tenants must treat neighbours in a reasonable 
manner and not permit anti-social behaviour at their property. This responsibility extends 
to monitoring the behaviour of their visitors. 

Four specialist $ntisocial %ehaviour ,nvestigators �$%,s� are employed �three in the 
'arZin 5egion and one in $lice 6prings ± providing support in other regions as reTuired�. 
These specialist officers are trained to respond TuicNly to serious incidents of antisocial 
behaviour. 
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ABIs	provide	an	important	conduit	between	the	agency	and	neighbours	of	public	housing	
tenants	affected	by	anti-social	behavior.	In	2010-11,	ABIs	investigated	307	tenancies	
following complaints of antisocial behaviour made to the agency. Methods used by the 
ABIs	to	mitigate	incidences	of	antisocial	behaviour	in	appropriate	cases,	include:	
•	 encouragement	of	tenants	with	issues	of	anti-social	behavior	to	enter	into	Acceptable 

Behaviour Agreements (ABA).	ABAs	are	voluntary	agreements	entered	into	by	
tenants, and are effective in abating low-level incidents of anti-social behaviour 
generally	lasting	for	a	period	of	three	months.	In	2010-11,	89	ABAs	were	entered	into	
by	Territory	Housing	tenants.

•	 Issuing	of	Notices to Remedy	–	typically	are	issued	for	more	serious	incidences	of	
antisocial behaviour. They constitute a more formal process than than the voluntary 
ABAs,	and	are	often	a	precursor	to	formal	termination	processes	should	they	fail	to	
remedy	or	adequately	address.	In	2010-11,	34	notices	were	issued.	

•	 Termination	of	tenancies	–	last	resort	following	investigations	into	incidences	of	
antisocial behaviour. Terminations may occur by enforced evictions, voluntary vacation 
of premises by tenants, transfer of tenants to other areas; or abandonment by tenant 
of premises. In 2010-11, there were 28 tenancy terminations. 

Other measures aimed at reducing the incidence of antisocial behaviour adopted by the 
agency, including: 

•	 providing	tenancy	management	and	support
•	 alcohol	dry	area	declarations
•	 increased	scrutiny	of	probationary	leases
•	 security	services,	predominantly	patrolling	and	surveillance,	for	public	housing	

after hours and working with Northern Territory Police to target known hot spots.

Activities undertaken by the agency in 2010-11 included:
•	 Participating	in	fortnightly	meetings	of	the	Territory	Government’s	Interagency	

Tasking	and	Coordination	Group	in	Darwin,	Alice	Springs,	katherine,	Tennant	
Creek	and	Batchelor.

•	 Referred	two	families	of	concern	to	the	Family	Support	Centre.
•	 under	the	Family	Responsibility	Program	participated	in	regular	meetings	of	

the	Interagency	Collaboration	Panel	and	the	newly	established	Strategic	Inter-
agency Group.

•	 Continued	to	develop	a	program	to	implement	recommendations	of	Northern	
Territory	Police	Crime	Prevention	Through	environmental	Design	(CPTeD)	
audits	on	several	unit/flat	complexes.

•	 Had	the	common	areas	of	a	further	37	public	housing	complexes	declared	to	
be restricted from alcohol, in an effort to reduce the level of antisocial behaviour 
attributed to drinking in these areas.
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T$%L( �2� 5(6T5,CT(' P5(0,6(6 '(CL$5$T,O16 %< 5(G,O1 �$T 30 J81( 2011�

0$JO5 
C(1T5(

C855(1T '(CL$5$T,O16  
�$T 30 J81( 2011�

2010 '(CL$5$T,O16  
�$T 30 J81( 2010�

':(LL,1G6

UNIT 
CO0PL(; 
CO00O1 

$5($6 PENDING TOT$L ':(LL,1G6

UNIT 
CO0PL(; 
CO00O1 

$5($6 TOT$L

Alice 
Springs

10� 16 1 12� �� 1� �3

Darwin* 12� 28 � 1�� 1�� 22 1��

Katherine �� 8 � �� �� 1� �3

Nhulunbuy 2 0 0 2 2 - 2

Tennant 
Creek

�� � 3 60 3� � �2

TOTAL 340 61 16 417 330 58 388


,ncludes 'arZin, Casuarina and Palmerston declarations

GREENING THE TERRITORY
Environmental Management

The agency is mindful of its environmental responsibility and strives to meet obligations 
under whole of government initiatives by encouraging and promoting energy smart 
practices.

$gency offices across the Territory use a number of environmental and energy saving 
strategies which include:

� office amalgamations to achieve higher occupancy ratios in agency office 
accommodation and more efficient use of lighting and airconditioning

� ZorNing Zith lessors of office accommodation to provide environment friendly 
accommodation, for example, re-tinting windows and improving after hours 
lighting systems to reduce power consumption

� introducing double-sided printing as a default across the maMority of printers and 
photocopiers to reduce paper consumption

� recycling printer toner cartridges
� recycling bins for office Zaste
� recycling mobile phones
� timed after-hours lighting and airconditioning
� encouraging electronic distribution of documents to minimise the use of paper
� delamping �reducing number of globes�
� activating energy save options on copiers and printers after hours.
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Vehicles

The agency is working towards targets to reduce greenhouse gas emissions set in the 
Northern	Territory	Greening	the	Fleet	Strategy	(20	per	cent	by	2014,	and	50	per	cent	by	
2020)	for	passenger	and	light	commercial	fleet.

At	30	June	2011,	the	agency	has	achieved	the	target	14	per	cent	reduction	in	green	
house emissions under Greening the Territory. 

With	a	fleet	of	170	vehicles,	vehicles	are	selected	to	balance	operational	requirements	
with environmental and economic considerations.

A	total	of	88	of	these	vehicles	(representing	52	per	cent	of	the	fleet)	meet	the	minimum	
greenhouse	rating,	in	line	with	Greening	the	Fleet	Strategy.	Due	to	the	remote	nature	
of	much	of	the	agency’s	business,	a	large	proportion	of	the	vehicle	fleet	in	regional	and	
remote	areas	comprise	of	4WD	vehicles	to	ensure	access	to	many	locations.	These	
vehicles do not meet the minimum green house ratings, however diesel vehicles are 
used where possible. 

Climate Change

The Northern Territory Government has committed to become carbon neutral by 
2018	under	the	Northern	Territory	Climate	Change	Policy.	under	this	target,	whole	of	
government systems to account for greenhouse gas emissions according to recognised 
international greenhouse accounting standards will be progressively rolled out over the 
next eight years.

The agency has initiated a number of strategies to reduce its carbon emissions including:
•	 office	amalgamations	to	achieve	higher	occupancy	ratios	in	agency	office	

accommodation strategies to reduce energy consumption.
•	 use	of	diesel	vehicles	in	remote	and	regional	areas	where	appropriate.
•	 encouragement	of	use	of	video	conferencing	facilities	as	an	alternative	to	intra	and	

interstate travel. 
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HOUSING POLICY
The agency participates on a number of national committees where national housing 
policy issues are developed and implemented including:
•	 Housing	Ministersº	Advisory	CommitteeI providing support to the +ousing 

0inisters’ Conference. This group comprises Chief ([ecutives of public housing 
agencies from around Australia.

•	 Housing	and	Homelessness	Policy	Research	Working	Group providing support 
to +ousing 0inisters’ $dvisory Committee -responsible for progressing actions and 
undertaNing research proMects agreed by the +ousing 0inisters Council and the 
+ousing 0inisters $dvisory Committee. +ousing and +omelessness Policy 5esearch 
:orNing Group subgroups.

•	 Homelessness	Working	Group focuses specifically on delivery of the 1ational 
Partnership $greement on +omelessness,.

8nder the neZ Council of $ustralian Governments �CO$G� arrangements, the +ousing 
0inisters’ Conference Zill combine Zith the Community and 'isability 6ervices 0inisters’ 
Conference to become the neZ ³6tanding Council on Community, +ousing and 
'isability 6ervices´ early 2011-12. ,n addition, a 6elect Council on +omelessness Zill be 
established to focus on the homelessness agenda under the neZ CO$G arrangements. 

NATIONAL AFFORDABLE HOUSING AGREEMENT 
The 1ational $ffordable +ousing $greement �1$+$� aims to ensure that all $ustralians 
have access to affordable, safe and sustainable housing that contributes to social and 
economic participation. 

The 1$+$ is an agreement by the Council of $ustralian Governments that commenced 
on 1 January 200�, initiating a Zhole-of-government approach in tacNling the problem of 
housing affordability. 

The 1$+$ provides ��.2 billion Zorth of housing assistance to loZ and middle income 
$ustralians in the first five years.

The 1$+$ is supported by the 1ational Partnership $greements on�
� social housing
� homelessness

� ,ndigenous $ustralians living in remote areas

NATIONAL PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT ON SOCIAL HOUSING
The primary aim of the 1ational Partnership $greement on 6ocial +ousing �1P$ 6+� is 
to increase the supply of social housing through new construction;  to ensure people are 
able to rent housing that meets their needs;  and to ensure that people who are homeless 
or at risk of homelessness can access sustainable housing. 

NATIONAL STRATEGIES AND AGREEMENTS
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under	the	Agreement,	a	Social	Housing	Growth	Fund	has	been	established.	The	fund	
provides Australian Government funding to increase the supply of social housing and is 
sourced	from	the	Social	Housing	Initiative	under	the	National	Partnership	Agreement	on	
National	Building	and	Jobs	Plan	(see	below).	

The	40	unit	Bellamack	Seniors	village	is	the	key	initiative	under	the	NPA	SH.

national PartnersHiP agreement on tHe nation 
building and Jobs Plan
The	National	Partnership	Agreement	on	the	Nation	Building	Job	Plan	(NPA	NBJP)	
was	established	to	stimulate	economic	growth	and	jobs	following	the	global	financial	
crisis.	The	agreement	provides	for	a	Social	Housing	Initiative,	which	provides	funding	
to increase the supply of public and social housing through new construction and 
refurbishment of existing stock otherwise unavailable for occupancy. 

Investment for improved supported and managed accommodation facilities is 
predominantly	sourced	from	the	Social	Housing	Initiative.	Details	of	these	activities	are	
presented	in	the	National	Partnership	Agreement	on	Homelessness	below.	

national PartnersHiP agreement on Homelessness
As	the	lead	for	the	National	Partnership	Agreement	on	Homelessness	(NPAH),	the	
agency plays a key role in the governance, execution, coordination and reporting of the 
Northern Territory’s Implementation Plan.

The	NPAH	Implementation	Plan	comprises	a	package	of	measures	delivered	by	the	
agency,	Department	of	Children	and	Families,	Department	of	Health	and	Department	of	
Justice.	

The agency leads negotiations with the Australian Government for initiatives under the 
NPAH	and	participates	in	a	number	of	interjurisdictional	working	groups	dealing	directly	
with homelessness.

In	2010-11,	$19.365	million	was	allocated	to	key	homelessness	projects	including:	
•	 Street	to	Home	initiatives	–	addressing	issues	including	youth	homelessness	and	

mental	health	accommodation,	including	Percy	Court	in	Alice	Springs.
•	 Tenancy	support	programs	that	support	households	to	sustain	their	tenancies	and	

provide	domestic	and	family	violence	support,	including	the	Tenant	Sustainability	
Program, eight service providers were engaged to deliver services in Darwin, 
katherine,	Borroloola,	Tennant	Creek	and	Alice	Springs.

•	 Assistance	for	people	leaving	child	protection	services,	correctional	and	health	
facilities, including managed and supported accommodation programs in facilities in 
Alice	Springs,	Darwin	and	katherine	(see	managed	and	supported	accommodation).

•	 A	Place	to	Call	Home,	providing	intensive	support	for	households	who	are	homeless	
or at risk of homelessness moving into public housing and including construction 
of dwellings and accommodation facilities, was expanded throughout the Northern 
Territory,	(see	managed	accommodation).	
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The agency administers the agreement on the Northern Territory Government’s behalf, 
while also directly administering the above programs. The agreement continues until 
June 2013 and Zill assist in meeting national core targets of a seven percent reduction in 
the number of Australians who are experiencing homelessness, a one third reduction in 
the number of ,ndigenous $ustralians Zho are homeless, and a 2� per cent reduction in 
the number of Australians sleeping rough.

Managed and Supported Accommodation

Managed accommodation is an important initiative to address homelessness, alternative 
to public housing. :orNing in partnership, the 1orthern Territory and $ustralian 
governments continued in 2010-11 to deliver improved access to transitional and short 
term accommodation facilities throughout the 1orthern Territory. Capital funding Zas 
provided to construct, upgrade and refurbish existing properties in Darwin and Alice 
6prings.

In 2010-11, a number of facilities were completed that provide managed and supported 
accommodation. Details of these proj ects and facilities are included in the following table. 

Related initiatives incorporate the following terminology: 

Managed accommodation ± accommodation facility incorporating on-site caretaNing or 
management for purposes of responding to maintenance needs and offering security. 

Supported accommodation ± accommodation facility providing support and services to 
clients to promote self-reliance and independence. 

Crisis and emergency accommodation ± accommodation facility for people 
experiencing homelessness providing short duration accommodation including refuges, 
shelters, motels, Àats, boarding houses or caravan parNs.

Short term accommodation ± short term option for remote area residents reTuiring 
somewhere safe and affordable to stay while they are in town accessing services, such 
as health services. 

Transitional accommodation ± provides help for people Zho have limited or no 
experience in living in an urban environment. Purpose built facilities have been designed 
to provide a packaged accommodation and client support service;  delivered by 
Community 6ervice Organisations directly to clients.
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national PartnersHiP agreement on remote 
indigenous Housing
The Australian and Northern Territory governments are working together with industry 
and communities to improve housing in remote Indigenous communities across the 
Northern Territory.

The	National	Partnership	Agreement	on	Remote	Indigenous	Housing	(NPA	RIH),	
agreed	by	the	Council	of	Australian	Governments	(CoAG),	was	signed	by	all	states	
and	territories	in	December	2008.	The	NPA	RIH	subsumes	all	other	arrangements	
made between the Australian and Northern Territory governments relating to reforming 
the	provision	of	housing	for	Indigenous	people	in	73	prescribed	remote	Territory	
communities.	under	the	NPA	RIH,	the	Northern	Territory	Government	assumed	
immediate responsibility for property and tenancy management of all community housing 
in	the	73	prescribed	communities.	The	NPA	RIH	also	includes	some	community	living	
areas	(also	referred	to	as	town	camps).	

The	NPA	RIH	recognises	that	housing	standards	need	to	be	improved	to	help	close	
the	gap	on	Indigenous	disadvantage.	Better	housing	will	help	make	families	healthier,	
strengthen communities and enable economic growth through job and training 
opportunities,	contributing	directly	to	Territory	2030	and	Working	Future	targets.	

Key Components

Improved Housing Management

under	the	NPA	RIH,	the	Territory	Government	is	also	responsible	for	implementing	a	
new remote public housing management system and is working with the Australian 
Government to improve living conditions so people can live in safer and healthier homes. 
A key focus of this initiative is also to provide jobs for Indigenous people.

Throughout	2010-11,	the	Remote	Housing	management	Framework	continued	to	be	
implemented, ensuring standardised practices and policies for delivery and management 
of dwellings in remote Indigenous communities and community living areas. Further 
alignment	to	urban	policies	was	made	where	applicable,	and	Service	Level	Agreements	
with shire councils were agreed for the delivery of property and tenancy management 
services in remote communities. 

The Remote Rent Framework was implemented and applied to all tenancies for houses 
built,	refurbished	or	rebuilt	under	NPA	RIH	throughout	2010-11.	The	remote	rent	
framework	ensures	consistency	with	urban	rent	policies,	while	ensuring	flexibility	in	policy	
application given the unique circumstances facing remote Indigenous Territorians in 
maintaining a successful tenancy in remote areas, for example overcrowding.

Strategic Indigenous Housing and Infrastructure Program (SIHIP)

NPA	RIH,	which	incorporates	the	SIHIP,	is	a	joint	housing	program	that	will	deliver	in	
excess	of	750	new	houses,	230	rebuilds	and	2500	refurbishments	across	73	remote	
Indigenous	communities	and	a	number	of	community	living	areas/town	camps	across	 
the Northern Territory by the end of 2013.
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Two consortiums made up of private construction companies known as alliances are 
the program, working closely with communities and government. A target of 20 per cent 
has been set for Indigenous employment across the program. The alliances use local 
businesses wherever possible, with an emphasis on local Indigenous businesses. 

$t 30 June 2011, 1P$ 5,+ ZorN Zas completed in 3� minor communities, and a number 
of toZn camps�community living areas. 0ore than 1100 local ,ndigenous people have 
been employed since the program commenced. 

$s at 30 June 2011, the program has constructed 32� neZ houses, refurbished and 
rebuilt a further 1��2 houses, e[ceeding its June 2011 targets by seven neZ houses and 
21� rebuilds and refurbishments. 6pecific achievements by location are outlined beloZ.

Remote Housing highlights by locality: 

New Construction ± neZ houses constructed in 1� communities and a number of 
community living areas. 6cheduled houses have been allocated to communities.

Refurbishments ± ZorNs completed to improve the safety of houses, including the 
repair of electrical and plumbing components and restoring functionality. Numbers of 
refurbishments scheduled in communities depends on budget availability, and condition 
of dwellings. 

Rebuilds ± restoration of houses previously in very poor condition, at a loZer cost than 
building a new house. Numbers of rebuilds scheduled in communities depends on 
budget availability, and condition of dwellings.

T$%L( ��� O9(59,(: OF 5(0OT( +O86,1G '(9(LOP0(1T6

LOC$T,O1
6C+('8L(' 
:O5.6

CO0PL(T(' � $T 
30 J81( 2011�

C855(1T 
:O5.6

$C+,(9(0(1T6 
IN 2010-11

Tiwi Islands - 
:urrumiyanga 
�1guiu� 
Milikapiti 
Pirlangimpi

�0 1eZ 
�:urrimiyanga�

�1 1eZ

121 Rebuilds

26 new

10 rebuilds

Tennant Creek

Community Living 
Areas

�� 5ebuilds �0 8 pending 
employment 
and training 
proj ects

Central 
Australian 
Region

�0�  
Refurbishments

�0�  
Refurbishments
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Groote Eylandt 
and Bickerton 
Island

Angurugu 
Milayakburra 
umbakumba

80 new houses 32 new houses

53	rebuilds	and	
refurbishments

14	new	houses

13 rebuilds and 
refurbishments

Maningrida, 
Warruwi and 
Minjilang 

110 new 
houses 
(maningrida)

47	new	houses	
(maningrida)

54	rebuilds	and	
refurbishments 

55	new	houses	
(maningrida)

4	rebuilds	and	
refurbishments

Wadeye, 
Nganmarriyanga 
and Peppiminarti

105	new	
houses 
(Wadeye)

100 new 
houses 
(Wadeye)

143	
rebuilds and 
refurbishments

5	new	houses

(Wadeye)

3 rebuilds and 
refurbishments

Gunbalanya, 
Acacia Larrakia 
and Belyuen

62 new houses  
(Gunbalanya)

23 new houses

(Gunbalanya)

82 rebuilds and 
refurbishments

10 new houses

(Gunbalanya)

6 rebuilds and 
refurbishments

Galiwin’ku 90	new	houses 11 new houses

24	rebuilds	and	
refurbishments

60 new houses

6 rebuilds and 
refurbishments

Ngukurr and 
surrounding 
region

Eva Valley 
Barunga 
Beswick 
Rittarangu 
Bulla 
yarralin 
Binjari 
Jilkminggan 
kybrook	Farm

90	new	houses 57	rebuilds	and	
refurbishments 
(Ngukurr)

161 
refurbishments 
(other	
communities)

6 
refurbishments 
(other	
communities)

Alice Springs  
Community	Living	
Areas

85	new	houses 60 new houses

89	rebuilds	and	
refurbishments

21 new houses

18 rebuilds and 
refurbishments
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Housing Reference Groups

+ousing 5eference Groups have been established by the agency in Ney locations to 
provide cultural and local advice on issues relating to 

� housing design 
� living arrangements
� housing allocations �community advice as to Zho is allocated neZ or  

upgraded housing�
� tenancy support services
� employment initiatives and ZorNforce development in delivery of housing 

programs
� other cultural and family-related matters that affect decisions about housing  

and infrastructure.

The reference groups work with government and ensure local communities have input 
into decisions about housing in their community. 

There are currently a total of �� reference groups established across the Territory, 
representing �2 communities and toZn camps�community living areas.

Membership is voluntary and consists of a balance of representatives within the 
community with different interests, such as: 

� people from different cultural and family groups
� traditional land oZners 
� special interest groups, such as people Zho ZorN Zith youth and aged care.

Indigenous Essential Services

Provision and establishment of subdivisions and utility infrastructure works to support 
remote ,ndigenous housing activities are provided for under the  1P$ 5,+ and 
complement groZth toZn initiatives in :orNing Future, and the  1P$ 56'. ,n 2010-11, a 
range of infrastructure works complementing housing construction through development 
of new subdivisions and sewerage and water facility upgrades, were completed in 

� :urrumiyanga �1guiu�
� $ngurugu
� 8mbaNumba
� 0aningrida
� Gunbalanya
� GaliZin’Nu
� :adeye 
� Tennant CreeN community living areas 
� $lice 6prings community living areas. 
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Other infrastructure related works completed in 2010-11 included:
•	 Wadeye	-	completion	of	subdivision	works	(electricity,	water,	sewer,	and	

drainage)	for	manthape	and	Nilnh	subdivision
•	 Wadeye	–	minor	new	works	larger	distribution	switchboard	to	meet	increased	

demand
•	 Galiwin’ku	–	upgrade	of	power	station	to	meet	future	demand
•	 Ngukurr	–	upgrade	of	power	station	to	meet	future	demand
•	 maningrida	–	upgrade	of	fuel	storage	to	increase	storage	capacity	to	meet	future	

demands
•	 Palumpa	–	new	sewage	pump	station	and	gravity	sewer	to	improve	sewerage	

services 
•	 Ramingining	–	new	1mL	ground	storage	tank	to	improve	reliability
•	 Papunya	–	minor	new	works	to	equip	extra	bore	to	improve	security	of	supply
•	 Wurrumiyanga	(Nguiu)	–	minor	new	works	to	extend	power	station	to	meet	

future demand.

A range of minor asset replacement projects were completed for communities not 
included	in	major	NPA	RIH	works	or	Territory	Growth	Towns	in	2010-11,	including:	

•	 Warruwi	–	new	elevated	water	storage	to	improve	pressure	and	reliability
•	 Wilora	–	upgrade	water	storage	to	improve	reliability
•	 yarralin	and	kalkatjara	-	electrical	transformer	upgrades	carried	out	to	meet	

increased demand
•	 kintore	and	Harts	Range	-	switchboards	upgraded	to	maintain	reliability	of	

supply
•	 Water	disinfection	plants	were	commissioned	at	Santa	Teresa,	Harts	Range,	

Imanpa and Finke to ensure the portability of drinking water supplies.

loCal government and Planning Joint oFFiCers grouP

The	agency	has	been	represented	on	the	Local	Government	and	Planning	Joint	officers	
Group	which	supports	the	Local	Government	and	Planning	ministers	Council.

membership	of	the	Local	Government	and	Planning	Joint	officers	Group	comprised	local	
government	and	planning	senior	officials	from	all	jurisdictions,	in	Australian	and,	New	
Zealand,	and	the	Chief	executive	of	the	Australian	Local	Government	Association.	Face	
to face meetings are held approximately four times per year, with teleconferences held 
when required.

The	agency	also	participates	on	sub-groups	of	the	Local	Government	and	Planning	
Joint	officers	Group	which	target	various	issues	depending	on	Local	Government	and	
Planning	ministers	Council	priorities.
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8nder neZ arrangements introduced by CO$G, the local council ceased operating on 
30 June 2011. $ neZ ministerial forum, outside the CO$G ministerial arrangements, has 
been established to progress local government matters at the national level. The forum 
Zill meet as reTuired to progress reforms in the area of local government financing, 
resource management and inter governmental relations. 

NATIONAL PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT TO SUPPORT LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT
The Ney obMective of the 1ational Partnership $greement to 6upport Local Government 
and 5egional 'evelopment �1P$ LG5'� is to improve the capacity, resilience and 
infrastructure in communities and build capacity and resilience of local governments. 

8nder the 1P$ LG5', is the Local Government 5eform Fund, from Zhich funding has 
been sourced for the Moint proMect betZeen Local Government $ssociation of the 1orthern 
Territory and 1orthern Territory Government on $sset 0anagement and Long Term 
Financial Planning for Councils in 2010-11. 

This capacity building proj ect has offered training and professional development for local 
government staff and elected members in financial and asset management. 

NATIONAL INDIGENOUS POLICY
The agency participates in a number of working groups and national and cross-
j urisdictional forums on Indigenous affairs including:

� 0inisterial Council for $boriginal and Torres 6trait ,slander $ffairs
� 1ational ,ndigenous 5eform $greement ZorNing groups
� :orNing Group on ,ndigenous 5eform
� Overarching %ilateral ,ndigenous Plan Governance committee.

NATIONAL PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT ON REMOTE  
SERVICE DELIVERY
The Australian, Northern Territory and local governments are working together with 
communities to reduce Indigenous disadvantage through the National Partnership 
$greement on 5emote 6ervice 'elivery � 1P$ 56'�.

$lthough the 1P$ 56' and associated %ilateral ,mplementation Plan are aligned Zith 
initiatives in the :orNing Future policy, they are distinct government frameZorNs that 
work alongside one another.

8nder the 1P$ 56' the $ustralian and 1orthern Territory governments are ZorNing Zith 
,ndigenous $ustralians in 1� priority communities to�
� improve ,ndigenous families’ access to a range of government services 
� raise these services to the standard provided to other $ustralians living in communities 

of similar siz e and location 
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•	 improve	governance	and	leadership	within	the	communities,	including	among	
Indigenous community organisations 

•	 achieve	better	coordinated	government	services	
•	 increase	economic	and	social	participation	wherever	possible	and	promote	personal	

responsibility and positive behaviours.

This	approach	is	supported	by	developing	Local	Implementation	Plans	in	21	remote	
Indigenous	communities	identified	as	Territory	Growth	Towns	under	the	Working	Future.	
15	Territory	Growth	Towns	are	additionally	identified	as	priority	sites	under	the	NPA	RSD.

Delivery	of	the	NPA	RSD	is	guided	by	the	Remote	Service	Delivery	Bilateral	
Implementation Plan. The Plan has been agreed by the Australian and Northern Territory 
governments and is regularly monitored and reviewed.

Local	Implementation	Plan	development	progress;	land	tenure	reform	and	other	
initiatives	were	comprehensively	discussed	under	Working	Future,	earlier	in	this	part	
of the report. They are initiatives that cross both Northern Territory and Australian 
government initiatives and frameworks related to remote service delivery. 

national PartnersHiP agreement on Closing tHe gaP
The	National	Partnership	Agreement	on	Closing	the	Gap	(NPA	CTG)	continues	to	June	
2012,	and	provides	for	the	continuation	of	a	number	of	measures	commenced	in	2007	
under	the	Northern	Territory	emergency	Response	(NTeR)	and	relevant	legislation.	

The agreement maintains and strengthens core NTER measures while placing a greater 
emphasis on community engagement and partnerships, and building capability and 
leadership within Indigenous communities.

Aboriginal Interpreter Services

one	of	the	key	outputs	of	the	NPA	CTG	is	to	build	the	capacity	of	interpreter	services	
to support engagement between Indigenous communities and government and non-
government agencies.

Schedule	e	to	the	NPA	CTG	includes	Australian	Government	investment	to	the	Northern	
Territory Government to:

•	 Recruit	Community	Liaison/mentor	officers	to	coordinate	and	support	the	 
work	of	Indigenous	interpreters	providing	their	services	in	identified	
communities/regions.

•	 Recruit	and	develop	Indigenous	interpreters	to	provide	interpreting	services	to	
Indigenous communities and government and non-government agencies.

•	 Develop	and	deliver	training	programs	and	training	materials	for	Indigenous	
interpreters. 

In	2010-11,	the	Aboriginal	Interpreter	Service:
•	 Continued	to	provide	interpreter	services	in	fields	of	legal,	health	and	welfare	

across	the	Northern	Territory	and	across	the	border	jurisdictions	(Western	
Australia,	South	Australia	and	Queensland).
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� Provided specialist training to �12 interpreters across the Territory.
� (stablished neZ offices for the administration of the Community Liaison and 

'evelopment Officer �CL'O� Program in Gunbalanya and :urrimiyanga, 
maNing a total of ten CL'Os across the Territory.

� $t 30 June 2011, employed a pool of �0� Casual ,nterpreters, and 1� full-time 
eq uivalent community-based interpreters. 

NATIONAL INDIGENOUS REFORM AGREEMENT
The 1ational ,ndigenous 5eform $greement �Closing the Gap�, provides an integrated 
frameZorN for the tasN of Closing the Gap, based on seven building blocNs. ,t brings 
together commitments from across ,ndigenous specific and mainstream 1ational 
Partnership Agreements. 

Notable developments in 2010-11 to the Agreement include:
� ,nclusion of a further schedule to the 1ational ,ndigenous 5eform $greement on Food 

security
� 'rafted schedules to the Overarching %ilateral ,mplementation Plan, addressing data 

q uality and urban and regional service delivery, and outlining strategies within these 
areas to support the National Indigenous Reform Agreement building blocks and meet 
Closing the Gap targets.

Progress against this National Agreement and other key National Indigenous Targets are 
available at ZZZ.coagreformcouncil.gov.au�reports�indigenous.cfm



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
PART SIX

Presents the financial statements of the agency including the 1T +ome OZnership 
function, Zith detailed accompanying notes, along Zith an overvieZ and analysis 
of our financial performance.
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Financial Statement Overview
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

The Department of Housing, Local Government and Regional Services is a general 
government agency under the Financial Management Act. The agency also includes 
NT Home Ownership, a government business division which forms part of the agency’s 
management structure and contributes to the agency’s strategic directions. However, 
under the Financial Management Act, the agency and NT Home Ownership are 
considered to be separate reporting entities for end of financial year reporting purposes 
and, as such, two separate financial reports are presented in this annual report. 

KeY POintS
The agency’s budget is published in Budget Paper No. 3 which contains detailed 
information on the current and next year’s budgets for all agencies within the Northern 
Territory Government budget sector.

The agency’s 2010-11 expenditure budget is the third largest budget of all Northern 
Territory Government agencies. Grant expenditure comprises 62 per cent of the agency’s 
total expenditure budget. The agency’s capital works budget represents 36 per cent 
of the Northern Territory Government major capital works program. This reflects the 
significant investment in housing and related infrastruture works across urban and 
remote areas of the Territory. The agency is a significant asset holder for the Northern 
Territory Government.

The agency’s revenue budget is also significant in terms of whole of government 
numbers with 40 per cent of the Territory Government’s Australian Government tied grant 
funding budget attributed to this agency. Australian Government tied funding agreements 
for the agency includes Specific Purpose Payments totaling $35.1 million and funding 
under various National Partnership Agreements totalling $547.5 million. Further 
information on the agency’s National Partnership Agreements can be found in Part Five 
of this report.

The agency’s 2010-11 expenditure budget totalled $464.9 million of which only 26 per 
cent was available for discretionary personnel and operational costs and the remaining 
74 per cent was allocated for non discretionary items including grants, interest expense 
and repairs and maintenance costs. 

The agency’s expenditure budget is funded by revenue from these sources:

Territory Government 42%

Australian Government 35%

Sales of goods and services 12%

Other 11%
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Operational Cost 14%   

Personnel 12%   

Interest 2%   

Depreciation 5 %  

Repairs and Maintenance 5 %   

Grants 6 2 %   

,n terms of financial performance, for the 2010-11 year, the agency had budgeted for 
a deficit of ��2.1 million, largely due to depreciation e[pense of �2�.2 million for Zhich 
there is no matching revenue, and �3� million of e[penditure relating to programs for 
Zhich revenue Zas received in prior years.  The actual result Zas an operating deficit of 
���.� million.  The variance of ��.� million Zas largely due to the early release of specific 
grant payments for Zhich funding Zill be recouped in 2011-12.

$ cash e[penditure budget of ���2.� million Zas allocated for infrastructure ZorNs 
in 2010-11 for the ongoing upgrade and construction of neZ dZellings in urban and 
remote areas of the Territory, and investment in land servicing and essential services 
infrastructure in remote areas. Funding for the maMority of capital construction costs for 
both urban and remote dZellings Zas sourced through Moint partnership agreements 
betZeen the Territory and $ustralian governments. ,n total, �3��.� million in $ustralian 
Government capital appropriation Zas received by the agency for the year ended  
30 June 2011.
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Statement OF cOmPreHenSive incOme

The Statement of Comprehensive Income provides agency-wide information on income 
earned and expenses incurred over a 12 month period. 

TABLE 45: SuMMARy OF STATMENT OF COMPREHENSIvE INCOME

2009-10 
ACTuAL 

$M

2010-11 
ACTuAL 

$M

2010-11 
BuDGET 

$M
vARIATION 

$M

Income 363.1 458.6 402.8 55.8

Expenses 459.8 527.1 464.9 62.2

TOTAL INCOME -96.7 -68.5 -62.1 -6.4

In 2010-11, the agency’s sources of income in order of magnitude were:
1.  Territory Government output appropriation, which includes recurrent output 

funding and finite programs 
2. Australian Government appropriation via National Partnership Agreements 

(NPA) such as the NPA for Remote Indigenous Housing and the National 
Affordable Housing Agreement

3. Australian Government grants and subsidies related to programs such as 
local government financial assistance and road grants and funding to deliver 
Aboriginal interpreting services

4. sale of goods and services, predominantly relating to rent from public housing 
dwellings

5. other income including notional revenue for corporate type services received 
free of charge from the Department of Business and Employment, and gains  
on disposal of assets.

In 2010-11, the agency’s operating income totalled $458.6 million compared with  
$363.1 million in 2009-10. The variance of $95.5 million in income between the two 
years is largely due to higher output revenue of $32.7 million and $58.4 million more 
in Australian Government appropriations. Both these increases are largely related to 
expenditure associated with the upgrade and maintenance works for urban and remote 
dwellings across the Territory. 
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Chart � beloZ compares 2010-11 income Zith the final 2010-11 budget and actual 
income for 200�-10.
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Expenditure

The e[penditure budget for the agency totalled ����.� million, and actual e[penditure 
Zas ��2�.1 million. The variance of ��2.2 million is largely due to grant payments relating 
to programs for Zhich funding Zas received in 2010-11 but not budgeted for. This position 
can be seen on the above graph Zhere actual $ustralian Government grants and, to a 
certain degree, output appropriation received is higher than budget resulting in higher 
than budgeted grant e[penditure. Grant e[penditure is also higher than budget due to 
the early payment of some grant commitments Zith matching revenue e[pected to be 
received in 2011-12.
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The chart beloZ compares the 2010-11 e[penditure by category of cost Zith the final 
2010-11 budget and the 200�-10 actual figures.
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(mployee e[penditure Zas on par Zith the 2010-11 budget, but increased by �2.� million 
from 200�-10 largely attributed to the 3 per cent increase in Zages under the 1orthern 
Territory Public 6ervice 2010-2013 (nterprise $greement. Purchases of goods and 
services e[penses Zere � per cent higher than budget largely due to end of year accrual 
accounting adMustments. 

Property management costs in 2010-11 Zere �33.� million, ��.3 million higher than 
budget and �3.� million more than the previous year. This increase Zas due to a 
combination of rental e[penditure relating to head leased properties and costs associated 
Zith Zater and seZerage charges relating to urban public housing and government 
employee housing oZned by the agency. The agency enters into head leasing 
arrangements on behalf of other government agencies Zhere limited labour marNets 
e[ist and housing cannot be provided by the private sector. ,n 2010-11 more than 200 
neZ private lease agreements Zere entered into Zhich led to higher rent e[penditure and 
contributed to the increase in property management costs.



180 '(P$5T0(1T OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

Financial Statement P$5T 6,;

5epairs and maintenance e[penditure of �22 million largely relates to urban public 
housing and government employee housing oZned by the agency and, to much a lesser 
e[tent, office accommodation repairs and maintenance. ([penditure in 2010-11 Zas on 
par Zith budget and similar to 200�-10 e[penditure of �21.� million.

Grants and subsidies e[penditure is the highest category of e[penditure for the agency 
�almost tZo thirds of total e[penditure�. Grant e[penditure increased in 2010-11 by  
���.� million compared to 200�-10, largely due to e[penditure associated Zith upgrade 
ZorNs and repairs and maintenance on dZellings by non-government organisations such 
as the <illi 5reung +ousing $boriginal Corporation and 6omerville Foundation ,nc.  Grant 
e[penditure Zas also incurred for property management and maintenance e[penditure in 
remote areas of the Territory. $ctual 2010-11 e[penditure Zas �2�.3 million higher than 
budget due to the early receipt and disbursement of $ustralian Government funding for 
local government financial assistance grants and grants provided to maintain community 
housing assets oZned by non-government organisations. 

T$%L( ��� 0$JO5 G5$1T P5OG5$06 OF T+( $G(1C<

P5OG5$0
$0O81T  

�0

Local Government Financial $ssistance grants ��.2

6hires (mployment Program �.2

Public +ousing redevelopment 2�

5emote Public +ousing property management grants ��.1

5emote +ousing upgrade ZorNs and repairs and maintenance �0.�

,ndigenous (ssential 6ervices grants ��.�

0unicipal and (ssential 6ervices grants 1�.1
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The Statement of Financial Position provides details of the value of assets (owned by the 
agency), liabilities (owned by the agency) and equity interest (what the agency is worth) 
on a particular reporting date, in this case 30 June.

TABLE 47: STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION SuMMARy  

2009-10 
ACTuAL 

$M

2010-11 
ACTuAL 

$M

2010-11 
BuDGET 

$M
vARIATION 

$M

Assets 1 876.3 2 490.6 2 343.5 147.1

Liabilities 112.5 147.6 111.5 36.1

Equity 1 763.8 2 343.0 2 232.0 111.0

aSSetS
The most significant item on the agency’s Statement of Financial Position is the $2.44 
billion value of its housing stock (reported under Property, Plant and Equipment) which 
is largely made up of $1.8 billion of land and housing assets and $625.2 million of works 
currently under construction.

The value of the agency’s housing assets is not only material in the context of the its total 
asset balance but is also significant in terms of whole of government Property, Plant and 
Equipment asset balances. All housing stock is revalued annually to ensure the value of 
assets recorded in the financial statement accurately reflects their fair value. In 2010-11 
asset values increased by $133 million as a result of the revaluation.

At $625.2 million, works in progress is the next largest element of the agency’s asset 
base. This reflects the unprecedented levels of investment in urban public housing and 
remote Indigenous housing across the Territory.

The agency manages its own construction program for urban public housing, social 
housing and remote housing. A cash expenditure budget of $452.8 million was allocated 
for infrastructure works in 2010-11 for the ongoing upgrade and construction of new 
dwellings in urban and remote areas of the Territory and investment in land servicing and 
essential infrastructure in remote areas. A large portion of the infrastructure works  
in progress at 30 June 2011 is expected to be completed in 2011-12.  

Statement OF Financial POSitiOn
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LIABILITIES
$ uniTue feature reported under liabilities on the agency’s financial statement in 
comparison to most other general government agencies is the inclusion of %orroZings 
and $dvances. The balance of ��3.3 million reÀects the value of loans oZed to 
1orthern Territory Treasury Corporation, historically relating to loans taNen out by the 
former government business division, Territory +ousing, for the provision of public and 
government employee housing. ,nterest on loans is paid in regular monthly installments 
to the 1orthern Territory Treasury Corporation.

$nother point to note under liabilities is the noticeable increase in the value of payables 
of ���.3 million in 2010-11 in comparison to the previous financial year’s balance of  
�13.� million. The increase betZeen the tZo years is largely due to one-off accrued 
e[penditure for capital ZorNs-in-progress for the 5emote ,ndigenous +ousing program. 
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caSH FlOw Statement

The Cash Flow Statement provides detail of cash receipts and payments transacted 
throughout the year which directly affects movements in the cash at bank account.

TABLE 48: CASH FLOw STATEMENT SuMMARy

2009-10 
ACTuAL 

$M

2010-11 
ACTuAL 

$M

2010-11 
BuDGET 

$M
vARIATION 

$M

CASH AT bEGINNING OF  
FINANCIAL YEAR

124.2 41.3 41.3  

Net cash used in operating activities -59.3 -66.2 -39.1 -27.2

Net cash from investing activities -228.9 -462.9 -446.1 -16.8

Net cash from financing activities 205.3 512.8 531.3 -18.4

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 41.3 25.0 87.4 -62.4

Cash at the end of the financial year was $25 million in comparison to the budgeted 
net cash position of $87.4 million. The difference of $62.4 million is largely due to 
accelerated grants expenditure and capital works activities. A large component of cash 
will be replenished in 2011-12 once funding is received from the Australian Government 
under the National Partnership Agreement on Remote Indigenous Housing. Net cash 
used in operating activities was $27.2 million greater than anticipated due to this timing 
difference.

Net cash from investing activities reflects the difference between the value of capital 
works spent on housing assets offset by sales of housing stock during the year. In 
comparison to 2009-10, net cash used in investing activities increased by $234 million in 
2010-11 largely due to significantly greater capital works expenditure for both urban and 
public housing programs in 2010-11. 

Net cash from financing activities reflects capital appropriation funding received from 
both the Territory and Australian governments offset by loan repayments. Actual receipts 
are lower than budget mainly due to the budget including an amount for Australian 
Government appropriation which was received in 2009-10 without a corresponding 
budget adjustment.
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FUNDING SOURCES 
8nder the Territory Government’s financial management frameZorN, the agency is 
funded for the delivery of core government activities Zhich are grouped together as 
Outputs and further consolidated into three Output Groups�

1. Territory +ousing 6ervices

2. Local Government, 5egional and Community 6ervices

3. ,ndigenous Policy and 6ervice 'elivery Coordination.

T$%L( ��� O8TP8T G5O8P (;P(1',T85( $G$,16T %8'G(T

O8TP8T G5O8P

200�-10 
$CT8$L 

�0

2010-11 
$CT8$L 

�0

2010-11 
%8'G(T 

�0
9$5,$T,O1 

�0

Territory +ousing 6ervices 3��.� �1�.� 3�3.� -��.�

Local Government, 5egional and 
Community 6ervices

10�.� 103.� ��.3 -�.�

,ndigenous Policy and 6ervice 'elivery 
Coordination

3.� 3.� �.� 2.0

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 459.8 527.1 464.9 -62.2

Territory Housing Services

This Output Group is funded to deliver a range of housing services and support across 
the Territory. The 2010-11 final budget for this Output Group totalled �3�3.�� million and 
the final outcome Zas ��1�.�1 million. The variance of ���.� million is predominantly due 
to grant e[penditure associated Zith upgrades and repairs and maintenance programs 
on remote ,ndigenous housing and grants provided to maintain assets oZned by non-
government organisations such as the <illi 5reung +ousing $boriginal Corporation and 
6omerville Foundation ,nc.

Territory +ousing 6ervices provides housing and related services to more than  
22 �00 Territorians �almost 10 per cent of the Territory’s total population� Zho reside 
in more than � 000 urban dZellings across the Territory. 'uring the year, more than 
��1 million in rent Zas earned from combined urban public housing and government 
employee housing. �21.� million Zas spent on repairing housing stocN Zith a further 
�33.3 million spent on property management costs, and �2�.3 million in depreciation Zas 
allocated for the year. 

,n addition to its urban responsibilities, Territory +ousing 6ervices has e[panded its 
housing footprint into remote areas of the Territory Zith ��0.� million spent on capital 
grants and ���.1 million for property management and maintenance services to improve 
the standard of remote ,ndigenous housing. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE BY  
OUTPUT GROUPS
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This Output Group also provides financial support to Indigenous Essential Services 
Pty Ltd (a Power and water Corporation subsidiary) to enable the delivery of essential 
services and infrastructure in remote areas across the Territory. During the year, grants 
totalling $89.6 million were expensed for this purpose. 

During 2010-11, Territory Housing Services received $168.7 million in direct Australian 
Government funding and $135.9 million under various National Partnership Agreements. 
The purpose and use of these funds is detailed below:
• $88.3 million under the National Partnership Agreement on Remote Indigenous 

Housing. This funding was primarily used for upgrade works and repairs and 
maintenance on dwellings owned by non-government organisations and for property 
management and maintenance expenditure in remote areas of the Territory. In 
addition, a further $383.1 million of capital appropriation was also received for the 
upgrade and construction of Indigenous dwellings housing in remote areas.

• $13.2 million under the National Partnership Agreement on the Nation Building 
and Jobs Plan for the construction of new social housing dwellings and managed 
accommodation facilities across the Territory. 

• $34.4 million under the National Affordable Housing Agreement used to fund housing 
related services and grants to non-government organisations and deliver a range of 
services aimed at reducing homelessness. 

Local Government, Regional and Community Services

The Local Government, Regional and Community Services Output Group is funded to 
deliver a range of services and financial support to local government and local governing 
bodies; support regional development through business and economic development; 
provide interpreting and translating services; and deliver water safety and animal welfare 
programs across the Territory. 

The final 2010-11 budget for Local Government, Regional and Community Services 
totalled $95.3 million and the final outcome was $103.8 million. The variance of $8.5 
million is largely due to the early payment of the first 2011-12 quarter funding to local 
governing bodies as a result of the early receipt of the Australian Government funding  
in 2010-11.

During 2010-11, a total of $43.8 million in direct Australian Government funding and 
$3.24 million of National Partnership Agreement funding was received for services and 
programs such as:
• $30.2 million in direct Australian Government funding was combined with matching 

output appropriation from the Territory of $24.1 million and paid as grants to local 
governing bodies across the Territory to deliver a range of municipal services including 
roads maintenance, rubbish collections, waste management and parks maintenance.  

• $5.5 million in direct Australian Government funding was paid as a grant for the 
purpose of creating sustainable municipal services employment programs in rural and 
remote Indigenous communities through the creation of government service delivery 
jobs from the former Community Development Employment Programs.
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� �2.� million in direct $ustralian Government funding and �2.� million under the Closing 
the Gap 1ational $ustralian $greement Zas used to deliver and e[pand a range of 
$boriginal interpreting services across the Territory. 

Indigenous Policy and Service Delivery Coordination

The central agency type of services provided by the ,ndigenous Policy and 6ervice 
'elivery Coordination Output Group play a significant role in the current and future 
development of the Territory GroZth ToZns and the :orNing Future strategy and 
indigenous policy more broadly. Funding for this output group is provided by the Territory 
Government and �0.� million of $ustralian Government funding supports governance and 
leadership activities in 1� communities.

The final 2010-11 budget for ,ndigenous Policy and 6ervice 'elivery Coordination Output 
Group totalled ��.� million and the final outcome Zas �3.� million. The variance of  
�2 million is largely due to grant program funding Zhich rolled over into 2011-12 and Zill 
be incorporated into the ,ndigenous Mobs in shires program..
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Looking forward, the agency’s financial management challenges for 2011-12 include, but 
are not limited to:
• unprecedented capitalisation of works in progress as a large number of remote 

Indigenous housing construction programs are completed
• managing a limited discretionary budget to cover emerging priorities as the agency 

expands its services across the Territory and funds the 3 per cent increase in wages 
under the 2010-2013 Enterprise Agreement from within existing agency resources 

• considering the impact of Australian Accounting Standard AASB 117 “Finance Leases” 
which relates to accounting for long-term land leases, in the context of any long-term 
land tenure agreements entered into with Indigenous communities in 2011-12; and

• continuing to account for joint Australian and Territory government funding agreements 
to ensure financial reporting requirements under all agreements are met. 

lOOKing FOrward tO 2011-12
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:e certify that the attached financial statements for the 'epartment of +ousing, Local 
Government and 5egional 6ervices have been prepared from proper accounts and 
records in accordance Zith the prescribed format, the Financial M anagement Act and 
Treasurer’s 'irections.

:e further state that the information set out in the 6tatement of Comprehensive ,ncome, 
6tatement of Financial Position, 6tatement of Changes in (Tuity, Cash FloZ 6tatement, 
and notes to and forming part of the financial statements, presents fairly the financial 
performance and cash ÀoZs for the year ended 30 June 2011 and the financial position 
on that date.

$t the time of signing, Ze are not aZare of any circumstances that Zould render the 
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

– – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –    – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

.en 'avies      'Zayne 0c,nnes 
Chief ([ecutive     Chief Financial Officer 
30 6eptember 2011     30 6eptember 2011

CERTIFICATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
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Statement OF cOmPreHenSive incOme
For the year ended 30 June 2011 

NOTE
2011 
$000

2010 
$000

INCOME

Grants and subsidies revenue
Current 58 847 51 330
Capital 2 122 5 930

Appropriation
Output 193 337 160 664
Commonwealth 139 149 80 769

Sales of goods and services 54 899 54 655
Goods and services received free of charge 4 7 380 7 244
Gain on disposal of assets 5 573 1 821
Other income 2 292 716

TOTAL INCOME 3 458 599 363 129

EXPENSES 

Employee expenses 56 228 53 468
Administrative expenses

Purchases of goods and services 6 32 203 37 205
Repairs and maintenance 22 018 21 851
Property management 33 676 30 260
Depreciation and amortisation 9 28 395 25 595
Other administrative expenses 4 11 929 8 111

Grants and subsidies expenses
Current 184 905 183 078
Capital 145 714 88 118
Community service obligations 1 239 1 239

Interest expenses 10 808 10 919
TOTAL EXPENSES 3 527 115 459 844

NET (DEFICIT) (68 516) (96 715)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Asset revaluation reserve 14 133 070 84 581
Transfers to revaluation reserves (352)

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 132 718 84 581

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT 64 202 (12 134)

The Statement of Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As At 30 June 2011

1OT(
2011 
�000

2010 
�000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and deposits � 2� �0� �1 2��
5eceivables � 2� 0�2 3 ���
$dvances 1 000 1 000
Prepayments ��3 �2�

Total current assets 51 932 47 049

Non-current assets

Property, plant and eTuipment � 2 �3� �3� 1 �2� 2��
Total non-current assets 2 438 638 1 829 288

TOTAL ASSETS 2 490 570 1 876 337

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

'eposits held 20 3 �13 3 2��
Payables 10 �� 3�� 13 ���
%orroZings and advances 11 1 0�� �2�
Provisions 12 � 020 � ��1
Other liabilities 13 2 �2� 1 ���

Total current liabilities 61 261 25 469

Non-current liabilities

'eposits held  20 1 ��� 1 �33
%orroZings and advances 11 �2 22� �3 2�1
Provisions 12 2 1�� 1 �1�

Total non-current liabilities 86 359 87 028

TOTAL LIABILITIES 147 620 112 497

NET ASSETS 2 342 950 1 763 840

EQUITY

Capital �2� 013 310 10�
Land and buildings revaluation�serves reserves 1� 1 �2� ��1 1 ��� ��1
$ccumulated funds �111 �2�� ��2 ����

TOTAL EQUITY 2 342 950 1 763 840

The 6tatement of Financial Position is to be read in conMunction Zith the notes to the financial statements
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Statement OF cHangeS in equitY
For the year ended 30 June 2011

NOTE
Equity at  

1 July $000
Comprehensive 

result $000

Transactions 
with owners in 
their capacity 

as owners  
$000

Equity at  
30 June  

$000

2010-11

Accumulated funds  (42 956) (68 516) (111 472)
Transfers to reserves    (352) (352)

 (42 956) (68 868) (111 824)

Land and buildings 
revaluation reserves

14 1 496 691 133 070 1 629 761

Capital - transactions with 
owners

310 105 310 105

Equity injections

Capital appropriation 102 172 102 172
Equity transfers in 1 447 1 447
Other equity injections 16 000 16 000
Specific purpose payments 396 889 396 889
National partnership 
payments

Equity withdrawals

Capital withdrawal (1 600) (1 600)
310 105 514 908 825 013

TOTAL EQUITY AT  
END OF FINANCIAL YEAR

1 763 840 64 202 514 908  2 342 950

This Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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1OT(
(Tuity at  

1 July �000
Comprehensive 

result �000

Transactions 
Zith oZners in 
their capacity 

as oZners  
�000

(Tuity at  
30 June  

�000

2009-10

$ccumulated funds �3 ��� ��� �1�� ��2 ����
   53 759 (96 715) (42 956)

Land and buildings 
revaluation reserves

1� 1 412 110 84 581 1 496 691

Capital - transactions Zith 
oZners

101 �33 101 �33

Equity injections

Capital appropriation �� ��� �� ���
(Tuity transfers in 2 3�� 2 3��
Other eTuity inMections � ��1 � ��1
6pecific purpose payments 1�2 ��� 1�2 ���
1ational partnership 
payments

1 30� 1 30�

Equity withdrawals

Capital ZithdraZal ��03� ��03�

  101 633 208 472 310 105

TOTAL EQUITY AT  
END OF FINANCIAL YEAR

1 567 502 (12 134) 208 472  1 763 840

This 6tatement of Changes in (Tuity is to be read in conMunction Zith the notes to the financial statements.
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caSH FlOw Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2011

NOTE
2011  
$000

2010  
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating receipts

Grants and subsidies received
Current 42 047 51 330
Capital 2 122 5 930

Appropriation
Output 193 337 160 664

Commonwealth 139 149 80 769
Receipts from sales of goods and services 68 375 74 017

Total operating receipts 445 030 372 711

Operating payments

Payments to employees (55 467) (51 816)
Payments for goods and services (113 133) (93 292)
Grants and subsidies paid

Current (184 905) (183 078)
Capital (145 714) (88 118)
Community service obligations (1 239) (1 239)

Interest paid (10 808) (10 919)
Total operating payments (511 266) (428 462)

NET CASH FROM/(USED IN)  
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

15 (66 236) (55 751)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investing receipts

Proceeds from asset sales 5 3 065 19 116
Total investing receipts 3 065 19 116

Investing payments

Purchases of assets
Advances and investing payments (466 007) (251 552)

Total investing payments (466 007) (251 552)

NET CASH FROM/(USED IN)  
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(462 942) (232 437)
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1OT(
2011  
�000

2010  
�000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Financing receipts

Proceeds from borroZings 
'eposits received 2��
(Tuity inMections

Capital appropriation 102 1�1 �� ���
CommonZealth appropriation 3�� ��� 1�3 ��3
Other eTuity inMections 1� 000 � ��1

Total financing receipts 515 357 206 699

Financing payments

5epayment of borroZings ��2�� ��1��
(Tuity ZithdraZals �1 �00� ��03�

Total financing payments (2 528) (1 419)

NET CASH FROM/(USED IN)  
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

512 830 205 280

1et �decrease� � increase in cash held �1� 3��� ��2 �0��
Cash at beginning of financial year �1 2�� 12� 1�2

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR � 24 907 41 254

The Cash FloZ 6tatement is to be read in conMunction Zith the notes to the financial statements.
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1. OBJECTIVES AND FUNDING
  The primary role of the 'epartment of +ousing, Local Government and 5egional 

6ervices is to deliver social housing programs and related infrastructure across 
the Territory, and to build stronger regions and communities through sustainable 
economic development and effective local government.

  The agency provides a range of services to support and strengthen communities 
throughout the 1orthern Territory including public housing, government employee 
housing, supported accommodation, interpreter and translator services, regional 
and ,ndigenous development, coordination of remote service delivery, Zater safety 
and animal Zelfare.

 The agency has three output groups for budgeting and reporting purposes�
� Territory +ousing 6ervices
� Local Government, 5egional and Community 6ervices
� ,ndigenous Policy and 6ervice 'elivery Coordination

2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Basis of Accounting

  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance Zith the reTuirements 
of the Financial M anagement Act and related Treasurer’s 'irections. The Financial 
M anagement Act reTuires the 'epartment of +ousing, Local Government and 
5egional 6ervices to prepare financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
based on the form determined by the Treasurer. The form of agency financial 
statements is to include�

�i� a Certification of the Financial 6tatements� 
�ii� a 6tatement of Comprehensive ,ncome� 
�iii� a 6tatement of Financial Position� 
�iv� a 6tatement of Changes in (Tuity� 
�v� a Cash FloZ 6tatement� and 
�vi� applicable e[planatory notes to the financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, 
Zhich recognises the effect of financial transactions and events Zhen they occur, 
rather than Zhen cash is paid out or received. $s part of the preparation of the 
financial statements, all intra agency transactions and balances have been 
eliminated. 

([cept Zhere stated, the financial statements have also been prepared in 
accordance Zith the historical cost convention and do not taNe into account 
changing money values or fair values of non-current assets. These accounting 
policies have been consistently applied and, e[cept Zhere there is a change in 
accounting policy, are consistent Zith those of the previous year.
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The form of the agency financial statements is also consistent with the requirements 
of Australian Accounting Standards. The effects of all relevant new and revised 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) that are effective for the current annual reporting period have been 
evaluated. The Standards and Interpretations and their impacts are:

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (September 2007), AASB 2007-8 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101, AASB 
2007-10 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 101.

This Standard has been revised and introduces a number of terminology changes 
as well as changes to the structure of the Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
Statement of Changes in Equity. Other Comprehensive Income is now disclosed in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Changes in Equity 
discloses owner changes in equity separately from non-owner changes in equity. 

AASB 2009-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Improving 
Disclosures about Financial Instruments

The Standard amends AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures to require 
enhanced disclosures about fair value measurements. It establishes a three-level 
hierarchy for making fair value measurements, requiring those financial instruments 
measured at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position to be categorised into 
levels. 

b)  Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations Issued  
but not yet Effective

The agency did not adopt any new standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations that were available for early adoption at 30 June 2011. These new 
standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not likely to have any 
material impact on the agency in the period of initial adoption.

c) Agency and Territory Items

The financial statement of the agency includes income, expenses, assets, liabilities 
and equity over which the agency has control (agency items). 

Central Holding Authority

The Central Holding Authority is the ‘parent body’ that represents the Government’s 
ownership interest in Government controlled entities. 

The Central Holding Authority also records all Territory items, such as income, 
expenses, assets and liabilities controlled by the Government and managed by 
agencies on behalf of the Government. The main Territory item is Territory income, 
which includes taxation and royalty revenue, Commonwealth general purpose 
funding (such as GST revenue), fines, and statutory fees and charges. 
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The Central +olding $uthority also holds certain Territory assets not assigned to 
agencies as Zell as certain Territory liabilities that are not practical or effective to 
assign to individual agencies such as unfunded superannuation and long  
service leave.

The agency does not collect any Territory ,tems on behalf of the Central +olding 
$uthority. 

d) Comparatives

Comparative information for the 200�-10 financial year has been reclassified Zhere 
reTuired to provide consistency Zith current year disclosures.

e) Presentation and Rounding of Amounts

$mounts in the financial statements and notes to the financial statements are 
presented in $ustralian dollars and have been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars, Zith amounts of ��00 or less being rounded doZn to ]ero.

f) Changes in Accounting Policies

There have been no changes to accounting policies adopted in 2010-11 as a result 
of management decisions.

g) Accounting Judgements and Estimates 

The preparation of the financial report reTuires the maNing of Mudgements and 
estimates that affect the recognised amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 
e[penses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical e[perience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of Zhich form the 
basis of maNing the Mudgements about the carrying values of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. $ctual results may differ from  
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are revieZed on an ongoing basis. 
5evisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in Zhich the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements and estimates that have significant effects on the financial statements 
are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements. 1otes that include 
significant Mudgements and estimates are�
�  (mployee %enefits ± 1ote 2�u� and 1ote 12� 1on-current liabilities in respect of 

employee benefits are measured as the present value of estimated future cash 
outÀoZs based on the appropriate Government bond rate, estimates of future 
salary and Zage levels and employee periods of service. 

�  Contingent Liabilities ± 1ote 1�� The present value of material Tuantifiable 
contingent liabilities are calculated using a discount rate based on the published 
10-year Government bond rate.
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•  Doubtful Debts – Note 2(o), 8: Receivables and 16: Financial Instruments
•  Depreciation and Amortisation – Note 2(k), Note 9: Property, Plant and 

Equipment

h) Goods and Services Tax

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and 
Services Tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred on a purchase of 
goods and services is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO). In these 
circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset 
or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) 
is included as part of receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis. The GST 
components of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which 
are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash 
flows. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST 
recoverable or payable unless otherwise specified.

i) Income Recognition

Income encompasses both revenue and gains.

Income is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, exclusive of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST). Exchanges of goods or services of the 
same nature and value without any cash consideration being exchanged are not 
recognised as income.

Grants and Other Contributions

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions are recognised 
as revenue when the agency obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions. Control is normally obtained upon receipt.

Contributions are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only 
recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be 
purchased if not donated. 

Appropriation

Output Appropriation is the operating payment to each agency from the Central 
Holding Authority for the outputs they provide and is calculated as the net cost of 
agency outputs after taking into account funding from agency income. It does not 
include any allowance for major non-cash costs such as depreciation. 

Commonwealth appropriation follows from the Intergovernmental Agreement on 
Federal Financial Relations, resulting in Specific Purpose Payments and National 
Partnership Payments being made by the Commonwealth Treasury to state 
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treasuries, in a manner similar to arrangements for G6T payments. These payments 
are received by Treasury on behalf of the Central +olding $uthority and then on 
passed to the agency as CommonZealth $ppropriation.

5evenue in respect of appropriations is recognised in the period in Zhich the 
agency gains control of the funds.

Sale of Goods

5evenue from the sale of goods is recognised �net of returns, discounts and 
alloZances� Zhen�
� the significant risNs and reZards of oZnership of the goods have transferred to 

the buyer�
� the agency retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree 

usually associated Zith oZnership nor effective control over the goods sold�
� the amount of revenue can be reliably measured�
� it is probable that the economic benefits associated Zith the transaction Zill ÀoZ 

to the agency� and
� the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be 

measured reliably.

Rendering of Services

5evenue from rendering services is recognised by reference to the stage of 
completion of the contract. 5evenue is recognised Zhen�
� the amount of revenue, stage of completion and transaction costs incurred can 

be reliably measured� and
� it is probable that the economic benefits associated Zith the transaction Zill ÀoZ 

to the entity.

Interest Revenue

,nterest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taNing into account the effective yield 
on the financial asset.

Goods and Services Received Free of Charge

Goods and services received free of charge are recognised as revenue Zhen a fair 
value can be reliably determined and the resource Zould have been purchased if it 
had not been donated. 8se of the resource is recognised as an e[pense.

Disposal of Assets

$ gain or loss on disposal of assets is included as a gain or loss on the date control 
of the asset passes to the buyer, usually Zhen an unconditional contract of sale 
is signed. The gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference betZeen 
the carrying amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the net proceeds on 
disposal. 5efer also to note �.
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Contributions of Assets

Contributions of assets and contributions to assist in the acquisition of assets, 
being non-reciprocal transfers, are recognised, unless otherwise determined by 
Government, as gains when the agency obtains control of the asset or contribution. 
Contributions are recognised at the fair value received or receivable.

j) Repairs and Maintenance Expense

Funding is received for repairs and maintenance works associated with agency 
assets as part of Output Revenue. Costs associated with repairs and maintenance 
works on agency assets that do not meet the capitalisation criteria are expensed as 
incurred. 

k) Depreciation and Amortisation Expense

Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings but excluding land, have 
limited useful lives and are depreciated or amortised using the straight-line method 
over their estimated useful lives.

Amortisation applies in relation to intangible non-current assets with limited useful 
lives and is calculated and accounted for in a similar manner to depreciation.

The estimated useful lives for each class of asset are in accordance with the 
Treasurer’s Directions and are determined as follows:

2011

Buildings

urban buildings 50 years

Remote area buildings 40 years

Leased building upgrades Remaining period of lease

Plant and equipment 5 years

  Assets are depreciated or amortised from the date of acquisition or, in respect of 
internally constructed assets, from the time an asset is completed and held ready 
for use. where an asset is revalued due to capital construction or upgrade, or due 
to market movements, the useful life is reassessed and the annual depreciation 
charge is adjusted to reflect the new value of the asset.

l)  Interest Expense

 Interest expense is expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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m) Cash and Deposits

  For the purposes of the 6tatement of Financial Position and the Cash FloZ 
6tatement, cash includes cash on hand, cash at banN and cash eTuivalents. Cash 
eTuivalents are highly liTuid short-term investments that are readily convertible 
to cash. Cash at banN includes monies held in the $ccountable Officer’s Trust 
$ccount �$OT$� that are ultimately payable to the beneficial oZner ± refer also to 
note 20.

n) Inventories

  The 'epartment of +ousing, Local Government and 5egional 6ervices held no 
inventories in the financial year ending 30 June 2011.

o) Receivables

  5eceivables include accounts receivable and other receivables and are recognised 
at fair value less any alloZance for impairment losses.  The alloZance for 
impairment losses represents the amount of receivables the agency estimates are 
liNely to be uncollectible and are considered doubtful. $nalysis of the age of the 
receivables that are past due as at the reporting date are disclosed in an aging 
schedule under credit risN in 1ote 1� Financial ,nstruments. 5econciliation of 
changes in the alloZance accounts is also presented.

  $ccounts receivable are generally settled Zithin 30 days and other receivables 
Zithin �0 days.

 Rental and Other Charges

  The collectability of debts is assessed at year end for current rental, current 
maintenance and other debtors. $n alloZance for doubtful debts is made Zhen 
there is obMective evidence that a rental receivable is impaired. ,t is not considered 
practical to provide a specific alloZance. The amount of the alloZance as such has 
been measured as the difference betZeen the carrying amount and the future cash 
ÀoZs e[pected to be received Zithin the ne[t 12 months from each category of 
rental debtor. 'ebts are Zritten off during the year to the alloZance account Zhere 
tenants become deceased or collectability is similarly assessed as not viable.

p) Property, Plant and Equipment

 Acquisitions

  $ll items of property, plant and eTuipment Zith a cost, or other value, eTual to or 
greater than ��000 are recognised in the year of acTuisition and depreciated as 
outlined beloZ. ,tems of property, plant and eTuipment beloZ the ��000 threshold 
are e[pensed in the year of acTuisition. 

  The construction cost of property, plant and eTuipment includes the cost of 
materials and direct labour, and an appropriate proportion of fi[ed and variable 
overheads.
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 Complex Assets

  Major items of plant and equipment comprising a number of components that have 
different useful lives, are accounted for as separate assets. The components may 
be replaced during the useful life of the complex asset.

 Subsequent Additional Costs

  Costs incurred on property, plant and equipment subsequent to initial acquisition 
are capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits in excess of the 
originally assessed performance of the asset will flow to the agency in future years. 
where these costs represent separate components of a complex asset, they 
are accounted for as separate assets and are separately depreciated over their 
expected useful lives.

  Costs incurred on property, plant and equipment including repairs and maintenance 
that do not meet the criteria for capitalisation are expensed as incurred.

 Construction (Work in Progress)

  As part of the Financial Management Framework, the Department of Construction 
and Infrastructure is responsible for managing general government capital work 
projects on a whole of government basis. Appropriation relating to some office 
accommodation works for agency’s capital works is provided directly to the 
Department of Construction and Infrastructure and the cost of construction work in 
progress is recognised as an asset of that agency. Once completed, capital works 
assets are transferred to the agency. 

  Capitalising works in Progress – The Department of Housing, Local Government 
and Regional Services is responsible for managing government capital and 
minor works projects for current and new rental housing stock. The Department 
of Housing, Local Government and Regional Services is provided appropriation 
directly for the cost of work in progress for existing and new rental housing. This 
includes urban and remote Indigenous housing programs.

  All new works projects where costs over $5000 can be measured reliably against 
an asset are capitalised.

 Rental Dwellings 

 Acquisitions

  Constructed rental dwellings, upgrading costs and minor capital works carried out 
on existing rental dwellings are recorded at their expended completed contract 
price, including tendering costs, contract management and supervision fees and 
all fees and charges relating to construction as property assets. Rental dwelling 
contracts not completed at 30 June 2011 are stated as works in Progress. Capital 
works are capitalised when incurred.
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 Demolitions / Gifts

  Obsolete rental dZellings demolished and dZellings, Zhich are gifted or reverted 
under land rights legislation, are Zritten off in the financial year of occurrence. The 
Zrite-offs represent the Zritten-doZn historical cost component of such dZellings. 
$ppropriate adMustments are made against the asset revaluation reserve Zhere 
previous revaluations have occurred.

 Sales – Rental Dwellings

  'Zellings to be sold are valued immediately prior to the sale. The entity’s policy is 
to record the difference betZeen the sale price and the asset-carrying amount as a 
gain or loss on sale.

q) Revaluations and Impairment

 Revaluation of Assets

  6ubseTuent to initial recognition, assets belonging to the folloZing classes of non-
current assets are revalued Zith sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying 
amount of these assets does not differ materially from their fair value at  
reporting date� 
� Land
� %uildings

  Fair value is the amount for Zhich an asset could be e[changed, or liability settled, 
betZeen NnoZledgeable, Zilling parties in an arms length transaction. Land and 
buildings held by the agency, not classified for rental use have not been re-valued 
by the agency during the year ended 30 June 2011.

  Plant and eTuipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation, Zhich is 
deemed to eTuate to fair value.

 Revaluations

 Urban Rental Properties

   $n independent valuation of urban rental properties Zas completed at 30 June 
2011 by the $ustralian 9aluation Office, the results of Zhich are reÀected in 
these financial statements.

   The basis for the valuation of urban rental properties is that of µfair value’, being 
the amount for Zhich an asset could be e[changed betZeen NnoZledgeable 
Zilling parties in an arm’s length transaction. The entity has adopted the policy 
of revaluing its urban rental properties ± Zhich consist of land, houses, Àat 
comple[es and interest in bodies corporate, every year to ensure that the 
carrying amount does not differ materially from their fair value at reporting date.
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   where the carrying amount of any urban rental property was determined to be 
greater than its recoverable amount, the carrying amount of that dwelling has 
been written down to its recoverable amount. Details of the related carrying 
amount written down and any recoverable amount write-downs have been 
disclosed in the financial statements.

   Existing urban rental properties that have incurred major renovations or 
upgrading costs are re-valued as soon as possible after the contracts have been 
completed for these works. useful lives of all urban rental dwellings have been 
reassessed at the time of valuation. 

  Remote Rental Dwellings 

   The Australian valuation Office completed an independent valuation of remote 
rental dwellings at 30 June 2011, the results of which are reflected in these 
financial statements. The entity has adopted the policy of revaluing its remote 
area rental dwellings at 30 June each year.

   Remote rental dwellings are measured on the basis of ‘fair value’, using the 
replacement cost methodology. 

   The useful lives of all remote rental dwellings are also reassessed at the time of 
valuation. 

 Impairment of Assets

  An asset is said to be impaired when the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount.

 Rental Properties

  The entity has adopted the policy of revaluing its rental property assets annually, 
to ensure that assets are carried at amounts that are not in excess of their 
recoverable amounts. 

  where indications of impairment exist, the entity determines the asset’s 
recoverable amount as the asset’s depreciated replacement cost for remote area 
assets and fair value less costs to sell for urban area assets. 

  Any amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount 
is recorded as an impairment loss in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount. where the asset is measured 
at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is offset against the Asset Revaluation 
Reserve for that class of asset to the extent that an available balance exists in the 
Asset Revaluation Reserve.
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  :hen a prior impairment loss is reTuired to be reversed, the carrying amount of 
the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount. $ reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised in the 6tatement of Comprehensive ,ncome 
as income, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in Zhich case the 
impairment reversal results in an increase in the $sset 5evaluation 5eserve. 1ote 
1� provide additional information in relation to the $sset 5evaluation 5eserve.

  1on-current physical and intangible agency assets are assessed for indicators of 
impairment on an annual basis. ,f an indicator of impairment e[ists, the agency 
determines the asset’s recoverable amount. The asset’s recoverable amount is 
determined as the higher of the asset’s depreciated replacement cost and fair value 
less costs to sell. $ny amount by Zhich the asset’s carrying amount e[ceeds the 
recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss.

  ,mpairment losses are recognised in the 6tatement of Comprehensive ,ncome 
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount. :here the asset is measured 
at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is offset against the $sset 5evaluation 
6urplus for that class of asset to the e[tent that an available balance e[ists in the 
$sset 5evaluation 6urplus.

  ,n certain situations, an impairment loss may subseTuently be reversed. :here 
an impairment loss is subseTuently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset 
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount. $ reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised in the 6tatement of Comprehensive ,ncome, as 
income, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in Zhich case the 
impairment reversal results in an increase in the $sset 5evaluation 6urplus. 1ote 
1� provides additional information in relation to the $sset 5evaluation 6urplus.

r) Assets Held for Sale

  The entity applies the strict held for sale criteria before an asset is classified as held 
for sale including� 
� the asset is available for immediate sale� 
� the sale is highly probable� 
� management is committed to the sale� 
� the asset has been actively marNeted� and 
� the sale is e[pected to be completed Zithin one year. 

  :here an asset has been identified as µheld for sale’ these assets are measured at 
the loZer of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. $ssets held for sale 
are not depreciated, and are disclosed separately on the face of the 6tatement of 
Financial Position. 

  The strict held for sale criteria and the fact that a maMority of the entity’s assets are 
held for service delivery purposes are e[pected to result in very feZ held for sale 
assets. There are no assets held for sale in the current year.
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s) Leased Assets

  Leases under which the agency assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of an asset are classified as finance leases. Other leases are classified 
as operating leases.

 Finance Leases

  Finance leases are capitalised. A leased asset and a lease liability equal to the 
present value of the minimum lease payments are recognised at the inception of 
the lease.

  Lease payments are allocated between the principal component of the lease 
liability and the interest expense. 

 The agency did not enter into any finance leases during the year.

 Operating Leases

  Operating lease payments made at regular intervals throughout the term are 
expensed when the payments are due, except where an alternative basis is 
more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased 
property. Lease incentives under an operating lease of a building or office space is 
recognised as an integral part of the consideration for the use of the leased asset. 
Lease incentives are to be recognised as a deduction of the lease expenses over 
the term of the lease. 

t) Payables

  Liabilities for accounts payable and other amounts payable are carried at cost 
which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and 
services received, whether or not billed to the agency. Accounts payable are 
normally settled within 30 days.

u) Employee benefits 

  Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees 
rendering services up to the reporting date. These benefits include wages and 
salaries and recreation leave. Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries 
and recreation leave and other employee benefit liabilities that fall due within twelve 
months of reporting date are classified as current liabilities and are measured at 
amounts expected to be paid. Non-current employee benefit liabilities that fall due 
after twelve months of the reporting date are measured at present value, calculated 
using the Government long term bond rate.

  No provision is made for sick leave, which is non-vesting, as the anticipated 
pattern of future sick leave to be taken is less than the entitlement accruing in each 
reporting period. 
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  (mployee benefit e[penses are recognised on a net basis in respect of the 
folloZing categories�
� Zages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, recreation leave, sicN leave and 

other leave entitlements� and
� other types of employee benefits.

  $s part of the Financial 0anagement FrameZorN, the Central +olding $uthority 
assumes the long service leave liabilities of government agencies, including the 
'epartment of +ousing, Local Government and 5egional 6ervices and as such no 
long service leave liability is recognised in agency financial statements. 

v) Superannuation

 (mployees’ superannuation entitlements are provided through the�
� 1orthern Territory Government and Public $uthorities 6uperannuation 6cheme 

�1TGP$66��
� CommonZealth 6uperannuation 6cheme �C66�� or
� non-government employee nominated schemes for those employees 

commencing on or after 10 $ugust 1���. 

  The agency maNes superannuation contributions on behalf of its employees to 
the Central +olding $uthority or non-government employee nominated schemes. 
6uperannuation liabilities related to government superannuation schemes are held 
by the Central +olding $uthority and as such are not recognised in agency financial 
statements. 

w) Contributions by and Distributions to Government

  The agency may receive contributions from Government Zhere the Government is 
acting as oZner of the agency. Conversely, the agency may maNe distributions to 
Government. ,n accordance Zith the Financial M anagement Act and Treasurer’s 
'irections, certain types of contributions and distributions, including those relating 
to administrative restructures, have been designated as contributions by, and 
distributions to, Government. These designated contributions and distributions are 
treated by the agency as adMustments to eTuity.

  The 6tatement of Changes in (Tuity provides additional information in relation to 
contributions by, and distributions to, Government.

x) Commitments

  'isclosures in relation to capital and other commitments, including lease 
commitments are shoZn at note 1� and are consistent Zith the reTuirements 
contained in $$6% 101, $$6% 11� and $$6% 11�.

  Commitments are those contracted as at 30 June Zhere the amount of the future 
commitment can be reliably measured.
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y) borrowings

  Government loans are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration 
received less directly attributable transaction costs.

  After initial recognition, borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

z) Nature and Purpose of Reserves

  Reserves of the entity are categories of retained equity or proprietorship of the 
going concern. Transfers into and out of these reserves are disclosed in order 
to show the impact which transactions affecting assets during the year have on 
retained equity. The entity operates the following reserve accounts:
• Asset revaluation reserve: includes the net revaluation increments and 

decrements arising from the revaluation of non-current assets. Impairment 
adjustments and transfers of asset carrying values for sale or disposal of assets 
may also be recognised in the asset revaluation reserve. 

• Asset realisation reserve: tracks transactions relating to transfer of asset 
carrying values for sale or disposal of assets.



210 '(P$5T0(1T OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

Financial Statement P$5T 6,;

3.
 S

TA
TE

M
EN

T 
O
F 

CO
M
PR

EH
EN

SI
V
E 

O
PE

R
AT

IN
G
 B

Y 
O
U
TP

U
T 

G
R
O
U
P

 .
(

< 
'

(
L,

9
(

5
$

%
L(

6
1

O
T(

T(
5

5
,T

O
5

< 
+

O
8

6
,1

G
 

6
(

5
9

,C
(

6
 

20
11

 
�0

00

T(
5

5
,T

O
5

< 
+

O
8

6
,1

G
 

6
(

5
9

,C
(

6
 

20
10

 
�0

00

LO
C

$
L 

G
O

9
(

5
1

0
(

1
T,

 
5

(
G

,O
1

$
L 

$
1

'
 

C
O

0
0

8
1

,T
<   

6
(

5
9

,C
(

6
 

20
11

 
�0

00

LO
C

$
L 

G
O

9
(

5
1

0
(

1
T,

 
5

(
G

,O
1

$
L 

$
1

'
 

C
O

0
0

8
1

,T
<   

6
(

5
9

,C
(

6
 

20
10

 
�0

00

,1
'

,G
(

1
O

8
6

 
P

O
L,

C
< 

$
1

'
 

6
(

5
9

,C
(

 
'

(
L,

9
(

5
< 

C
O

O
5

'
,1

$T
,O

1

20
11

 
�0

00

,1
'

,G
(

1
O

8
6

 
P

O
L,

C
< 

$
1

'
 

6
(

5
9

,C
(

 
'

(
L,

9
(

5
< 

C
O

O
5

'
,1

$T
,O

1
 

20
10

 
�0

00

TO
T$

L 

20
11

 
�0

00

TO
T$

L 

20
10

 
�0

00

IN
C

O
M

E
 

G
ra

nt
s 

an
d 

su
bs

id
ie

s 
5

ev
en

ue
C

ur
re

nt
1�

 �
�0

� 
2�

3
�3

 �
��

��
 �

30
30

0
�3

�
��

 �
��

�1
 3

30
C

ap
ita

l
2 

12
2

� 
��

0
1�

0
2 

12
2

� 
�3

0
$

pp
ro

pr
ia

tio
n

O
ut

pu
t

1�
0 

3�
2

11
3 

��
�

��
 �

00
��

 0
��

3 
��

�
2 

�0
�

1�
3 

33
�

1�
0 

��
�

C
om

m
on

Z
ea

lth
13

� 
�0

�
��

 �
��

3 
2�

�
�0

0
13

� 
1�

�
�0

 �
��

6
al

es
 o

f g
oo

ds
 a

nd
 

se
rv

ic
es

 
�2

 �
0�

�2
 2

21
2 

10
�

2 
�3

�
1�

�
��

 �
��

��
 �

��

G
oo

ds
 a

nd
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

re
ce

iv
ed

 fr
ee

 o
f c

ha
rg

e
�

� 
��

0
� 

��
�

��
0

1 
�3

�
30

�3
� 

3�
0

� 
2�

�

G
ai

n 
on

 d
is

po
sa

l o
f 

as
se

ts
 

�
��

3
1 

�2
1

��
3

1 
�2

1

O
th

er
 in

co
m

e 
1 

0�
�

3�
�

1 
2�

�
3�

�
�

2 
2�

2
�1

�
TO

TA
L

 IN
C

O
M

E
 

35
3 

92
4

26
4 

84
5

10
0 

58
5

94
 9

87
4 

09
0

3 
29

7
45

8 
59

9
36

3 
12

9

E
X

P
E

N
S

E
S

 
(

m
pl

oy
ee

 e
[p

en
se

s
�1

 0
�1

3�
 �

32
12

 �
�1

1�
 1

��
2 

2�
�

2 
3�

�
��

 2
2�

�3
 �

��
$

dm
in

is
tra

tiv
e 

e[
pe

ns
es



211DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

Financial Statement PART SIX

Pu
rc

ha
se

s 
of

 g
oo

ds
 

an
d 

se
rv

ic
es

6
25

 3
72

23
 9

69
5 

46
5

12
 2

42
1 

36
6

99
4

32
 2

03
37

 2
05

R
ep

ai
rs

 a
nd

 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
21

 8
00

21
 8

41
21

7
10

1
22

 0
18

21
 8

51

Pr
op

er
ty

 
m

an
ag

em
en

t
33

 3
18

29
 7

70
31

5
43

1
43

59
33

 6
76

30
 2

60

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
an

d 
am

or
tis

at
io

n
28

 3
16

25
 5

26
74

64
5

5
28

 3
95

25
 5

95

O
th

er
 a

dm
in

is
tra

tiv
e 

ex
pe

ns
es

11
 1

09
6 

53
6

79
0

1 
53

2
30

43
11

 9
29

8 
11

1

G
ra

nt
s 

an
d 

su
bs

id
ie

s 
ex

pe
ns

es
C

ur
re

nt
10

5 
34

0
10

8 
23

3
79

 5
64

74
 8

45
1

18
4 

90
5

18
3 

07
8

C
ap

ita
l

14
1 

26
6

83
 7

73
4 

44
8

4 
34

3
2

14
5 

71
4

88
 1

18
C

om
m

un
ity

 s
er

vi
ce

 
ob

lig
at

io
ns

1 
23

9
1 

23
9

1 
23

9
1 

23
9

In
te

re
st

 e
xp

en
se

s
10

 8
08

10
 9

19
10

 8
08

10
 9

19
TO

TA
L

 E
X

P
E

N
S

E
S

41
9 

60
9

34
7 

73
8

10
3 

76
4

10
8 

62
5

3 
74

2
3 

48
1

52
7 

11
5

45
9 

84
4

N
E

T
 S

U
R

P
LU

S
/ (

N
E

T
 

D
E

F
IC

IT
)

(6
5 

68
5)

(8
2 

89
3)

(3
 1

79
)

(1
3 

63
8)

34
8

(1
84

)
(6

8 
51

6)
(9

6 
71

5)

O
T

H
E

R
 C

O
M

P
R

E
H

E
N

S
IV

E
 IN

C
O

M
E

A
ss

et
 re

va
lu

at
io

n 
/ 

re
al

is
at

io
n 

re
se

rv
e

14
13

3 
07

0
84

 5
81

13
3 

07
0

84
 5

81

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
to

 a
ss

et
 

re
va

lu
at

io
n 

re
se

rv
e

(3
52

)
(3

52
)

84
 5

81

TO
TA

L
 E

X
P

E
N

S
E

S
13

2 
71

8
 8

4 
58

1
13

2 
71

8
84

 5
81

C
O

M
P

R
E

H
E

N
S

IV
E

 
R

E
S

U
LT

67
 0

33
1 

68
8

(3
 1

79
)

(1
3 

63
8)

34
8

(1
84

)
(6

4 
20

2)
(1

2 
13

4)



212 '(P$5T0(1T OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

Financial Statement P$5T 6,;

2011  
�000

2010  
�000

4. OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Goods and services received free of charge ± 
'epartment of %usiness and (mployment

� 3�0 � 2��

Gifted assets 3 �1�
:rite offs and doubtful debts e[pensed 1 131 ���
TOTAL OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 11 929 8 111

5. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS
1et proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets 3 0�� 1� 11�
Less� carrying value of non-current assets disposed �2 ��2� �1� 2���
GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS 573 1 821

6. PURCHASES OF GOODS AND SERVICES
The net �deficit� has been arrived at after charging the folloZing e[penses�
Goods and services expenses
Consultants � ��3 1� ��0
$dvertising 1� �0
0arNeting and promotion ��� �0�
'ocument production �2 ��
Legal e[penses ��3 ���
5ecruitment 1�� 1�3
Training and study ��� ��3
Official duty fares 2 0�1 1 ��1
Travelling alloZance �02 ��2
Other operating e[penses 20 2�0 1� 0��
TOTAL GOODS AND SERVICES EXPENSE 32 203 37 205

7. CASH AND DEPOSITS
Cash on hand 11 11
Cash at banN 2� ��� �1 2��
TOTAL CASH AND DEPOSITS 24 907 41 255

8. RECEIVABLES
Current
$ccounts receivable 2� ��� 12 1�3
Less� alloZance for impairment losses �� 131� �� ��3�

20 437 3 400

G6T receivables � �1� ���
TOTAL RECEIVABLES 25 052 3 968
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2011  
$000

2010  
$000

9. PrOPertY, Plant and equiPment
Owned land 

Local government 1 794 1 794
Total value of owned land 1 794 1 794

Housing rental properties
urban rental properties 

urban vacant land at fair value 8 592 10 344
urban improved land at fair value 834 339 744 307
urban buildings at fair value 709 003 581 021

Total value of urban rental properties 1 551 934 1 335 672

Remote rental properties 
Remote vacant land at replacement cost 69 528
Remote improved land at replacement cost 6 340 2 062
Remote buildings at replacement cost 296 245  250 531
Less: accumulated depreciation (48 740) (42 952)

Total value of remote rental properties  253 914 210 169

TOTAL VALUE OF HOUSING RENTAL PROPERTIES 1 805 848 1 545 841

Construction (work in progress)
At capitalised cost 625 224 280 794

Total capitalised cost of construction 625 224 280 794

Plant and equipment
At fair value 7 885 2 565
Less: accumulated depreciation (2 127) (1 714)

Total value of plant and equipment 5 758 851

Computer hardware
At capitalised cost 64 45
 Less: accumulated depreciation (50) (37)

Total value of computer hardware 14 8

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 2 438 638 1 829 288
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2011 Property, Plant and Equipment Reconciliations

$ reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and eTuipment at the beginning 
and end of 2010-11 is set out beloZ.

Land 
�000

%uildings 
�000

Construction 
�ZorN in 

progress� 
�000

Plant and 
(Tuipment 

�000

Computer 
+ardZare 

�000
TOT$L 

�000

CARRYING 
AMOUNT AS  
AT 1 JULY 2010

12 666 1 534 969 280 794 851 8 1 829 288

$dditions 1 ��1 �0� �3� �1�� 1� 509 497

'isposals �1 003� �1 ���� (2 492)

'epreciation
 �� ���� ��12� �13� (6 212)

�'isposals� from 
administrative 
restructuring 

$dditions��disposals� 
from asset transfers 

�� ���� 1�� ��� �1�3 �0�� � 33� (1 979)

5evaluation 
increments

�2 ��1� 113 1�� 110 536

CARRYING 
AMOUNT AS  
AT 30 JUNE 2011

1 794 1 805 848 625 224 5 758 14 2 438 638
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2010 Property, Plant and Equipment Reconciliations

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning 
and end of 2009-10 is set out below:

Land 
$000

Buildings 
$000

Construction 
(work in 

progress) 
$000

Plant and 
Equipment 

$000

Computer 
Hardware 

$000
TOTAL 

$000

CARRYING 
AMOUNT AS  
AT 1 JULY 2009

6 760 1 492 769 33 467 660 16 1 533 672

Additions 1 565 249 945 42 251 552

Disposals (17 294) (17 294)

Depreciation* (3 660) (410) (8) (4 078)

(Disposals) from 
administrative 
restructuring 

(10) (10)

Additions/(disposals) 
from asset transfers 

1 632 2 800 (2 618) 569 2 383

Revaluation 
increments

2 709 60 354 63 063

CARRYING 
AMOUNT AS  
AT 30 JUNE 2010

12 666 1 534 969 280 794 851 8 1 829 288

*  The basis for the valuation of urban rental properties is that of ‘fair value’, being the amount for which an asset 
could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arms length transaction. As the value of these 
assets is updated, all depreciation relating to these assets is transferred to the asset revaluation reserve.
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2011  
�000

2010  
�000

10. PAYABLES
$ccounts payable 3 �3� 1 ��3
$ccrued e[penses �� ��� 12 2�2
,nterest payable 2� 2�

TOTAL PAYABLES 48 348 13 764

11. BORROWINGS AND ADVANCES
Current
Loans and advances 1 0�� �2�
Non-current
Loans and advances �2 22� �3 2�1
TOTAL BORROWING AND ADVANCES 83 281 84 209

12. PROVISIONS
(mployee benefits

5ecreation leave � 2�0 � 0��
Leave loading �1� ���
5ecreation leave fares �� ��

Other current provisions
Fringe benefits ta[ 12� 11�
Payroll ta[ ��� �3�
6uperannuation contributions ��� 3��

6 020 5 661

Non-current
(mployee benefits
5ecreation leave 2 1�� 1 �1�
TOTAL PROVISIONS 8 168 7 575

The agency employed �11 employees as at 30 June 2011.

13. OTHER LIABILITIES
Current
'eposits held 3 �13 3 2��
8nearned revenue ± rent charged � paid in advance 2 �2� 1 ���

5 839 5 116
Non-current
'eposits held ± rental security bond deposits 1 ��� 1 �33
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2011  
$000

2010  
$000

14. reServeS
(i) Land and Buildings  
The asset revaluation surplus includes the net revaluation 
increments and decrements arising from the revaluation 
of non-current Land and Buildings. Impairment 
adjustments may also be recognised in the Land and 
Buildings Revaluation Surplus.
(ii) Movements in the Land and Buildings Revaluation 
Surplus  
bALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 1 496 691 1 412 110
Increment - land (2 641) 2 709
Increment - buildings 113 529 60 354
Transfer accumulated depreciation to reserve 22 182 21 518

133 070 84 581

bALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 1 629 761 1 496 691

15. nOteS tO tHe caSH FlOw Statement
Reconciliation of Cash
The total of agency Cash and Deposits of $24 907 413  
recorded in the Statement of Financial Position is 
consistent with that recorded as ‘cash’ in the Cash Flow 
Statement.

Reconciliation of Net Surplus/(Net Deficit) to Net 
Cash From Operating Activities

NET (DEFICIT) (68 516) (96 715)
Non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation 28 395 25 595
Gifted assets 3 418
(Gain) on disposal of assets (573) (1 821)
Repairs and maintenance expense – non-cash 9 3

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) / decrease in receivables (21 084) 6 559
(Increase) / decrease in prepayments (148) 43
(Increase) / decrease in other assets   (14)
Increase / (decrease) in payables (8 906) 9 200
Increase / (decrease) in provision for employee Benefits 486 1 283
Increase / (decrease) in other provisions 107 105
Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities 576 11

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (66 236) (55 751)
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16. FNANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
$ financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and 
a financial liability or eTuity instrument of another entity. Financial instruments held by 
the 'epartment of +ousing, Local Government and 5egional 6ervices include cash and 
deposits, receivables, payables. The 'epartment of +ousing, Local Government and 
5egional 6ervices has limited e[posure to financial risNs as discussed beloZ.

a) Categorisation of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the 'epartment of +ousing, Local Government and 5egional 
6ervices financial assets and liabilities by category are disclosed in the table beloZ.

2011  
�000

2010  
�000

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash and deposits 2� �0� �1 2��
Loans and receivables  2� 0�2  � ���
$dvances ��3 �2�

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

'eposits held � 3�� � 100
8nearned revenue 2 �2� 1 ���
Payables �� 3�� 13 ���
$dvances and provisions � 1�� � ���
%orroZings �3 2�1 �� 20�

b) Credit Risk

The agency has limited credit risN e[posure �risN of default� Zith government agencies. 
,n respect of any dealings Zith organisations e[ternal to Government and individuals, 
the agency has adopted a policy of only dealing Zith credit Zorthy organisations 
and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security Zhere appropriate, as a means of 
mitigating the risN of financial loss from defaults.

The agency’s e[posure to credit risN is inÀuenced mainly by the individual characteristics 
of each non-government debtor. ,n monitoring debtor credit risN, debtors are grouped 
according to their aging profile and e[istence of previous financial difficulties. The entity 
reTuires bond deposits from customers in respect of rental dZellings. 

The agency has established an alloZance for impairment that represents its estimate 
of incurred losses in respect of debtor receivables and loan receivables. The main 
components of this alloZance are a specific loss component that relates to individual 
e[posures, and � or collective loss component established for groups of similar assets.

The collective loss alloZance is determined based on percentages derived from historical 
data of payment statistics.
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Based on historic default rates, the agency believes that no impairment allowance 
is necessary in respect of receivables from government agencies including Local 
Government organisations, rental and sundry debts less than 2 months old, ceased 
rental and sundry debts less than one month old, and bond assistance debts less than 
one month old.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any 
allowances for losses, represents the agency’s maximum exposure to credit risk without 
taking account of the value of any collateral or other security obtained.
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Receivables

5eceivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure that e[posure to bad 
debts is not significant. $ reconciliation and ageing analysis of receivables is  
presented beloZ.

$geing of 
5eceivables

�000

$geing of 
,mpaired 

5eceivables 

�000

1et 
5eceivables

�000

2010-11

1ot overdue 1� �3� 1� �3�
Overdue for less than 30 days �1� 30 ���
Overdue for 30 to �0 days 3�1 1�� 2��
Overdue for more than �0 days � �2� � ���  ���

TOTAL 29 568 9 131 20 437

RECONCILIATION OF THE ALLOWANCE FOR 
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Opening � ��3
:ritten off during the year �����
5ecovered during the year ��
,ncrease in alloZance recognised in profit or loss 1 1�1

TOTAL 9 131

2009-10

1ot overdue 2 �1� 2 �1�
Overdue for less than 30 days 2�� � 2��
Overdue for 30 to �0 days �3 � 3�
Overdue for more than �0 days � 133 � ��� 3��

TOTAL 12 193 8 793 3 400

RECONCILIATION OF THE ALLOWANCE FOR 
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Opening � ���
:ritten off during the year �2��
5ecovered during the year ��
,ncrease in alloZance recognised in profit or loss ���

TOTAL 8 793
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c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due. The agency’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always 
have sufficient liquidity to meet is liabilities when they fall due.  The following tables detail 
the agency’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial assets and liabilities. It should 
be noted that these values are undiscounted, and consequently totals may not reconcile 
to the carrying amounts presented in the Statement of Financial Position.

2011 FIXED INTEREST RATE

vARIABLE 
INTEREST

$000

LESS 
THAN A 

yEAR

$000

1 TO 5 
yEARS

$000

MORE 
THAN 5 
yEARS

$000

NON 
INTEREST 
BEARING

$000

TOTAL

$000

wEIGHTED 
AvERAGE

%

ASSETS

Cash and deposits 24 907 24 907

Receivables 25 052 25 052

Advances 973 973

Investment, loans 
and placements

1 000 1 000

TOTAL 
FINANCIAL 
ASSETS

51 932 51 932

LIABILITIES

Deposits held 7 823 7 823

Payables 48 348 48 348

Provisions 8 168 8 168

Borrowings 83 281 83 281 12.90%

TOTAL 
FINANCIAL 
ASSETS

83 281 64 339 147 620
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2010 F,;(' ,1T(5(6T 5$T(

9$5,$%L( 
,1T(5(6T

�000

L(66 
T+$1 $ 

<($5

�000

1 TO � 
<($56

�000

0O5( 
T+$1 � 
<($56

�000

1O1 
,1T(5(6T 
%($5,1G

�000

TOT$L

�000

:(,G+T(' 
$9(5$G(

�

ASSETS

Cash and deposits �1 2�� �1 2��

5eceivables 3 ��� 3 ���

$dvances �2� �2�

,nvestment, loans 
and placements

1 000 1 000

TOTAL 
FINANCIAL 
ASSETS

41 255 41 255

LIABILITIES

'eposits held � ��� � ���

Payables 13 ��� 13 ���

Provisions � ���  � ���

%orroZings �� 20� �� 20� 12.�0�

TOTAL 
FINANCIAL 
ASSETS

84 209 28 288 112 497

d) Market Risk

0arNet risN is the risN that the fair value of future cash ÀoZs of a financial instrument Zill 
Àuctuate because of changes in marNet prices. ,t comprises interest rate risN, price risN 
and currency risN. 

i) Interest Rate Risk

The 'epartment of +ousing, Local Government and 5egional 6ervices has limited 
e[posure to interest rate risN as agency financial assets and financial liabilities, Zith the 
e[ception of Treasury Loans are non-interest bearing. The 'epartment of +ousing, Local 
Government and 5egional 6ervices e[posure to interest rate risN on financial assets and 
financial liabilities is set out in the folloZing tables. 

Market Sensitivity Analysis

Changes in the variable rates of 100 basis points �1 per cent� at reporting date Zould 
have the folloZing effect on the agency’s profit or loss and eTuity 
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Profit or Loss and Equity
100 basis 

points 
increase

$000

100 basis 
points 

decrease 

$000

30 JUNE 2011

Financial assets – cash at bank 249 (249)
Financial assets – receivable loans 10 (10)
Financial liabilities – borrowings (833) 833

NET SENSITIVITY (574) 574

Profit or Loss and Equity
100 basis 

points 
increase

$000

100 basis 
points 

decrease 

$000

30 JUNE 2010

Financial assets – cash at bank 413 (413)
Financial assets – receivable loans 10 (10)
Financial liabilities – borrowings (842) 842

NET SENSITIVITY (419) 419

ii) Price Risk

The Department of Housing, Local Government and Regional Services is not exposed to 
price risk as it does not hold units in unit trusts.

iii) Currency Risk

The Department of Housing, Local Government and Regional Services is not exposed 
to currency risk as it does not hold borrowings denominated in foreign currencies or 
transactional currency exposures arising from purchases in a foreign currency.
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e) Net Fair Value

The fair value of financial instruments is estimated using various methods. These 
methods are classified into the folloZing levels� 

Level 1 ± fair value is calculated using Tuoted prices in active marNets. ,nstruments 
Zhose carrying amount is deemed to be eTual to its fair value Tualify for this level of 
classification.

Level 2 ± to be used for those instruments that cannot be classified as either Level 1  
or Level 3.

Level 3 ± fair value is estimated using inputs other than Tuoted marNet data, for e[ample, 
net present value.

2010-11
TOT$L 

C$55<,1G 
$0O81T

�000

1(T F$,5 
9$L8( 

L(9(L 1

�000

1(T F$,5 
9$L8( 

L(9(L 2

�000

1(T F$,5 
9$L8( 

L(9(L 3

�000

1(T F$,5 
9$L8( 

TOT$L

�000

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash and deposits 2� �0� 2� �0� 2� �0�

5eceivables 2� 0�2 2� 0�2 2� 0�2

$dvances and investments ��3 ��3 ��3

TOTAL FINANCIAL 
ASSETS

51 932 51 932 51 932

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

'eposits held � �23 � �23 � �23
Payables �� 3�� �� 3�� �� 3��
Provisions � 1�� � 1�� � 1��
%orroZings and advances �3 2�1 123 ��� 123 ���

TOTAL FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES

147 620 64 339 123 987 188 326
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2009-10
TOTAL 

CARRyING 
AMOuNT

$000

NET FAIR 
vALuE 

LEvEL 1

$000

NET FAIR 
vALuE 

LEvEL 2

$000

NET FAIR 
vALuE 

LEvEL 3

$000

NET FAIR 
vALuE 

TOTAL

$000

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash and deposits 41 255 41 255 41 255

Receivables 4 967 4 967 4 967

Advances and investments   826  826  826

TOTAL FINANCIAL 
ASSETS

47 048 47 048 47 048

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Deposits held 6 949 6 949 6 949
Payables 13 764 13 764 13 764
Provisions 7 575 7 575 7 575
Borrowings and advances 84 209 129 187 129 187

TOTAL FINANCIAL 
LIAbILITIES

112 497 27 833 129 187 157 475
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2011  
�000

2010  
�000

17. COMMITMENTS
i)  Capital Expenditure Commitments
Capital e[penditure commitments primarily relation to the 
construction of urban and remote housing and essential 
services. Capital e[penditure commitments contracted 
for at balance date but not recognised as liabilities are 
payable as folloZs�

:ithin one year 320 0�3 1�� ��0
Later than one year and not later than five years � �13 1�1 ��2
Later than five years

329 956 296 462

ii)  Other Expenditure Commitments
Other non-cancellable e[penditure commitments not 
recognised as liabilities are payable as folloZs�

:ithin one year 3� ��� �� �20
Later than one year and not later than five years � 0�� �� ��2
Later than five years

44 737 94 112

iii)  Operating Lease Commitments
The agency leases property under non-cancellable 
operating leases e[piring from 1 to 13 years. Leases 
generally provide the agency Zith a right of reneZal at 
Zhich time all lease terms are renegotiated. The agency 
also leases items of plant and eTuipment under non-
cancellable operating leases. Future operating lease 
commitments not recognised as liabilities are payable as 
folloZs� 

:ithin one year � ��3 � 3�1
Later than one year and not later than five years � 0�� � 3��
Later than five years � 3�0 � ���

17 288 16 566

iv)  Finance Lease Commitments
The 'epartment of +ousing, Local Government and 
5egional 6ervices had no finance lease commitments as 
at 30 June 2011.
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18.  cOntingent liabilitieS and cOntingent aSSetS
a) Contingent liabilities

  The Department of Housing, Local Government and Regional Services has one 
category of Contingent Liability of materiality as follows:

  Appeals board Members Indemnification

  Territory Housing Appeals Board members in Alice Springs and Darwin are 
indemnified against all actions, proceedings, claims, demands, liabilities, losses, 
expenses (legal or otherwise) and payments whatsoever arising out of or in respect 
of an act or thing done or omitted to be done by Members in the their capacity as a 
Member of the Board. To date there have been no claims.

 b) Contingent assets

  The Department of Housing, Local Government and Regional Services had no 
contingent assets as at 30 June 2011 or 30 June 2010.

19. eventS SubSequent tO balance date
  No events have arisen between the end of the financial year and the date of this 

report that require adjustment to, or disclosure in these financial statements.

20. accOuntable OFFicerS truSt accOunt
  In accordance with section 7 of the Financial Management Act, an Accountable 

Officer’s Trust Account has been established for the receipt of money to be held in 
trust. A summary of activity is shown below:

NATuRE OF TRuST MONEy

OPENING 
BALANCE 

1 JuLy  
2010 RECEIPTS PAyMENTS

CLOSING 
BALANCE 

30 JuNE  
2011

Jabiru Town Development Authority 3 197 140 (99) 3 238

unclaimed money 63 155 (50) 168

Tenants security bond deposits 1 833 203 (52) 1 984

Contractors retention 7 7

5 100 498 (201) 5 397
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21. WRITE-OFFS, POSTPONEMENTS AND WAIVERS

$gency $gency

2011  
�000

1O. OF 
T5$16.

2010  
�000

1O. OF 
T5$16.

WRITE-OFFS, POSTPONEMENTS 
AND WAIVERS UNDER THE 
FIN AN C IAL M AN AGE M E N T AC T

5epresented by�

$mounts Zritten off, postponed and 
Zaived by 'elegates

,rrecoverable amounts payable  
to the Territory or an agency 
Zritten off

  �0�  ��� 11 20

Losses or deficiencies of money 
Zritten off

2 �

Public property Zritten off

:aiver or postponement of right to 
receive or recover money  
or property

TOTAL WRITTEN OFF, 
POSTPONED AND WAIVED  
BY DELEGATES

  407  955 13 25

$mounts Zritten off, postponed and 
Zaived by the Treasurer 

,rrecoverable amounts payable  
to the Territory or an agency 
Zritten off

  3�1  1�� 12 1

Losses or deficiencies of money 
Zritten off

Public property Zritten off

:aiver or postponement of right to 
receive or recover money  
or property

  1��   �0

TOTAL WRITTEN OFF, 
POSTPONED AND WAIVED  
BY THE TREASURER

  490  195 12 1
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TOTAL WRITE-OFFS, 
POSTPONEMENTS AND 
WAIVERS UNDER THE FINANCIAL 
MANAGEMENT ACT

897 1150 25 26

TOTAL WRITE-OFFS, 
POSTPONEMENTS AND WAIVERS 
AUTHORISED UNDER OTHER 
LEGISLATION (A)

TOTAL GIFTS UNDER THE 
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT ACT

 3 418     1

TOTAL EX GRATIA PAYMENTS 
UNDER THE FINANCIAL 
MANAGEMENT ACT

22. ScHedule OF territOrY itemS
The Department of Housing, Local Government and Regional Services has no 
Territory items for the year ending 30 June 2011.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT OVERVIEW
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

NT Home Ownership has been operating for three years as a government business 
division ( ie an agency or part of an agency established under the Financial Management 
Act that recovers a significant proportion of its operating costs through user charges�. 
Pursuant to the Financial Management Act, a government business division �G%'� 
is a separate reporting entity and, as such is, reTuired to prepare its annual financial 
statements in accordance with the format as determined by the Treasurer and in 
compliance Zith $ustralian $ccounting 6tandards.  

Consistent with general commercial principles, GBDs are also req uired to pay tax and 
dividends on any profit made during the year.

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

A key obj ective under the Government’s Territory 2030 plan is to offer affordable  
and appropriate housing that meets the varying needs of Territorians. 

NT Home Ownership’s core business is to oversee the Northern Territory Government’s 
home purchase assistance products including +O0(6T$5T 1T. 

HOMESTART NT was launched on 1 June 2009, succeeding the HomeNorth X tra 
program. These programs provide affordable loans to loZ and middle income earners to 
assist Territorians into home oZnership.  

HOMESTART NT is designed to enable eligible applicants to access around 40 per cent of 
the housing marNet in their regions using no more than 30 per cent of their gross income. 
The scheme offers Territorians two options for purchasing their homes:

1. +O0(6T$5T 1T 100 per cent oZnership� This option enables applicants to purchase 
100 per cent of their interest in a property;  and

2. +O0(6T$5T 1T 6hared (Tuity Loan� 8nder this option, the Government Zill buy a 
share of the property Zith the client. The shared eTuity scheme offers assistance of up to 
��� 000 or 30 per cent of the property value, Zhichever is the lesser amount. 

HOMESTART NT also offers an interest-free fee assistance loan to help with costs 
associated Zith purchasing a home, such as stamp duty and conveyancing costs. 
+O0(6T$5T 1T has a loZ 2 per cent deposit reTuirement. 

NT Home Ownership continues to explore options to increase home ownership within the 
Territory community. ,n this regard, +O0(6T$5T 1T thresholds for income and property 
market values are regularly reviewed to ensure the option continues to be open to as 
many Territorians as possible.

,n addition to providing home purchase assistance products, 1T +ome OZnership also 
facilitated the sale of house and land packages across the Territory including thirteen 
house and land packages at Bellamack, ten vacant lots at Johnston Stage 1B and six 
house and land pacNages at 5idges (state, Larapinta.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

1T +ome OZnership has continued to shoZ a positive outcome in its financial 
performance, posting a net surplus in operating activities after income ta[ of �3.� million 
in 2010-11. The comprehensive result Zas doZn from the previous year’s net surplus of 
��.02 million, largely due to the income ta[ adMustment in 200�-10. 

As shown in the graph below, 2010-11 is the third consecutive year NT Home Ownership 
has recorded a net operating surplus after tax since its establishment as a government 
business division.  
 
Chart 9: Net operating surplus after tax
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INCOME

On 30 June 2011, NT Home Ownership’s loan portfolio comprised 1668 loans issued 
to Territorians totalling �13� million. 1T +ome OZnership’s largest source of income is 
interest revenue from these loans Zhich comprises tZo thirds of its income. 

Other sources of income during the year, in order of magnitude include:
�  revaluation of investments ± the net increase in the value of shared eTuity properties, 

revalued annually by the $ustralian 9aluation Office�
�  community service obligation �C6O� receipts and other income� 
�  gain on disposal of investments ± the net result betZeen the booN value and sale price 

of a property in which the Government has a shared eq uity interest;  and
�  sales of goods and services ± fees from clients for loan applications and property 

revaluation fees.

The folloZing chart illustrates the various components of income.
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Chart 10: Income

Interest revenue 6 4 %  

Gain in disposal of investments 7 %  

CSO receipts 9 % 

Revaluation of investment increases 20%   

Sales of goods and services <1%  

EXPENSES

NT Home Ownership’s largest expense relates to interest on its loans, payable  
to the 1orthern Territory Treasury Corporation. ,nterest payments are based on an 
interest rate agreed with Northern Territory Treasury Corporation and are payable  
in regular monthly instalments. 

Administrative expenses incurred during the year predominantly relate to non 
discretionary costs such as Territory ,nsurance Office �T,O� administration fees and 
marNeting and promotion costs associated Zith land releases. $dministration fees are 
paid to T,O for managing 1T +ome OZnership’s loan portfolio and are based on the 
number of loan applications assessed and processed.

The chart below illustrates the various components of expenses and their  
relative magnitude. 

Chart 11: Expenses

Personnel 2%  

Administration 23% 

Interest 75%   

Other <1%  
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Statement OF Financial pOSitiOn

The Statement of Financial Position reports the value of assets, liabilities and equity 
interest of an entity on a particular reporting date, in this case 30 June.  

aSSetS

As at 30 June 2011, NT Home Ownership held an interest in 701 shared equity properties 
to the value of $52.24 million and a housing loan portfolio of $138 million, constituting 
1668 loans to Territorians. 

During 2010-11, 106 new home ownership loans were funded valued at over $34 million. 
The average new loan amount was $258 922 and the median purchase price was  
$337 886. The difference between these amounts largely relates to Government’s  
shared equity purchases. 

Home Loans

NT Home Ownership’s home loan portfolio increased by almost $10 million over the  
12 months to 30 June 2011 from $127.97 million to $138 million. This is a result of the 
value of new loans provided ($34.96 million) exceeding the value of loans discharged 
($26.13 million). As at 30 June 2011, there were 1668 loans in NT Home Ownership’s 
home loan portfolio, compared to 1692 at 30 June 2010.

Shared Equity

NT Home Ownership’s total interest in shared equity arrangements increased in the  
12 months to 30 June 2011 from $50.07 million to $52.73 million, with 97 per cent of 
clients purchasing properties through the shared equity scheme. During the year, 7 new 
shared equity arrangements were entered into, compared with 115 in 2009-10. Although 
there were a lower number of new shared equity arrangements entered into in 2010-11 in 
comparison to the prior year, the increase in the value of the shared equity investments is 
largely due to higher property values.

liabilitieS

The largest component of liabilities on NT Home Ownership’s Statement of Financial 
Position is the value of loans, reported under Note 15, Borrowings and Advances.

The total balance of loans owed to Northern Territory Treasury Corporation at 30 June 
2011 increased from $159.62 million in 2009-10 to $163.14 million. This increase is 
largely due to additional funding required to finance new home loan applications and 
shared equity interests in properties, which exceeded loan discharges. Interest payments 
on the new $10 million loan will commence in 2011-12.
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CERTIFICATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT

:e certify that the attached financial statements for the 'epartment of +ousing, Local 
Government and Regional Services’ government business division NT Home Ownership 
have been prepared from proper accounts and records in accordance with the prescribed 
format, the Financial Management Act and Treasurer’s 'irections.

:e further state that the information set out in the 6tatement of Comprehensive ,ncome, 
Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Eq uity, Cash Flow Statement, 
and notes to and forming part of the financial statements, presents fairly the financial 
performance and cash ÀoZs for the year ended 30 June 2011 and the financial position 
on that date.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the 
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±   ±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±±

.en 'avies      'Zayne 0c,nnes 
Chief ([ecutive     Chief Financial Officer 
31 August 2011     31 August 2011
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Statement OF cOmprehenSive incOme
For the year ended 30 June 2011 

NOTE
2011 
$000

2010 
$000

INCOME

Sales of goods and services 6 22 30

Interest revenue 5 9 280 7 684

Gain on disposal of investments 4 1 032 1 518

Other revenue 6 1 309 1 241

Revaluation of investments increase / (decrease) 8 2 838 4 054

TOTAL INCOME 3 14 481 14 527

EXPENSES 

Employee expenses 212 209

Administrative expenses

Purchases of goods and services 7 2 362 2 365

Other administrative expenses 12 9

Grants and subsidies expenses

Current 7 1 62

Interest expenses 7 492 7 761

TOTAL EXPENSES 3 10 079 10 406

NET SURPLUS BEFORE INCOME TAX 4 402 4 121

Income tax expense 9 469 20

Income tax adjustment 2008-09 9 (1 921)

NET SURPLUS AFTER INCOME TAX 3 933 6 022

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT 3 933 6 022

The Statement of Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As At 30 June 2011

NOTE
2011 
$ 000

2010 
$ 000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and deposits 10 10 300 15 152
Receivables 11 40 80
Advances 11 2 329 1 925

Total current assets 12 669 17 157

Non-current assets

Advances 11 135 675 126 045
Property, plant and eq uipment 12 562 562
Shared eq uity investments 13 52 730 50 076

Total non-current assets 188 967 176 683

TOTAL ASSETS 201 636 193 840

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 14 426 514
Borrowings and advances 15 6 787 6 475
Provisions 16 1 047 63
Other liabilities 17 15

Total current liabilities 8 260 7 067

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings and advances 15 156 356 153 143
Provisions 16 7 2

Total non-current liabilities 156 363 153 145

TOTAL LIABILITIES 164 623 160 212

NET ASSETS 37 013 33 628

EQUITY

Capital 22 745 22 745
Accumulated funds 14 268 10 883

TOTAL EQUITY 37 013 33 628

The 6tatement of Financial Position is to be read in conMunction Zith the notes to the financial statements.
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Statement OF changeS in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Equity at  
1 July $000

Comprehensive 
result $000

Transactions 
with owners in 
their capacity 

as owners $000

Equity at  
30 June  

$000

2010-11

Accumulated funds 10 883 3 933 14 816

2010-11 dividend payable (548) (548)

10 883 3 933 (548) 14 268

Capital - transactions  
with owners

22 745 22 745

22 745 22 745

Total equity at end  
of financial year

33 628 3 933 (548) 37 013

2009-10

Accumulated funds 2 643 6 022 8 665

2008-09 dividend adjustment 2 642 2 642

2008-09 dividends paid (401) (401)

2009-10 dividend payable (23) (23)

2 643 6 022 2 218 10 883

Capital - transactions  
with owners

22 745 22 745

22 745 22 745

Total equity at end  
of financial year

25 388 6 022 2 218 33 628

This Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 30 June 2011

NOTE
2011  
$ 000

2010  
$ 000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating receipts

Receipts from sales of goods and services 1 500 1 421
,nterest received 9 312 7 633

Total operating receipts 10 812 9 054
Operating payments

Payments to employees �1��� �212�
Payments for goods and services �2 �3�� �2 ��2�
,ncome ta[ paid �20� �3���
Grants and subsidies paid

Current �1� ��2�
,nterest paid �� ���� �� ��1�

Total operating payments (10 318) (10 921)

Net cash (used in) / from operating activities 18 494 (1 867)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing receipts

Repayment of advances 18 755 30 757
Sales of investments 4 7 379 11 500

Total investing receipts 26 134 42 257
Investing payments

Purchases of assets 12 ���2�
Advances and investing payments �3� ���� ��0 033�

Total investing payments (34 964) (40 595)

Net cash from investing activities (8 830) 1 662

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Financing receipts

Proceeds from borrowings 10 000
Deposits received �1��

Total financing receipts 9 985

Financing payments
Repayment of borrowings �� ���� �� 1�0�
Dividends paid �23� ��01�

Total financing payments (6 501) (6 581)

Net cash (used in) / from financing activities 3 484 (6 581)
1et �decrease� � increase in cash held �� ��2� �� ����
Cash at beginning of financial year 15 152 21 938

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 10 10 300 15 152

The Cash FloZ 6tatement is to be read in conMunction Zith the notes to the financial statements.



241DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

NT Home Ownership Financial Statement

nOteS tO the Financial StatementS
For the year ended 30 June 2011

inDex OF nOteS tO the Financial StatementS

1. Objectives and Funding 
2. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies  
3. Statement of Comprehensive Income by Business Line

 INCOME

4. Gain on Disposal of Investments 
5. Interest Revenue 
6. Sales and Other Revenue

 EXPENSES

7. Purchases of Goods and Services 
8. Revaluation of Investments 
9. Income Tax Expense and Tax Equivalent Regime

 ASSETS

10. Cash and Deposits 
11. Receivables and Advances 
12. Property, Plant and Equipment 
13. Shared Equity Investments

 LIABILITIES

14. Payables 
15. Borrowings and Advances 
16. Provisions 
17. Other Liabilities

 OTHER DISCLOSURES

18. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement
19. Financial Instruments
20. Commitments
21. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
22. Events Subsequent to Balance Date
23. Write-offs, Postponements, Waivers, Gifts and Ex Gratia Payments
24. Community Service Obligations
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1. OBJECTIVES AND FUNDING

  NT Home Ownership provides HOMESTART NT as a Northern Territory 
Government initiative to assist Territorians to buy their oZn home.  
+O0(6T$5T 1T is administered by the Territory ,nsurance Office. 1T +ome 
Ownership is a distinct legal entity operated as a government business division  
of the 'epartment of +ousing, Local Government and 5egional 6ervices.

  :ith financial support from +O0(6T$5T 1T, eligible Territorians earning loZ 
to middle incomes can buy their own home using less than 30 per cent of their 
income. There is a range of loan types and fee assistance loans to help Zith costs 
such as stamp duty, purchase fees and Zhite goods.

2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Basis of Accounting

  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance Zith the reTuirements 
of the Financial Management Act and related Treasurer’s 'irections. The Financial 
Management Act reTuires the 1T +ome OZnership �the entity� to prepare financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June based on the form determined by the 
Treasurer. The form of the entity’s financial statements is to include�

�i� a Certification of the Financial 6tatements� 
�ii� a 6tatement of Comprehensive ,ncome� 
�iii� a 6tatement of Financial Position� 
�iv� a 6tatement of Changes in (Tuity� 
�v� a Cash FloZ 6tatement� and 
�vi� applicable e[planatory notes to the financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, 
Zhich recognises the effect of financial transactions and events Zhen they occur, 
rather than Zhen cash is paid out or received. $s part of the preparation of the 
financial statements, all intra entity transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance Zith the historical cost 
convention and, except where stated, do not take into account changing money 
values or fair values of non-current assets.

The form of the entity’s financial statements is also consistent Zith the 
reTuirements of $ustralian $ccounting 6tandards. The effects of all relevant neZ 
and revised 6tandards and ,nterpretations issued by the $ustralian $ccounting 
6tandards %oard �$$6%� that are effective for the current annual reporting period 
have been evaluated. The 6tandards and ,nterpretations and their impacts are�

AASB 2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from the Annual Improvements Project [AASB 5, 8, 101, 107, 117, 118, 136 & 139].
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A number of amendments are largely technical, clarifying particular terms or 
eliminating unintended consequences. Other changes include current/non-current 
classification of convertible instruments, the classification of expenditure on 
unrecognised assets in the cash flow statement and the classification of leases of 
land and buildings. The Standard does not impact the financial statements.

b)  Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations Issued  
but not yet Effective

The entity did not adopt any new standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations that were available for early adoption at 30 June 2011. These new 
standards amendments to standards and interpretations are not likely to have any 
material impact on the entity in the period of initial adoption.

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the Standards and 
Interpretations listed below were in issue but not yet effective.

Standard/ Interpretation Summary

Effective for  
annual reporting 
periods beginning 
on or after

Impact on  
financial statements

AASB 2010-4 Further 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising 
from the Annual 
Improvements 
Project [AASB 1, 
7, 101 & 134 and 
Interpretation 13]

Key amendments 
include clarification of 
content of statement 
of changes in equity 
(AASB 101) and 
financial instrument 
disclosures (AASB 7)

1 Jan 2011 No material 
impact on 
the financial 
statements 

AASB 2010-5 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards [AASB 1, 
3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 
118, 119, 121, 132, 
133, 134, 137, 139, 
140, 1023 & 1038 
and Interpretations 
112, 115, 127, 132 & 
1042]

Makes numerous 
editorial amendments 
to a range of 
Standards and 
Interpretations

1 Jan 2011 No material 
impact on 
the financial 
statements

Interpretation 4 
Determining whether 
an Arrangement 
contains a Lease

Provides guidance 
on identifying lease 
arrangements

1 Jan 2011 No material 
impact on 
the financial 
statements
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c) Comparatives

Comparative information for the 200�-10 financial year has been reclassified, 
Zhere reTuired, to provide consistency Zith current year disclosures.

d) Presentation and Rounding of Amounts

$mounts in the financial statements and notes to the financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars and have been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars, Zith amounts of ��00 or less being rounded doZn to ]ero.

e) Changes in Accounting Policies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent Zith those of the previous year.

f) Accounting Judgements and Estimates 

The preparation of the financial report reTuires the maNing of Mudgements and 
estimates that affect the recognised amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 
e[penses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the 
basis of making the j udgements about the carrying values of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. $ctual results may differ from 
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are revieZed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements and estimates that have significant effects on the financial statements 
are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements. 1otes that include 
significant Mudgements and estimates are�
� (mployee %enefits ± 1ote 2�u� and 1ote 1�� 1on-current liabilities in respect of 

employee benefits are measured as the present value of estimated future cash 
outÀoZs based on the appropriate Government bond rate, estimates of future 
salary and Zage levels and employee periods of service. 

� Contingent Liabilities ± 1ote 21� The present value of material Tuantifiable 
contingent liabilities are calculated using a discount rate based on the published 
10-year Government bond rate.

� 'oubtful 'ebts ± 1ote 2�m�, 1ote 11� 5eceivables and 1ote 1��  
Financial ,nstruments.

� 'epreciation and $mortisation ± 1ote 2�n�, 1ote 12� Property,  
Plant and (Tuipment.
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g) Goods and Services Tax

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and 
services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred on a purchase of 
goods and services is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 

In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis. The GST 
components of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which 
are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash 
flows. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST 
recoverable or payable unless otherwise specified.

h) Income Recognition

Income encompasses both revenue and gains.

Income is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, exclusive of 
the amount of goods and services tax (GST). Exchanges of goods or services of 
the same nature and value without any cash consideration being exchanged are 
not recognised as income.

Grants and Other Contributions

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions are recognised 
as income when the entity obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions. Control is normally obtained upon receipt.

Contributions are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only 
recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be 
purchased if not donated.

Rendering of Services

Revenue from rendering services is recognised upon the rendering of services to 
customers. Revenue is recognised when:
• the amount of revenue, stage of completion and transaction costs incurred can 

be reliably measured; and
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow 

to the entity.

Interest Revenue

Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield 
on the financial asset.
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Disposal of Assets – Investments

A gain or loss on disposal of assets is included as a gain or loss on the date control 
of the asset passes to the buyer, usually when an unconditional contract of sale 
is signed. The gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference betZeen 
the carrying amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the net proceeds on 
disposal.

Community Service Obligation Funding

Community service obligation funding is received from the Northern Territory 
Government where the entity is req uired to carry out activities on a non-commercial 
basis. 5evenue in respect of this funding is recognised in the period in Zhich the 
entity gains control of the funds or when the goods or services have been delivered 
by the entity to agreed specifications and have been certified according to agreed 
performance measures.

Contributions of Assets

Contributions of assets and contributions to assist in the acq uisition of assets, 
being non-reciprocal transfers, are recognised, unless otherwise determined by 
Government, as gains Zhen the entity obtains control of the asset or contribution. 
Contributions are recognised at the fair value received or receivable.

i) Interest Expense

,nterest e[penses include interest and finance lease charges. ,nterest e[penses 
are e[pensed in the period in Zhich they are incurred.

j) Taxation

The entity is req uired to pay income tax on its accounting surplus, at the company 
tax rate of 30 per cent in accordance with the req uirements of the Treasurer’s 
'irections and the Ta[ (Tuivalents 5egime.

k) Cash and Deposits

For the purposes of the Statement of Financial Position and the Cash Flow 
6tatement, cash includes cash on hand, cash at banN and cash eTuivalents. Cash 
eq uivalents are highly liq uid short-term investments that are readily convertible to 
cash.

l) Financial Instruments

Non-derivative

1on-derivative financial instruments comprise cash and cash eTuivalents, trade 
and other receivables, loans and borroZings, and trade and other payables.

1on-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, 
for instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, any directly attributable 
transaction costs. 6ubseTuent to initial recognition non-derivative financial 
instruments are measured as described beloZ.
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A financial instrument is recognised if the entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are recognised at trade date (less 
impairment). Financial assets are derecognised if the entity transfers the financial 
asset to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards 
of the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the entity’s obligations specified 
in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

Derivative

The entity does not have any derivative financial instruments.

m) Receivables

Receivables include accounts receivable and other receivables and are recognised 
at fair value less any allowance for impairment losses.

The allowance for impairment losses represents the amount of receivables the 
entity estimates are likely to be uncollectible and are considered doubtful. Analysis 
of the age of receivables that are past due as at the reporting date are disclosed in 
an aging schedule under credit risk in Note 19 Financial Instruments. Reconciliation 
of changes in the allowance accounts is also presented.

Accounts receivable are generally settled within 30 days and other receivables 
within 60 days.

Home Loans

The collectability of debts is assessed at yearend for home loan debtors. The entity 
will recognise an allowance for doubtful loans when objective evidence exists that 
all or part of a loan is impaired and unlikely to be collected. Loans are written off to 
the allowance account when they are assessed as not viable.

n) Depreciation and Amortisation Expense

Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings but excluding land, have 
limited useful lives and are depreciated or amortised using the straight-line method 
over their estimated useful lives. As at 30 June 2011 the entity did not hold any 
depreciable property, plant or equipment assets.

o) Property, Plant and Equipment

Acquisitions

All items of property, plant and equipment with a cost, or other value, equal to or 
greater than $5000 are recognised in the year of acquisition. Items of property, 
plant and equipment below the $5000 threshold are expensed in the year of 
acquisition. 
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p) Revaluations and Impairment

Revaluation of Assets

6ubseTuent to initial recognition, assets are revalued Zith sufficient regularity to 
ensure that the carrying amount of these assets does not differ materially from their 
fair value at reporting date. Fair value is the amount for Zhich an asset could be 
exchanged, or liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arms 
length transaction. 

Non-Current Investment – Minority Interest Holding Revaluations

These are properties held under HOMESTART NT and properties purchased and/
or constructed from�by e[ternal parties under +O0(6T$5T 1T.

Minority interest holdings are measured on the fair value basis, being the amount 
for which an asset could be exchanged by knowledgeable willing parties in an 
arm’s length transaction. The entity has adopted the policy of revaluing its minority 
interest holdings every year with any changes in fair value recognised as a gain or 
loss in the 6tatement of Comprehensive ,ncome.

An independent valuation was completed at 30 June 2011 by the Australian 
9aluation Office, the results of Zhich are reÀected in these financial statements. 

Impairment of Assets

An asset is said to be impaired when the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The entity’s non-current physical and intangible assets 
are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis. ,f an indicator of 
impairment e[ists, the entity determines the asset’s recoverable amount. The 
asset’s recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the asset’s depreciated 
replacement cost and fair value less costs to sell. $ny amount by Zhich the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment 
loss. ,mpairment losses are recognised in the 6tatement of Comprehensive 
,ncome.

Impairment of Financial Assets

Financial assets are reviewed at each Statement of Financial Position date to 
determine Zhether there is obMective evidence of impairment. $ financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if there 
is obj ective evidence of impairment, resulting from one or more loss events that 
occurred after initial recognition that indicates that it is probable that the entity will 
be unable to collect all amounts due. The carrying amount of a financial asset 
identified as impaired is reduced to its estimated recoverable amount.
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q) Assets Held for Sale

Assets held for sale consists of those assets which management has determined 
are available for immediate sale in their present condition, and their sale is highly 
probable within the next 12 months.

These assets are measured at the lower of the asset’s carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell. These assets are not depreciated. Non-current assets held 
for sale have been recognised on the face of the financial statements under plant 
and equipment.

r) Leased Assets

Leases under which the entity assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of an asset are classified as finance leases. Other leases are classified  
as operating leases.

The entity has no finance or operating leases.

s) Payables

Liabilities for accounts payable and other amounts payable are carried at cost 
which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and 
services received, whether or not billed to the entity. Accounts payable are normally 
settled within 30 days.

t) Borrowings

Government loans are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration 
received less directly attributable transaction costs.

u) Employee Benefits 

Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees 
rendering services up to the reporting date. These benefits include wages and 
salaries and recreation leave. Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries 
and recreation leave and other employee benefit liabilities that fall due within  
12 months of reporting date are classified as current liabilities and are measured  
at amounts expected to be paid. Non-current employee benefit liabilities that 
fall due after 12 months of the reporting date are measured at present value, 
calculated using the Government long-term bond rate.
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No provision is made for sick leave, which is non-vesting, as the anticipated 
pattern of future sick leave to be taken is less than the entitlement accruing in each 
reporting period.

(mployee benefit e[penses are recognised on a net basis in respect of the 
following categories:
� Zages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, recreation leave, sicN leave and 

other leave entitlements;  and
� other types of employee benefits.

The Central Holding Authority assumes the long service leave liabilities of 
Government agencies, including NT Home Ownership, and as such no long service 
leave liability is recognised in the entity’s financial statements. 

v) Superannuation

Employees’ superannuation entitlements are provided through the:
� 1orthern Territory Government and Public $uthorities’ 6uperannuation 6cheme 

�1TGP$66��
� CommonZealth 6uperannuation 6cheme �C66�� or
� non-government employee nominated schemes for those employees 

commencing on or after 10 $ugust 1���.

The entity makes superannuation contributions on behalf of its employees to the 
Central +olding $uthority or non-government employee nominated schemes. 
Superannuation liabilities related to government superannuation schemes are held 
by the Central Holding Authority and as such are not recognised in the entity’s 
financial statements. 

w) Dividends

The entity provides for a dividend payable at the rate of 50 per cent of net  
surplus after tax in accordance with the Northern Territory Government’s dividend 
policy. $ dividend is payable by 1T +ome OZnership in respect to the 2010-11 
financial year.

x) Economic Dependence

The entity established by the Financial Management Act is subj ect to the direction 
of the 0inister for Public and $ffordable +ousing. The entity is partially funded by 
Government through community service obligation payments in recognition that 
it carries out activities on a non-commercial basis and is reÀected as such in the 
6tatement of Comprehensive ,ncome. These statements are prepared on a ³going 
concern´ basis in the e[pectation that such funding Zill continue.
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y) Nature and Purpose of Reserves

NT Home Ownership currently does not hold any reserves.

z) Administration Fees

Administration fees are paid by the entity throughout the year to Territory Insurance 
Office for services provided in respect of home loans.

aa) Contributions by and Distributions to Government

The entity may receive contributions from Government where the Government 
is acting as owner of the entity. Conversely, the entity may make distributions to 
Government. In accordance with the Financial Management Act and Treasurer’s 
Directions, certain types of contributions and distributions, including those relating 
to administrative restructures, have been designated as contributions by, and 
distributions to, Government. These designated contributions and distributions  
are treated by the entity as adjustments to equity. The Statement of Changes 
in Equity provides additional information in relation to contributions by, and 
distributions to, Government.

ab) Commitments

Disclosures in relation to capital and other commitments, and are consistent with 
the requirements contained in AASB 101, and AASB 116.

Commitments are those contracted at 30 June where the amount of the future 
commitment can be reliably measured.

 



252 DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

NT Home Ownership Financial Statement

3. STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME BY BUSINESS LINE

Note
2011  
$ 000

2010  
$ 000

INCOME

Sales of goods and services 6 22 30

,nterest revenue 5 9 280 7 684

Gain on disposal of investments 4  1 032 1 518

Other revenue 6 1 309 1 241

5evaluation of investments increase � �decrease� 8  2 838  4 054

TOTAL INCOME 3 14 481 14 527

EXPENSES

Employee expenses 212 209

Administrative expenses

Purchases of goods and services 7 2 362 2 365

Other administrative expenses 12 9

Grants and subsidies expenses

Current 7 1 62

,nterest e[penses 7 492 7 761

TOTAL EXPENSES 3 10 079 10 406

NET SURPLUS BEFORE INCOME TAX 4 402 4 121 

,ncome ta[ e[pense 9 469 20

,ncome ta[ adMustment 200�-0� 9 �1 �21�

NET SURPLUS AFTER INCOME TAX 3 933 6 022

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT 3 933 6 022

  This 6tatement of Comprehensive ,ncome by %usiness Line is to be read in conMunction Zith the notes to 
the financial statements.
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2011  
$000

2010  
$000

4. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF INVESTMENTS
Net proceeds from the sale of investments 7 379 11 500
Less: carrying value of investments disposed (6 347) (9 982)

Gain on the disposal of investments 1 032 1 518

5. INTEREST REVENUE
Interest on home loans 8 809 7 203
Interest on cash balances 471 481

Total interest revenue 9 280 7 684

6. SALES AND OTHER REVENUE
Sales of goods and services 22 30
Community service obligations 1 239 1 239
Sundry income 70 2

Total sales and other revenue 1 331 1 271

7. PURCHASES OF GOODS AND SERVICES
The net surplus has been arrived at after charging the 
following expenses:
Employee expenses 212 209

Grant and subsidy expenses
Home purchase assistance 1 62

Agent service agreements with NTG
Other administrative fees  
(Department of Business and Employment)

12 9

Goods and services expenses
Consultants 3 23
Administration fees (Territory Insurance Office) 1 974 2 049
Valuation fees 132 116
Marketing and promotion 99 54
Document production 6 3
Legal expenses 30 38
Audit fees 49 39
Official duty fares 5 5
Travelling allowance 4 4
Write offs / provision doubtful loans 13 7
Other operational expenditure 47 27

Total goods and services expenses 2 362 2 365
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2011  
$ 000

2010  
$ 000

8. REVALUATION OF INVESTMENTS

Revaluation of investments 52 730 50 076
Less� booN values prior to revaluation ��� ��2� ��� 022�

Gain on the revaluation of non-current investments 2 838 4 054

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND TAX EQUIVALENT REGIME

,ncome ta[ payable�
Surplus before income tax 4 402 4 121
Less� revaluation of investments �2 �3�� �� 0���
Taxable income 1 564 67

Income tax expense @ 30% 469 20

Adj ustment relating to prior year’s tax* �1 �21�

  
,n 200�-0�, income ta[ e[pense Zas based on total income including revaluations resulting in total ta[ 
payable of �2.2� million being recognised in the 6tatement of Financial Position. +oZever, revaluation of 
investments totalling ��.�1 million should have been e[cluded from ta[ liability calculations. $n adMustment 
Zas therefore reTuired in respect of prior year’s provision for income ta[ amount of �1.�2 million. From 
200�-10, revaluation of investments is e[cluded in ta[ calculations.

10. CASH AND DEPOSITS

Cash on hand 775 416

Cash at bank 9 525 14 736

Total cash and deposits 10 300 15 152

11. RECEIVABLES AND ADVANCES

Current

Loans to home purchasers 2 329 1 925

Accounts receivable 8

,nterest receivables 20 52

GST receivables 12 28

40 80

Non-current

Loans to home purchasers 135 865 126 222

Less impairment �1�0� �1���

135 675 126 045

Total receivables 138 044 128 050
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2011  
$000

2010  
$000

Land 

At fair value 562 562

Total property, plant and equipment 562 562

Property, plant and equipment valuations

The valuations as at 30 June 2011 are at fair value  
at the time of acquisition.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The entity’s property, plant and equipment assets  
were assessed for impairment as at 30 June 2011.  
No impairment adjustments were required as a result  
of this review.

2011 property, plant and equipment reconciliations

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant 
and equipment at the beginning and end of 2010-11 is set 
out below:

Land  
$000

Buildings 
$000

Total  
$000

Carrying amount as at 1 July 2010 562 562

Additions / disposals

Carrying amount as at 30 June 2011 562 562

2010 property, plant and equipment reconciliations

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant 
and equipment at the beginning and end of 2009-10 is 
set out below:

Land  
$000

Buildings 
$000

Total  
$000

Carrying amount as at 1 July 2009 562 562

Additions / disposals

Carrying amount as at 30 June 2010 562 562
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2011  
$ 000

2010  
$ 000

13. SHARED EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Minority interest holding at independent valuation 52 241 49 979

Minority interest holding construction works  
in progress at cost

489 97

Total investments in shared equity 52 730 50 076

Shared eq uity investments

Opening balance 50 076 48 629

Additions 6 163 7 374

Disposals �� 3��� �� ��1�

Net revaluation increments less decrements 2 838 4 054

Total investment in shared equity 52 730 50 076

14. PAYABLES

Accounts payable 1 298

Accrued expenses 377 196

,nterest payables 48 20

Total payables 426 514

15. BORROWINGS AND ADVANCES

Current 

Loans and advances 6 787 6 475

Non-current

Loans and advances 156 356 153 143

Total borrowings and advances 163 143 159 618
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2011  
$000

2010  
$000

16. PROVISIONS

Current 

Employee benefits

Recreation leave 25 15

Leave loading 3 2

28 17

Other current provisions

Dividend provision 548 23

Income tax provision 469 20

Provision for employer superannuation 2 2

Fringe benefits tax provision 1

1 019 46

Non-current

Employee benefits

Recreation leave 7 2

Total provisions 1 054 65

The entity employed 2 full-time employees  
as at 30 June 2011.

17. OTHER LIABILITIES

Current 

Other liabilities unclaimed loan receipts 15

Total unclaimed loan receipts 15
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18. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Reconciliation of cash

The total of the entity’s cash and deposits of   
�10.3 million recorded in the 6tatement of Financial 
Position is consistent with that recorded as ‘ cash’ in the 
Cash FloZ 6tatement.

Reconciliation of net surplus/(deficit) to net cash 
from operating activities

2011  
$ 000

2010  
$ 000

Net surplus/(deficit) 3 933 6 022

Non-cash items

Asset write-offs/ write-downs

Gain on disposal of investments �1 032� �1 �1��

Gain on revaluation of assets �2 �3�� �� 0���

Changes in assets and liabilities

,ncrease � �decrease� in receivables 53 ����

�'ecrease� in payables ���� �11�

,ncrease in provision for employee benefits 15 3

,ncrease � �decrease� in other provisions 451 �2 2���

Net cash from operating activities 494 (1 867)
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19.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity 
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Financial instruments 
held by NT Home Ownership include cash and deposits, receivables, payables. 
 NT Home Ownership has limited exposure to financial risks as discussed below. 
The fair values of the financial assets, liabilities and borrowings approximate the 
carrying values.

a) Categorisation of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of NT Home Ownership’s financial assets and liabilities by 
category are disclosed in the table below.

2011 
$000

2010 
$000

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 10 300 15 152

Receivable loans* 138 194 128 147

Receivables other 40 80

Financial liabilities

Payables 426 514

Borrowings 163 143 159 619

Other 1 019 46

Employee benefits 34 19

 * Doubtful debts excluded from this analysis.

b) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss and/or increased costs due to the failure 
of a counterparty to meet its financial obligations. The entity’s exposure to credit 
risk arises from funds advanced to loan counterparties and the possibility that 
a counterparty will not adhere to the terms of the contract with the entity when 
settlement becomes due.

The entity has limited credit risk exposure risk of default with Government 
agencies. In respect of any dealings with organisations external to Government 
and individuals, the entity has adopted a policy of only dealing with credit worthy 
organisations and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, 
as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.

The entity’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics 
of each non-government debtor. In monitoring debtor credit risk, debtors are grouped 
according to their aging profile and existence of previous financial difficulties. Loans 
are provided to home purchasers subject to the retention of title clauses, so that in the 
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event of non-payment, the entity may have a secured claim.

The entity has established an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate 
of incurred losses in respect of loan receivables. The main components of this 
alloZance are a specific loss component that relates to individual e[posures,  
and�or collective loss component established for groups of similar assets.

The collective loss allowance is determined based on percentages derived from 
historical data of payment statistics.

The entity believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of 
receivables.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of 
any allowances for losses, represents the entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
Zithout taNing account of the value of any collateral or other security obtained.

Receivables

Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure that exposure 
to bad debts is not significant. $ reconciliation and aging analysis of receivables is 
presented beloZ.

Aging of 
Receivables 

$ 000

Aging of 
,mpaired 

Receivables 
$ 000

Net 
Receivables 

$ 000

2010-11

Not overdue 32 32

Over 90 days overdue 8 8

Total 40 40

2009-10

Not overdue 80 80

Total 80 80

     

c) Liquidity risk

LiTuidity risN is the risN that the entity Zill not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due. The entity’s approach to managing liTuidity is to ensure 
that it Zill alZays have sufficient liTuidity to meet is liabilities Zhen they fall due.

The folloZing tables detail the entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial 
assets and liabilities. ,t should be noted that these values are undiscounted, and 
conseq uently totals may not reconcile to the carrying amounts presented in the 
6tatement of Financial Position.
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2011 Maturity analysis for financial assets and liabilities

Fixed Interest Rate

Variable 
Interest 

$000

Less than 
a Year 

$000

1 to 5 
Years 
$000

More than 
5 Years 

$000

Non 
Interest 
Bearing 

$000
Total  
$000

Weighted 
Average 

%

Assets

Cash and 
deposits

10 300 10 300 4.44

Receivables 40 40 N/A

 Investments  
and loans*

138 194 138 194 7.64

Total financial 
assets

148 494 40 148 534

Liabilities

Deposits held N/A

Payables 426 426 N/A

Borrowings 6 787 156 356 163 143 4.86

Other 1 019 1 019 N/A

Employee 
benefits

 35 35 N/A

Total financial 
liabilities

6 787 156 356 1 480 164 623

* Doubtful debts excluded from this analysis.
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2010 Maturity analysis for financial assets and liabilities

Fi[ed ,nterest 5ate

V ariable 
,nterest 

$ 000

Less than 
a Y ear 

$ 000

1 to 5 
Y ears 
$ 000

More than 
5 Y ears 

$ 000

Non 
,nterest 
Bearing 

$ 000
Total  
$ 000

Weighted 
Average 

%

Assets

Cash and 
deposits

15 152 15 152 3.�2

Receivables 80 80 N/ A

,nvestments  
and loans*

128 147 128 147 �.��

Total financial 
assets

143 299 80 143 379

Liabilities

Deposits held 15 15 N/ A

Payables 514 514 N/ A

Borrowings 6 476 153 143 159 619 �.��

Other 46 46 N/ A

Employee 
benefits

 19 19 N/ A

Total financial 
liabilities

6 476 153 143 594 160 213


 'oubtful debts e[cluded from this analysis.

d) Market Risk

0arNet risN is the risN that the fair value of future cash ÀoZs of a financial 
instrument Zill Àuctuate because of changes in marNet prices. ,t comprises interest 
rate risN, price risN and currency risN. The marNet risN has been assessed to be 
minimal.

i)  Interest Rate Risk

,nterest rate risN is the risN of financial loss and or increased costs due to adverse 
movements in the values of financial assets and liabilities as a result of changes 
in interest rates. The entity’s e[posure to interest rate risN and the average interest 
rate for classes of financial assets and financial liabilities is set above. The average 
interest rate is based on the outstanding balance at the end of the year.
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The entity’s operating account earns quarterly interest at a variable interest rate 
Northern Territory Treasury Corporation’s weighted average cash return less  
50 basis points.

Market Sensitivity Analysis

Assuming the financial assets and liabilities at 30 June 2011 were to remain until 
maturity or settlement without any action by the entity to alter the resulting interest 
rate risk exposure, an immediate and sustained increase of 1 per cent in market 
interest rates across all maturities would have the following impact on the entity’s 
profit or loss and equity 

Profit or Loss and Equity

100 basis 
points 

increase 
$000

100 basis 
points 

decrease 
$000

30 June 2011

Financial assets – cash at bank 103 (103)

Financial assets – receivable loans 1 382 (1 382)

Financial liabilities – borrowings (1 631) 1 631

Net sensitivity (146) 146

30 June 2010

Financial assets – cash at bank 152 (152)

Financial assets – receivable loans 1 281 (1 281)

Financial liabilities – borrowings (1 596) 1 596

Net sensitivity (163) 163

ii)     Price Risk

NT Home Ownership is not exposed to price risk as NT Home Ownership does not 
hold units in unit trusts.

iii)    Currency Risk

The NT Home Ownership is not exposed to currency risk as NT Home Ownership 
does not hold borrowings denominated in foreign currencies or transactional 
currency exposures arising from purchases in a foreign currency.
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e) Net Fair Value

The fair value of financial instruments is estimated using various methods. These 
methods are classified into the folloZing levels. 

Level 1 ± fair value is calculated using Tuoted prices in active marNets. ,nstruments 
whose carrying amount is deemed to be eq ual to its fair value q ualify for this level 
of classification.

Level 2 ± to be used for those instruments that cannot be classified as either  
Level 1 or Level 3.

Level 3 ± fair value is estimated using inputs other than Tuoted marNet data,  
for e[ample, net present value.

The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial 
statements represents their respective net fair values with the exception of 
borroZings from 1orthern Territory Treasury Corporation.

2011

Total 
Carrying 
Amount 

$ 000

Net Fair 
V alue  

Level 1 
$ 000

Net Fair 
V alue  

Level 2 
$ 000

Net Fair 
V alue  

Level 3 
$ 000

Net Fair 
V alue  
Total 
$ 000

Financial assets  

Cash and deposits 10 300 10 300 10 300

Receivables 40 40 40

Advances and investments 138 194 138 194 138 194

Total financial assets 148 534 148 534 148 534

Financial liabilities

Deposits held

Payables 426 426 426

Borrowings and advances 163 143 140 667 140 667

Other 1 019 1 019 1 019

(mployee benefits 35 35 35

Total financial liabilities 164 623 1 480 140 667 142 147
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2010

Total 
Carrying 
Amount 

$000

Net Fair 
Value  

Level 1 
$000

Net Fair 
Value  

Level 2 
$000

Net Fair 
Value  

Level 3 
$000

Net Fair 
Value  
Total 
$000

Financial assets  

Cash and deposits 15 152 15 152 15 152

Receivables 80 80 80

Advances and investments 128 147 128 147 128 147

Total financial assets 143 379 143 379 143 379

Financial liabilities

Deposits held 15 15 15

Payables 514 514 514

Borrowings and advances 159 619 137 217 137 217

Other 46 46 46

Employee benefits 19 19 19

Total financial liabilities 160 213 594 137 217 137 811
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2011 
$ 000

2010 
$ 000

20. COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments primarily relate to the 
provision of HOMESTART 1T loans. Capital e[penditure 
commitments contracted for at balance date but not 
recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:

Within one year:

Loan commitments for dZellings under construction 579 1 099

Loan commitments Zhere approval for the facility  
has been given but drawdown on the facilities have  
not commenced

2 548 1 671

Total commitments 3 127 2 770

    

21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

a) Contingent liabilities

The entity has no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2011.

b) Contingent assets

The entity has no contingent assets as at 30 June 2011.

22. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE

1o events have arisen betZeen the end of the financial year and the date of this 
report that reTuire adMustment to or disclosure in these financial statements.

23.  WRITE-OFFS, POSTPONEMENTS, WAIVERS, GIFTS  
AND EX GRATIA PAYMENTS

There were no write write-offs, postponements, waivers, gifts or ex gratia payments 
during the year.
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2011 
$000

2010 
$000

24. COMMUNITY SERVICE OBLIGATIONS

Interest subsidy – low interest rates
The entity offers low interest rate loans for low to 
moderate income Territorians through the  
HOMESTART NT. The aim of HOMESTART NT is  
to increase the level of home ownership in the Territory 
and reduce the demand on public housing.
Community service obligation funding received 1 131 1 131

Net cost of delivering service 1 131 1 131

CSO surplus/(deficit)

Assist Interest Subsidy Scheme
The Interest Assist Subsidy Scheme assists Territorians 
purchasing homes with private finance through 
assistance payments made directly to private lenders. 
The Interest Assist Subsidy Scheme is an incentive for 
home ownership for low to moderate income earners.
Community service obligation funding received

Net cost of delivering service 1 62 

CSO surplus/(deficit) (1) (62)

Stamp duty differential
The stamp duty differential is a grant paid to public 
housing tenants purchasing their public housing 
properties through private finance.
Community service obligation funding received 60 60

Net cost of delivering service   

CSO surplus/(deficit) 60 60

Fringe benefits tax
The entity pays fringe benefits tax on all low interest 
loans previously offered to Northern Territory Government 
public sector employees as an incentive to attract  
long-term residency in the Northern Territory. Although 
the scheme is no longer available, the tax liability remains 
for the life of existing loans. Fringe benefits tax is due on 
the difference between market loan interest rates and the 
interest rate of existing loans.
Community service obligation funding received 48 48

Net cost of delivering service 1 

CSO surplus/(deficit) 48 47





APPENDICES 
PART SEVEN

Additional information relating to the agency’s activities including details 
of statutory bodies and authorities, and grants programs administered.
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ANImAl WElfArE ADvISory CommIttEE
The Animal Welfare Advisory Committee is a statutory body established pursuant to 
section 69 of the Animal Welfare Act.

The committee is responsible for:
•	 advising	the	Minister	on	animal	welfare	legislation	and	other	matters	relevant	to	 

animal	welfare
•	 investigating	and	reporting	on	matters	relevant	to	animal	welfare	referred	to	it	by	 

the Minister
•	 participating	in	the	development	of	codes	of	practice	and	the	review	of	adopted	codes	

of practice
•	 providing	advice	to	bodies,	organisations	or	the	general	community	on	programs	for	

the	improvement	of	community	awareness	about	animal	welfare.

The	committee	met	four	times	during	the	2010-11	financial	year.

As	at	30	June	2011,	members	of	the	Animal	Welfare	Advisory	Committee	were:

Dr Stephen Cutter Chairperson

Ms Juanita Croft Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals 
(NT) Inc (RSPCA)

Dr Alexandra Hesford Australian Veterinary Association Ltd.

Mr Merg Mikaelian Director, Animal Welfare, Department of Housing, Local 
Government and Regional Services

Alderman Robin Knox Local Government Association of the Northern Territory

Dr Richard Morton Senior	Field	Veterinary	Officer,	Department	of	Resources

Mr	Luke	Bowen Executive Director, Northern Territory Cattleman’s 
Association Incorporated

Professor Keith Christian Chair,	Charles	Darwin	University,	Animal	Ethics	
Committee

Mr Scott Anderson Member of the Pet Industry Association of Australia

Ms Julia Hardaker Animal Management in Rural and Remote Indigenous 
Communities

Mr Brett Easton Senior Scientist, Biodiversity Conservation Division, 
Department of Natural Resources, Environment, the Arts 
and Sport. 

APPENDIx oNE – StAtutory AuthorItIES 
AND BoDIES ADmINIStErED
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SWIMMING POOL SAFETY AUTHORITY
The 6Zimming Pool 6afety $uthority Zas established pursuant to 6ection 3� of the 
Swimming Pool Safety Act. The purpose of the Act is to establish safety standards 
for certain sZimming pools, and to reTuire the enclosure of those sZimming pools by 
barriers that restrict access by children to the sZimming pool and for related purposes.

Ms Fran K ilgariff, Senior Executive Director, Local Government Regional and Community 
Services of the Department of Housing, Local Government and Regional Development, 
is the appointed 6Zimming Pool 6afety $uthority.

SWIMMING POOL SAFETY REVIEW COMMITTEE
The 6Zimming Pool 6afety 5evieZ Committee is an appointed committee established 
pursuant to 6ection �� of the Swimming Pool Safety Act to revieZ decisions made by the 
6Zimming Pool 6afety $uthority under the $ct. 

$s at 30 June 2011, the position of 5egistrar of the 6Zimming Pool 6afety 5evieZ 
Committee Zas vacant and a replacement is being sought. The committee met once 
during 2010-11 period.

$s at 30 June 2011, members of the 6Zimming Pool 5evieZ Committee Zere�

Mr Robert Beadman Chairperson, recently resigned, replacement being 
sought.

Ms Annette ( Floss)  
Roberts

Royal Life Saving Society Australia ( Northern Territory 
Branch)

Mr Ryan O’Hanlon Real Estate Institute of the NT Inc. 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ADMINISTRATION AND LEGISLATION)  
ADVISORY COMMITTEE

The Local Government ( Administration and Legislation)  Advisory Committee is 
established under the Local Government Act ( Administration)  Regulations to provide 
advice to the Minister for Local Government and the agency on legislative, administrative 
and operational Tuestions relevant to local government in the 1orthern Territory.

The committee met once during 2010-11.

At 30 June 2011, members of the Local Government ( Administration and Legislation)  
$dvisory Committee Zere�

Mr Tony Tapsell Chairperson 
Chief ([ecutive Officer, Local Government $ssociation of 
the Northern Territory

Ms Sandra Cannon Chief ([ecutive Officer, 9ictoria 'aly 6hire Council
0r FranN CraZley General 0anager Corporate 6ervices, 'arZin City 

Council
Ms Lee Williams Director, Legislation, Department of Housing, Local 

Government and Regional Services
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Mr Royden Robertson Chief	Executive	Officer,	Central	Desert	Shire	Council
Mr Derrick Tranter Governance	Manager,	Litchfield	Council
Mr Ray Woolridge Council Member, Victoria Daly Shire Council

loCAl govErNmENt ACCouNtINg ADvISory CommIttEE

The Local Government Accounting Advisory Committee is established under the Local 
Government Act (Accounting) Regulations to provide advice to the Minister for Local 
Government and the agency on -

•	 contemporary	financial	management	and	accounting	practices	relevant	and	
appropriate to local government

•	 appropriate	legislative	changes	necessary	to	improve	standards	of	local	
government	financial	management	and	accounting.

The	committee	met	five	times	during	2010-11.

As	at	30	June	2011,	members	of	the	LGAAC	were:

Ms Julie Crisp Chairperson 
Account	Director,	Deloitte	Touche	Tohmatsu,	Darwin

Mr Mark Gardner Deputy Chairperson 
Director Community and Corporate Services, West 
Arnhem Shire Council

Mr	Frank	Crawley General	Manager	Corporate	Services,	Darwin	City	
Council

Mr David Gomez Principal,	Merit	Partners,	Darwin
Mr Tony Tapsell Chief	Executive	Officer,	Local	Government	Association	of	

the Northern Territory
Ms Julie Bryce Chief	Financial	Officer,	Nhulunbuy	Corporation	Limited
Mr Greg Arnott Director Corporate and Community Services, Victoria 

Daly Shire Council
Mr David Alexander Director Business Strategy and Performance, Department 

of Housing, Local Government and Regional Services
Mr Neil Murray Manager Grants and Business Services, Department of 

Housing, Local Government and Regional Services
Ms Chris Kendrick Director	Finance,	Alice	Springs	Town	Council,	Alice	

Springs

loCAl govErNmENt DISCIPlINAry CommIttEE
The	Local	Government	Disciplinary	Committee	is	established	pursuant	to	section	80	
of the Local Government Act.	Section	80	(1)	of	the	Act	provides	that	the	Minister	may	
establish	one	or	more	disciplinary	committees.	Section	80	(2)	further	provides	that	the	
disciplinary committee consists of:

•	 a	legal	practitioner	nominated	by	the	Attorney-General
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� a nominee of the 0inister
� a nominee of the Local Government $ssociation of the 1orthern Territory 

( LGANT) .

The committee met once during 2010-11.

$s at 30 June 2011, members of the Local Government 'isciplinary Committee Zere�

Mr Richard Bruxner Legal Practitioner, nominated by the Attorney General
Mr Bill Stuchbery Minister for Local Government nominee
Mr Robert McLeod Mayor, City of Palmerston, nominee of LGANT

NORTHERN TERRITORY GRANTS COMMISSION
The Northern Territory Grants Commission is an appointed Board of Commissioners 
under the Local Government Grants C ommission Act, Zhich has responsibility to maNe 
recommendations to the 0inister concerning the distribution of CommonZealth financial 
assistance ( general purpose and local road grants)  to local governing bodies from the 
money provided to the Territory under the CommonZealth Local Government Financial 
Assistance Act.

The commission produces its oZn annual report as reTuired by the Local Government 
Grants C ommission Act.

The commission conducted a public hearing in Litchfield and community visits to five 
shire councils and their related service delivery centres during 2010-11.

$s at 30 June 2011, members of the 1orthern Territory Grants Commission Zere�

Mr Robert Beadman Chairperson ( appointed by Minister) , retired public 
servant

Ms Trish Angus Department of Housing, Local Government and Regional 
Services

Mr Damien Ryan Municipal Council representative
Mr Steve Hennessy Shire Council representative
Ms Lissa Herrmann Municipal Council alternative
Ms Margaret V igants Shire Council alternative

TERRITORY HOUSING APPEALS BOARD
The Territory +ousing Complaints and $ppeals 0echanism is a tZo tiered process that 
ensures all appeals are dealt Zith in a fair, consistent and transparent manner.

Territory +ousing has a designated Complaints and $ppeals 8nit that provides a 
transparent and fair process for housing clients, an independent revieZ of Territory 
Housing operational decisions and the provisions of the secretariat function for all 
appeals.
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First Tier Appeals	–	Are	undertaken	either	by	the	Regional	Housing	Office	or	the	
Territory	Housing	Complaints	and	Appeals	Unit	who	after	a	full	review	of	a	clients	matter	
will	put	forward	recommendations	to	the	Regional	Housing	Manager	for	a	decision.	

Should	the	client	remain	dissatisfied	with	the	outcome	of	the	First	Tier	Appeal,	they	
can	lodge	a	Second	Tier	Appeal	to	have	their	matter	reviewed	by	the	Territory	Housing	
Appeals Board.

Second Tier Appeals	-	Are	reviewed	by	the	Territory	Housing	Appeals	Board.	

The Appeals Board is independent from Territory Housing and Board Members are 
appointed by the Minister for Public and Affordable Housing. Board Members are 
appointed	for	their	experience	in	areas	such	as	housing,	community	services,	health,	law,	
psychology	and	social	welfare.

On	7	June	2011,	the	Minister	appointed	eight	new	members	to	the	Territory	Housing	
Appeals	Board	and	reappointed	nine	of	the	previous	Board	Members	for	an	initial	two	
year period.

The Territory Housing Appeals Board convened 15 times in 2010-11.

As of 1 July 2011, the Territory Housing Appeals Board Members are:

Ms Vicki O’Halloran Chairperson 
CEO of Somerville Community Services.

Ms Janet Taylor Deputy Chairperson
Joanne Pulsford Deputy Chairperson
Ian Ross Member
Graham Kemp Deputy Chairperson
Judith Dikstein Member
Vanessa Lethlean Member
Marianne Conaty Deputy Chairperson
Bradley McIver Deputy Chairperson
Kylie Jericho Member
Sally Bolton Member
Robyn Harrison Member
Loris Semple Community Member
Preston Lee Community Member
Kate McGarry Community Member
Patricia Hilder Community Member
Sofie	Georgalis Community Member
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The Department of Housing, Local Government and Regional Services provides grant 
funding assistance to eligible organisations and community groups through a number of 
funding programs. 

The agency administers the folloZing housing grants, local government grants and 
regional development grants programs.

HOUSING PROGRAMS
Property and Tenancy Management Grant Program

Property and Tenancy Management Program funding is offered to Shire Councils 
and Outstation Resource Centres to deliver tenancy management and repairs and 
maintenance services to communities identified under the 1ational Partnership 
Agreement for Remote Indigenous Housing ( NPA RIH) . 

The overall aim of the program is to engage shire councils and resource centres in 
standardiz ing property and tenancy management services through implementation of  
a public housing model in remote areas. 

Housing Management and Maintenance Program

Housing Management and Maintenance Program funding is offered as a contribution 
to housing services delivered by shire councils, outstation resource centres and other 
organisations to remote communities, outstation communities and community living 
areas, not included Zithin the scope of the 1P$ 5,+. 

Community Housing Program

The Community +ousing Program is an application-based program, Zhich offers financial 
assistance to eligible community organisations providing longer-term accommodation for 
people Zho have special housing needs. 

Capital funding is available for the purchase, upgrade or renovation of housing to 
accommodate people Zith special needs. Funding is also available for proMect proposals 
and infrastructure development relating to accommodation for special needs groups. 

Community housing groups may include people Zith disabilities, the elderly, youth, 
Indigenous people and people exiting supported accommodation assistance programs. 

The folloZing table outlines recipients of Community +ousing Program funding in  
2010-11. 

APPENDIX TWO – GRANT PROGRAMS
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TABLE	50:	COMMUNITy	HOUSING	PROGRAM	2010-11

2010-11 Pool - $700,000

ORGANISATION BRIEF DESCRIPTION
APPROVED 

$

Carpentaria Disability 
Services

Assist	with	professional	costs	for	a	
development	proposal	to	expand	Tiwi	
facilities  

70 000

HPA Incorporated Renovations to disability services property 
in Nightcliff

71 400

Mental Health Association 
of Central Australia

Purchase one x 1 bedroom unit for 
Housing Support Program

261 700

Somerville Community 
Services Inc

Replace air conditioners (13) in three 
disability service properties

33 060

Somerville Community 
Services Inc

Installation of car port in disability service 
property	at	Howard	Springs

16	198	

Top End Association  
for Mental Health

Completion of renovations at Nightcliff 
property

31 500

Top End Association  
for Mental Health

Replace air conditioners at unit complex in 
Nightcliff

42 000

UCA	Assembly	Ltd	
(Frontier Services)

Engage a consultant to identify crisis 
accommodation needs in Tennant Creek

25 000

yWCA	of	Darwin Purchase three bedroom residence for 
Family & Domestic Violence Program

460 400

TOTAL 1 011 258 
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Crisis Accommodation Program

The Crisis $ccommodation Program is an application-based program through Zhich 
assistance is offered to eligible community organisations providing accommodation and 
support services for people Zho are in crisis and�or homeless.

Capital funding is available for the purchase, upgrade or renovation of accommodation 
for this client group.

The folloZing table outlines recipients of Crisis $ccommodation Grant Program funding in 
2010-11. 

TABLE 51: CRISIS ACCOMMODATION PROGRAM 2010-11

Pool - $420,000

ORGANISATION BRIEF DESCRIPTION
APPROV ED 

$

Nauiyu Nambiyu Inc 8pgrade security at the Zomen’s refuge 
centre

145 000

St V incent de Paul 
Society ( NT)

8pgrade Nitchen amenities at the %aNhita 
Centre

36 700

TOTAL 181 700

Municipal and Essential Services Grant Program

Municipal and Essential Service funding is offered to shire councils and resource centres 
that deliver municipal and essential services to eligible Indigenous living areas, as 
recogniz ed by the Northern Territory and Australian governments.

Eligible items under this program include:
� Operational funding for maintenance of poZer, Zater and seZerage services and 

infrastructure, rubbish collection, internal road maintenance, dog health programs, 
dust control and landscaping activities;

� Costs associated Zith the management and administrateion of municipal and 
essential services delivery. 

Capital Infrastructure Grant Program

Funding is available under this submission-based program to assist eligible organisations 
Zith the purchase of capital items and to undertaNe capital ZorNs to improve service 
delivery to homelands�outstations. 

Eligible activities funded under this program include:
� Costs associated Zith maMor capital repairs and for items such as aerodromes, barge 

landings, heavy plant and eTuipment an internal roads Zithin homelands�outstations, 
Zhere they are not the responsibility of another government service provider.

� 8rgent maMor repairs and replacement for items reTuired to assist in preventing 
disruptions to essential services provision to homelands�outstations. 
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CDEP Converted Jobs Grant Program

The	converted	jobs	funding	is	offered	to	shire	councils	and	resource	centres	that	deliver	
municipal and essential services to Indigenous Living Areas. 

Funding	assists	organisations	to	convert	previous	CDEP	jobs	into	real	and	sustainable	
positions.

loCAl govErNmENt grANtS
Local Government Reserves and Other Organisation Funding

This	program	provides	funding	to	assist	with	the	ongoing	activities	of	reserves	and	other	
smaller organisations that provide local government type services.

The	following	table	outlines	recipients	of	Local	Government	Reserves	and	Other	
Organisation program funding in 2010-11. 

ORGANISATION BRIEF DESCRIPTION
APPROVED 

$

Katherine	Town	Council	 Operational funding for service delivery to 
the	Binjari	community	

195	789

Blatherskite Park Reserve Operational funding for the Blatherskite 
Park Reserve

145 000

Roper Gulf Shire Council Operational funding for service delivery to 
the Daly Waters community

8	963

Jabiru	Town	Development	
Authority

Operational funding for administrative 
support to the JTDA

31	385

Larrimah Progress 
Association 

Operational funding for service delivery to 
the Larrimah community 

8	922

Robbie Robins Reserve Operational funding for the Robbie 
Robbins Reserve 

75 000

yilli	Rreung	Housing	
Aboriginal Corporation 

For the provision of municipal services to 
the Bagot community

100 000

Nhulunbuy Public 
Cemetery Trust

Operational funding for the maintenance 
of the Nhulunbuy Public Cemetery

10 000

Roper Gulf Shire Council Operational funding for the maintenance 
of the Mataranka Elsey Cemetery

2 000

Australia Day Council 
(Inc) of the NT

To	assist	with	the	Australia	Day	awards 2 500

TOTAL 579 559
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Closing the Gap – Local Representative Boards/Infrastructure Maintenance  
Capital Grants

Closing the Gap grants support local government representative boards and provide for 
infrastructure development. Funding under this program is application based and only 
shire councils Zith maMority ,ndigenous populations are eligible to apply.

The folloZing table outlines recipients of Local Government Closing the Gap program 
funding in 2010-11. 

T$%L( �2� LOC$L GO9(510(1T CLO6,1G T+( G$P F81',1G 2010-11

Pool - $1M community infrastructure; $700,000 Local Community Boards

ORGANISATION BRIEF DESCRIPTION
APPROV ED 

$

 Belyuen Community 
Government Council

To purchase tZo generators� one for 
the council office and the other for the 
pension centre.

10 222

Belyuen Community 
Government Council

To facilitate the expansion and upgrade of 
the Delissaville cemetery.

�� �02

Belyuen Community 
Government Council

To purchase a generator for the 
community store.

29 000

TiZi islands 6hire Council Shade structures at cemeteries across all 
three communities.

60 000

TiZi ,slands 6hire Council TZo day ZorNshop for female employees 
and councillors to become " Strong 
Leaders"

22 500

Roper Gulf Shire Council To upgrade the kitchen facilities at 
the Mataranka sport and recreational 
complex.

59 600

Roper Gulf Shire Council To purchase and install a dedicated 
retransmission site at 1umbulZar.

�3 �00

Roper Gulf Shire Council To fit out the %arunga Zomen’s�family and 
community services centre.

117 021

V ictoria Daly Shire 
Council 

To purchase a 2nd hand Prime Mover 
and step decN trailer for the shire Zaste 
management facility to transport excavator 
and traxcavator.

200 000

Barkly Shire Council Connecting fibre optic cable to $li Curung 
and Elliott Council buildings.

�� 0��

Barkly Shire Council To publish historical manuscript of the 
Elliott district.

1� 1�2

Barkly Shire Council To purchase and install an air-conditioner 
for the Tennant CreeN 
<outhlin[
 building.

12 291
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Barkly Shire Council To purchase and install an air-conditioner 
in	the	Arlparra	women’s	centre.

15 341

Barkly Shire Council To purchase and install a non-genuine 
air	conditioner,	filtration	and	pressurised	
system for the Shire's grader.

16 399

Central Desert Shire 
Council 

Elected member training - balance of CTG 
approved 2009-10.

40 364

Central Desert Shire 
Council 

To	fund	the	next	stage	of	the	yuelamu	
Shire	Office	this	involves	the	construction	
of the slab, structural steel and framing 
and	roofing	and	cladding.

175 000

Central Desert Shire 
Council

To provide ongoing governance capacity 
development for local board members.

93	487

Central Desert Shire 
Council

To purchase a round table video 
conferencing (RTVC) facility for 
installation	in	the	Lajamanu	community.

6 592

Central Desert Shire 
Council

Funding	for	the	Willowra	workshop	roof	
extension.

7	682

MacDonnell Shire Council To	purchase	play	ground	equipment	for	
Docker River.

50 306

MacDonnell Shire Council To complete stage 1 Kintore Community 
Park.

60	845

East Arnhem Shire 
Council

To replace foot bridge at beach camp area 
at	yirrkala.

35 000

East Arnhem Shire 
Council

To fund a governance and community 
leadership program.

159 500

West Arnhem Shire 
Council

To purchase video conferencing facilities 
in	Darwin,	Warruwi	and	Minjilang.

22 374

West Arnhem Shire 
Council

To fund governance systems support and 
training. 

42 100

West Arnhem Shire 
Council

To	extend	the	Gunbalanya	council	office. 165 470

West Arnhem Shire 
Council

To cover publication cost of the shire 
newsletter	the	West	Arnhem	Wire	for	a	
period of 12 months.

33	480

West Arnhem Shire 
Council

To	purchase	furniture	and	equipment	
for meeting rooms at Gunbalanya, 
Maningrida,	Warruwi	and	Minjilang.

37 774

TOTAL 1 700 000
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Matching Funds – Indigenous Employment Program

The Matching Funds scheme provides additional funding to shire councils to support 
more Indigenous employment opportunities, provided the council is committed to 
matching the value of funding from the program. For every dollar a council spends on 
Indigenous employment related costs from its NT Operational, Sport and Recreation and 
Library Grants, it Zill receive a dollar from the 0atching Funds 6cheme.

Needs Based Special Purpose Grants

The Special Purpose Grants are available to all councils.  Special Purpose Grants are 
at the 0inister’s discretion for specific purposes related to specific proMects councils may 
Zish to undertaNe in line Zith local government service delivery.

The focus of needs based funding has been in the areas of:
� training
� Ney staff housing
� road plant�eTuipment
� social infrastructure�recreation facilities
� management consultancies.

Northern Territory Operational Subsidy

The Northern Territory Operational Subsidy provides funding to shire councils to assist 
Zith the provision of local government services. Funding under this program is the main 
1orthern Territory Government support offered to maMority ,ndigenous shire councils, and 
is not available to municipal councils.

Australian Government Financial Assistance Grants (FAGs)

(ach year, the $ustralian Government maNes financial assistance available to the 
Northern Territory Government for allocation to local governing bodies under the 
provisions of its Local Government (Financial Assistance) Act 1995 ( FAA) . Funding is 
distributed through the folloZing programs in accordance Zith the recommendations of 
the Northern Territory Grants Commission:
� general purpose
� road funding.

To be eligible for a financial assistance grants, an organisation must be either a council 
gaz etted under the Local Government Act or a declared local governing body pursuant to 
section 4( 2)  of the Local Government (Financial Assistance) Act 1995 and section 19 of 
the Local Government Grants C ommission Act.
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Animal Welfare Fund

The	Animal	Welfare	Fund	supports	non-profit	animal	welfare	organisations	in	the	Territory	
undertaking	projects	aiming	to:

•	 improve	animal	wellbeing
•	 raise	community	awareness	of	responsibilities	in	regard	to	animal	welfare		
•	 help	progress	good	animal	management	practice,	including	in	remote	

communities. 

The	maximum	grant	available	for	a	project	is	$75,000	per	annum	(from	a	pool	of	funds	
totaling $200, 000).

The	following	table	outlines	recipients	of	Animal	Welfare	Fund	funding	in	2010-11.	

TABLE	53:	ANIMAL	WELFARE	FUND	FUNDING	2010-11

Pool - $200,000

ORGANISATION BRIEF DESCRIPTION
APPROVED 

$

AMMRIC Two	year	project	to	fund	an	Education	
Officer	position	to	undertake	an	education	
strategy to promote better health and 
ownership	in	shires.

75 000

RSPCA Katherine To purchase administration building and 
construction goods to complete building of 
a shelter.

74 400

Wildcare NT To provide training for members of the 
public on caring for native mammals.

6 000

RSPCA Central Australia To construct dog and puppy exercise 
yards at the Alice Springs shelter.

25 765

RSPCA Nhulunbuy Provide fencing at the current shelter to 
establish a fully fenced area for exercising 
and training impounded dogs.

18	835

TOTAL 181 700

Water Safety Awareness Program Grant 

A grant of $450,000 (+GST) has been approved to Royal Life Saving Society Australia 
NT	Branch	for	the	purpose	of	the	delivery	of	the	Water	Safety	Awareness	Program	over	
three years. 

The	program	provides	for	parents	to	receive	5	free	water	safety	sessions	for	their	children	
aged 6 months to 5 years old - Royal Life Saving Australia, NT Branch conducts these 
programs. 



284 DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING, LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND REGIONAL SERVICES

Appendices PART SEV EN

REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Regional Economic Development Fund

The purpose of the 5egional (conomic 'evelopment Fund is to assist Zith the 
development of business and industry capability in all regions of the Northern Territory. 
The Fund stimulates and supports regional economic development through locally based 
initiatives.

The folloZing table outlines recipients of 5egional (conomic 'evelopment Fund funding 
in 2010-11. 

T$%L( ��� 5(G,O1$L (CO1O0,C '(9(LOP0(1T F81' F81',1G 2010-11

Pool - $300 000*

ORGANISATION BRIEF DESCRIPTION
APPROV ED 

$

'esert .noZledge 
Australia

Desert Leadership Program 5 000

Central Land Council Tanami Regional Partnership Agreement 
( 2011)

50 000

Central Land Council Tanami Regional Partnership Agreement 
( 2009 –  2010)

30 000

$lice 6prings ToZn 
Council

$lice ZorNforce proMect Zith CC1T 5 000

Tennant Creek 
Foundation

Commercial Zeb sites 31 ��0

<%(�2� Gove Public Bus Service trial 3� �00
Thamarrurr Development 
Corporation

Public Bus Service Business Plan 25 000

Northern Land Council (mployer e[cellence aZards 20 000
%unuZal ,nvestments Pty 
Ltd

Commercial Zebsite 16 500

K atherine Region Cultural 
Precinct Inc

Business planning and policy 
development

25 000

Central Australian 
Territory Craft

Promotional trip 3 200

Artback NT Business planning 5 000
Buku-Larrnggay Mulka 
Centre

Commercial sales and archiving Zebsite 1� ��0

TOTAL 260 030


 $ sum of ��0 000 Zas set aside as part of the 1orthern Territory Government’s contribution to the $ustralian 
$gricultural Company �$$Co� business plan for their proposed 'arZin abattoir.  $$Co have noZ decided not to 
take up the offer of a Northern Territory contribution to the business plan.
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Indigenous Business Development Program

The Indigenous Business Development Program:
•	 assists	Indigenous	people	to	enter	or	expand	commercial	business	arrangements	that	

will	achieve	employment	and/or	wealth	creation	opportunities	and	will	help	close	the	
economic	gap	between	non	Indigenous	and	Indigenous	Territorians;	and

•	 provides	for	a	flexible	funding	program	that	meets	Indigenous	business	needs	and	is	
based on sound commercial practice.

The	following	table	outlines	recipients	of	Indigenous	Business	Development	Program	
funding in 2010-11. 

TABLE	55:	INDIGENOUS	BUSINESS	DEVELOPMENT	PROGRAM	FUNDING	2010-11

Pool - $500,000

ORGANISATION BRIEF DESCRIPTION
APPROVED 

$

Elite Concreting Services 
(Darwin)

New	business	support	-	specialised	tools	
and	equipment

27 271

Triodia Consultancy 
(Darwin)

Business development - satellite phone, 
Personal Locator Beacon (PLB) and 
laptop computer.

5 095

Darwin	Regional	
Indigenous Advancement 
& CDEP – Aboriginal 
Bush	Traders	(Darwin)

Business development - consultancy for 
analysis of the Indigenous body products 
market

30 000

Rainbow	Mowing	&	
Gardening	(Darwin)	

New	business	support	-	specialised	
landscaping	equipment

10 000

Indigenous Business 
Network	(Darwin)

Business development – support the 
Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson 
to participate in the inaugural Australian 
Indigenous Minority Suppliers Council 
business opportunity fair and conference

3 535

HVE Diesel Services 
(Darwin)

New	business	support	–	specialised	tools	
and	equipment	

29 393

Outbush	Pitchas	(Darwin) Business development – specialised 
cinema	and	projector		equipment		for		
inflatable	cinema

29 623

J9 Recruitment Pty Ltd 
Trading As All Aspects 
Recruitment and HR. 
(Darwin)

New	business	support	-	computer	
equipment,	office	equipment	and	
removable signage

25 460

Katherine Tilt Tray and 
Tipper Hire (Katherine) 

Business development - business 
premises improvements

3 000
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Mangarrayi Aboriginal 
Corporation –  Mangarrayi 
0eatZorNs �.atherine�

Business development –  completion of 
practical component  of  current training 

21 ���

Craig McBean NT Pty Ltd 
( K atherine)

Business development - contracted a 
bulldoz er and driver to Stick Rake &  
:indroZ 200ha of land.

30 000

JG Mechanical ( K atherine) 1eZ business support - Computer and 
softZare, $ir Compressor, 6atellite Phone, 
Hoist, Petrol Welder, Tools, Engel Fridge, 
Office Furniture, +TC Touch Pro.

2� �2�

'MerrNura (nterprises Pty 
Ltd ( East Arnhem)

Business development -  support for 
computer eTuipment and Zeb design. 

4 697

%anubanu Pty Ltd t�
as Nomad Tours ( East 
Arnhem)

Business development - support for 
infrastructure improvements

29 597

Laynhapuy Homelands 
Association Inc ( East 
Arnhem)

Business development - consultancy for 
mud brick enterprise

11 537

<othu <indi Foundation 
Aboriginal Corporation 
( East Arnhem)

Business development - upgrade of 
Zebsite and data base to enhance 
commercial outcomes

20 000

Gapaguchi ( East Arnhem) Business development - purchase store 
and storage eTuipment, including financial 
management hardZare and softZare.

3 605

LeGra Investments Pty Ltd 
�6ubZay Franchise�

1eZ business ± purchase pans�covers 
drain trays, bred forms, furniture &  store 
fit out, hardZare, signs and lighting and 
pressure cleaning eTuipment

4 263

5' 0oZing 	 Curbing 
( Central Australia)

1eZ business support - specialised 
landscaping eTuipment and insurance

2� ���

Central Australia 
Aboriginal Media 
Association ( Central 
Australia)

%usiness development, support  fit out of 
the first carbon ]ero mobile radio station

29 000

Thamarrurr Development 
Corporation -  Thamarrurr 
Rangers ( V ictoria Daly)

Business development –  support the 
establishment of a crocodile egg incubator.

10 555

Thamarrurr Development 
Corporation -  Thamarrurr 
Nursery  ( V ictoria Daly)

1eZ business support ± specialised 
landscaping eTuipment to meet contract 
commitments.

30 000
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yugul	Mangi	Aboriginal	
Corporation (Roper Gulf)

New	business	support	–	consultancy	
services	to	introduce	business	joint	venture	
models to the board of directors and 
present at the Ngukurr Future Forum held 
in August 2010.

4 600

Bradley (NT) Pty Ltd 
(Roper Gulf)

Business development – purchase 
refrigeration/	freezer	container	to	be	based	
in	Darwin.

30 000

Bakers Gold (Barkly) New	business	–	purchase	equipment	to	
establish bakery business.

30 000

Arlpwe	Art	Aboriginal	
Corporation (Barkly)

Business	development	–	upgrade	power	
supply, including the development of 
marketing, and promotional material.

23	782

Total 502 279

Tennant Creek Foundation

The	objectives	of	the	Tennant	Creek	Foundation	are	to:
•	 manage	the	business	operations	of	the	Battery	Hill	Mining	Centre	and	the	Nyinkka	

Nyunyu Art & Culture Centre
•	 encourage	learning	and	understanding	in	relation	to	the	Barkly	region	and	its	history,	

culture and language
•	 provide	for	economic	development	in	and	around	Tennant	Creek
•	 provide	employment	opportunities	for	Indigenous	people
•	 secure	funding	necessary	for	the	activities	of	the	Foundation.

	Funding	for	the	Tennant	Creek	Foundation	in	2010-11	was	$289	850.
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AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board
AIS Aboriginal Interpreter Service
AOTA $ccountable Officer’s Trust $ccount
ARDS Aboriginal Resource and Development Services
ASB Anti-social Behaviour
ASTP Alice Springs Transformation Plan
ATO $ustralian Ta[ation Office
BIITE Batchelor Institute for Indigenous Tertiary Education
CAT Condition Assessment Tool
CDEP Community 'evelopment (mployment ProMects
CEO Chief ([ecutive Officer
CFO Chief Financial Officer
CIO Chief ,nformation Officer
CSO Community Service Obligation
CSS CommonZealth 6uperannuation 6cheme
CPA Certified Practising $ccountant
DHLGRS Department of Housing, Local Government and Regional Services
EEO (Tual (mployment Opportunity
FTE Full-time (Tuivalent
GBD Government Business Division
GEH Government Employee Housing
GST Goods and Services Tax
HRG Housing Reference Group
IAAC Indigenous Affairs Advisory Council
IBA Indigenous Business Australia
ITSNT Interpreting and Translating Services Northern Territory
LGANT Local Government Association of the Northern Territory
LIP Local Implementation Plan
NAATI National Accreditation Authority for Translators and Interpreters
NPA National Partnership Agreement
NPA – H National Partnership Agreement on Homelessness
NPA- RIH National Partnership Agreement on Remote Indigenous Housing
NPA-RSD National Partnership Agreement on Remote Service Delivery
NRAS National Rental Affordability Scheme
NT Northern Territory
NTGPASS Northern Territory Government Public Authorities Superannuation 

Scheme
NTPS Northern Territory Public Sector
OATSIH Office of $boriginal and Torres 6trait ,slander +ealth

APPENDIX THREE – ABBREVIATIONS  
AND ACRONYMS
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OH&S Occupational Health and Safety
OIP Office	of	Indigenous	Policy
PPP Personal Performance Program
PSMP Public Sector Management Program
R&M Repairs and Maintenance
RSPCA Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals
SDCU Service	Delivery	and	Coordination	Unit
SIHIP Strategic Indigenous Housing and Infrastructure Program
THAM Territory Housing Appeals Mechanism
TIO Territory	Insurance	Office
TMS Tenancy Management System
TSP Tenancy Sustainability Program
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GPO Box 4621 Darwin NT 0801 
RCG House, 83 - 85 Smith Street 
Darwin NT 0800 
T: (08) 8999 5511

TERRITORY HOUSING
DARWIN 
RCG Centre, 47 Mitchell Street 
Darwin NT 0800 
T: (08) 8999 8813

CASUARINA 
Cascom Centre, Trower Road 
Casuarina NT 0810 
T: (08) 8922 5542

PALMERSTON 
Highway House, Chung Wah Terrace 
Palmerston NT 0830 
T: (08) 8999 4615

ABORIGINAL INTERPRETER SERVICE
INTERPRETING AND TRANSLATING 
SERVICE NT 
Ground fl oor, Pella House 
Cavenagh Street 
Darwin NT 0800 
T: 1800 676 254

REGIONAL OFFICES

ARNHEM
PO Box 346 Nhulunbuy NT 0881 
Shop 2, Arnhem House, Endeavour Square 
Arnhem Road Nhulunbuy NT 0880 
T: (08) 8987 0533

BARKLY
PO Box 296 Tennant Creek NT 0861NT 
Government Centre 
Cnr Peko and Haddock Street 
Tennant Creek NT 0860 
T: (08) 8962 4526

BIG RIVERS
PO Box 1571 Katherine NT 0851 
Ground fl oor, Government Centre 
First Street Katherine NT 0850 
T: (08) 8973 8536

CENTRAL AUSTRALIA
PO Box 1596 Alice Springs NT 0871 
Leichhardt Building 
21 Gregory Terrace Alice Springs NT 0870 
T: (08) 8951 5344

E: communications.dhlgrs@nt.gov.au

W: www.nt.gov.au/dhlgrs
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